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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE:  We are calling

          3  this hearing to order. I am Ronnie Eldridge, Chair

          4  of the Women's Issues Committee, and the Women's

          5  Issues Committee has oversight of the subject of

          6  domestic violence, and as we all know, that is a

          7  very long, complicated area of policy and agency

          8  enforcement and agency initiative.

          9                 So we are delighted today that we

         10  have come together with the General Welfare

         11  Committee and the Public Safety Committee to begin

         12  what is the first of two hearings on the question of

         13  domestic violence, what are the City and agency

         14  practices, how do they impact on the victims of

         15  domestic violence and their families.

         16                 I hope that we will be able to come

         17  out of these hearings with a more comprehensive

         18  sense of what is happening and what needs to be done

         19  to make things improved.

         20                 So, with that, I would like to call

         21  on the other Chair, Steve DiBrienza, the General

         22  Welfare Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         24  Council Member Eldridge.

         25                 As many in the audience may know, for
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          2  about five years, four and a half years or so,

          3  virtually all of the issues broadly defined in the

          4  social service arena, including domestic violence

          5  issues, were covered by the General Welfare

          6  Committee, with Ronnie, who has been and remains a

          7  member. When she became Chair of the Women's Issues

          8  Committee, after our consultation, since she was

          9  happy at the time, as was I, we thought it important

         10  enough to try to shift primary responsibility to the

         11  Women's Committee to devote even more time to this

         12  pressing question.

         13                 Some of you may know, in that early

         14  going, some of our staff was particularly involved

         15  with these issues, with outreach to the advocate and

         16  provider community.

         17                 At the beginning of the sort of line,

         18  at the beginning of my tenure as Chair, there was

         19  Margaret Nelson and then Suzanne Cadero. Margaret

         20  had worked both for Ronnie and then myself, so there

         21  is a great connection between the work of our

         22  committees.

         23                 But to continue to broaden the

         24  Council's involvement, of course it goes in a sense

         25  from Ronnie to me to, you know, the next from
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          2  Council Member Leffler, Chair of the Public Safety

          3  Committee, given that the police responses to all of

          4  these questions is a critical component. So we have

          5  this sort of out of the ordinary, you know, more

          6  than joint hearing, a tri-sector of committees,

          7  three committees coming together in this October

          8  appropriate time as we try to raise consciousness

          9  about domestic violence.

         10                 And I am happy to say that we will

         11  hear from an array of witnesses who can provide an

         12  overview to all aspects of the question and specific

         13  aspects of the question certainly from the police,

         14  in many ways the focus of today's hearing.

         15                 It is unfortunate that the Human

         16  Resources Administration, as I understand it, has

         17  declined the invitation to participate. If I am

         18  wrong then I will stand corrected, but my

         19  understanding is they declined and that is not

         20  surprising since they are among the most

         21  uncooperative agencies in the City, notwithstanding

         22  the sensitive nature of what they are charged with

         23  doing. But that happens.

         24                 So, we will carry on as best we can

         25  with the rest of the important work that we are
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          2  setting out to do today, and I will turn it to my

          3  colleague, Councilman Leffler.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you.

          5                 This is the second time that we have

          6  held a joint hearing to discuss domestic violence in

          7  the last four years. One of the focuses of this

          8  hearing will be on the Police Department response to

          9  domestic violence cases. They will go after the

         10  first panel.

         11                 In 1994, police strategy number four

         12  was initiated by the Police Department, and included

         13  such components as a low arrest policy, expanded

         14  training for all personnel, assigning domestic

         15  violence prevention officers and investigators in

         16  each police precinct and creating a current database

         17  for all orders of protection.

         18                 We held an oversight hearing on this

         19  strategy and issued a report in 1995. A number of

         20  the recommendations in the report are relevant to

         21  what we will be reviewing today. And a number of the

         22  components of police strategy number four of this

         23  Administration have required further oversight. So,

         24  one of the focuses will be on the Police

         25  Department's record in making state mandated
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          2  arrests, and whether dual arrests, arresting the

          3  victim and the abuser are a good policy, the present

          4  status of the NYPD training and its effectiveness,

          5  the use of civilian employees to keep track of

          6  incidents, how domestic violence officers are

          7  selected and the coordination of services by the

          8  different agencies that work with the NYPD to assist

          9  victims of domestic violence.

         10                 We look forward to testimony and

         11  answers in these fields. I am glad to be doing this

         12  hearing with Council Member Eldridge, who has been a

         13  leader in this from long before I got involved in

         14  the early '90s and Council Member DiBrienza. And if

         15  there are any bleary-eyed Met fans here, that will

         16  be understandable.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: What we will

         19  do is, there are members of each of the Committees.

         20  Let me just take a moment, Council Member Reverend

         21  Lloyd Henry, Council Member Guillermo Linares,

         22  Council Member Marty Golden, Council Member Jim

         23  Oddo, and Council Member Phil Reed.

         24                 Before we are done, we expect members

         25  of the various committees to be here for some or all
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          2  of the hearing. I will introduce the first set of

          3  witnesses, our first witness, or witnesses, then

          4  Council Member Leffler will do sort of the next two

          5  sets, which are the police and the DA officers, and

          6  then maybe Council Member Eldridge will do the

          7  remaining groups or the panels, all together there

          8  are about five panels, so I will do one, two and

          9  two, I think that is how we will do this, and we

         10  will try to keep the time moving, or the hearing

         11  moving.

         12                 So, first we have Ann Conners, the

         13  Executive Director of the Coalition of Battered

         14  Women's Advocates. And Galen Sherwin, NOW-New York

         15  City. I understand there is at least one additional

         16  person with them.

         17                 I should also point out that since

         18  this is a joint hearing and not a hearing of the

         19  General Welfare Committee, then we will operate

         20  under the rules of the Council. The General Welfare

         21  Committee handles witnesses slightly differently, so

         22  we will just, not unlike the Finance Committee, we

         23  will handle it with the rules of the Council. So

         24  even though you are accustomed to being sworn in,

         25  which is the custom and practice of our Committee
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          2  when we operate as General Welfare Committee, in

          3  this case the rules of the Council, general rules.

          4                 You can pretty much begin your

          5  testimony when you are ready.

          6                 MS. CONNERS: Good morning. I am Ann

          7  Conners. I am the Executive Director of the

          8  Coalition of Battered Women's Advocates. For those

          9  of you who don't know us, we are a New York City

         10  Coalition of organizations and individuals who are

         11  dedicated to ending the epidemic of domestic

         12  violence in our society. We work on policy and

         13  public education campaigns.

         14                 I would also like to thank the

         15  Council for having this hearing today and for the

         16  extraordinary cooperation that brought three

         17  committees together for this hearing. I think it

         18  shows the level of commitment to this issue, that we

         19  do appreciate.

         20                 I think, you know, to summarize the

         21  situation, what has been happening in our city is

         22  that we have had a vast increase in awareness and

         23  wonderful public education campaigns. You know, you

         24  can't get on the subway without seeing an ad

         25  campaign put together by one of the best ad agencies
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          2  in the world encouraging women to call Victims

          3  Services, and to get out of abusive situations to

          4  find shelter. And I applaud all of those efforts. I

          5  believe that public education is critical and I

          6  think the fact that the policy-makers have this on

          7  their radar is wonderful, but we haven't had a

          8  course finding increase in resources in this City.

          9  So, for example, we have this great ad campaign but

         10  when most women, and it is mostly women, call the

         11  800 number, they are turned away because there

         12  aren't shelter beds available to them. There are

         13  still only 1,298 shelter beds available in the City

         14  of New York and you can look at any record from the

         15  number of orders of protection issued in Family

         16  Court to the number of 911 calls the police respond

         17  to see that there is a vast disparity there.

         18                 The topic today is Police Response to

         19  Domestic Violence, and I must say that I think there

         20  has been an improvement in police response to

         21  domestic violence. I think mandatory arrest has been

         22  by and large beneficial. It has changed things from

         23  the day when the guy was just sort of walked around

         24  the block, we now have domestic violence officers in

         25  the precincts, we have some training going on, I
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          2  think all of those are positive steps.

          3                 However, police response tends to be

          4  very uneven from precinct to precinct and there are

          5  still huge gaps in the system and there is still a

          6  great sort of institutional lack of understanding of

          7  the problem of domestic violence.

          8                 One case that may have come to your

          9  attention was in the press a few months ago, of

         10  Jolanta Short, who was a woman in Queens whose two

         11  sons were murdered by their father and her husband.

         12  After he had beaten her in their home, she went to

         13  the 108th Precinct in Queens and she was told to

         14  wait 24 hours and come back, which is I don't even

         15  believe what the protocol says is supposed to be

         16  done. She went and made a second trip, to no avail,

         17  and she was ultimately bounced between Manhattan and

         18  Queens Family Court, if she attempted to find the

         19  boys and file for custody. So the very systems that

         20  should have been helping her were in effect hurting

         21  her.

         22                 There is also, you know, these

         23  historic areas in the Police Department where we

         24  have had difficult relations in communities of color

         25  and among gay and lesbian individuals who are
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          2  reluctant to call the police. The Anti-Violence

          3  Project here in New York in their 1998 report

          4  evaluated 37 percent -- 37 percent of the clients

          5  said that the police response to them was a

          6  courteous response. Now that may be better from the

          7  days when it would have been five percent, but it is

          8  still only 37 percent.

          9                 Mandatory arrests, as I said before I

         10  think by and large has helped domestic violence

         11  victims, however there is still a tendency in the

         12  Police Department to interpret mandatory arrest, as

         13  meaning that both parties have to be arrested.

         14                 A woman called the Coalition recently

         15  and she had been beaten by her boyfriend to the

         16  point where he was strangling her and she had

         17  bruises on her neck with blood coming out of the

         18  corner of her mouth, and she was holding an

         19  18-month-old and the two police officers who

         20  responded said -- and her batterer was doing

         21  something highly suspicious, liking hiding in the

         22  bushes in the back of the house, which I would think

         23  would indicate some intent, and the police officer

         24  said if we arrest him we have to arrest you and

         25  furthermore your child will be removed and put in
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          2  foster care.

          3                 Now, that woman has never contacted

          4  any official source of help. I tried to get her to

          5  get into counseling and shelter programs and she

          6  wouldn't, she was too terrified by that response.

          7  You know, she is sort of among the disappeared, I

          8  would say.

          9                 The other trend that is happening is

         10  that the batterers have learned to manipulate the

         11  system, so they learn that if an order of protection

         12  is taken out against them by the woman, they can

         13  take one out two days later against her, or they can

         14  call the child abuse hot line and report neglect.

         15  And frequently the Police Department under this must

         16  arrest guise responds by saying okay there is a

         17  complaint we have to arrest you now, without

         18  investigating is it a little suspicious that this

         19  woman got an Order of Protection two days ago and

         20  three days later the person who she has it against

         21  is calling in a complaint against her. I mean,

         22  before we arrest her should we consider that?

         23                 The NYPD's own data shows that there

         24  has been a 70 percent increase in the number of

         25  women arrested from 1993 to 1997 in these types of
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          2  cases, and nationwide the statistics has stayed

          3  steady about the number of women who perpetrate

          4  domestic violence on men which is about two percent

          5  of all cases.

          6                 I have to say that this tendency to

          7  remove children, which is the subject of a hearing

          8  on Friday, but it does disproportionately impact

          9  communities of color. Most of the kids who were

         10  getting removed are black and Hispanic and Child

         11  Welfare Watch reports a 75 percent rate of that, and

         12  I think that that is unacceptable.

         13                 The other trends that we have seen,

         14  despite all of this awareness, is the Police

         15  Department's statistic for the first quarter of this

         16  year showed a nearly 100 percent increase in

         17  domestic violence homicides over the same quarter

         18  last year. And you know, why has that happened? What

         19  is failing here?

         20                 In response to that increase, the

         21  Police Department announced a program called

         22  combatting domestic violence, which is going to be

         23  in 17 precincts in the City and it seems like a good

         24  idea, it is an integrated approach that has domestic

         25  violence officers working with beat cops and crime
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          2  prevention officers, social service agencies, and it

          3  sounds promising, but is it working? We need to have

          4  some reports on that. And if it is working, why not

          5  expand it throughout the City? You know, do we have

          6  the political will necessary to do that to allocate

          7  the resources to do that.

          8                 And finally, within the New York City

          9  Police Department that has its own internal problems

         10  with domestic violence, there was a New York Times

         11  article in November of 1998 that outlined pretty

         12  clearly that the City is falling behind other major

         13  cities in its own response to domestic violence

         14  among police officers and that police officers are

         15  rarely fired, and if they are punished, they are

         16  given a punishment like a 15-day suspension, which

         17  is the same punishment they would get if they were

         18  caught sleeping on the job, or committing a similar

         19  infraction.

         20                 And I think also in the culture of

         21  the Police Department, there is a peer

         22  responsibility, it should be a peer responsibility

         23  to report domestic violence, but it actually works

         24  out to hide domestic violence and I would think one

         25  thing that might help is if the Police Department
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          2  had a counseling program available that was outside

          3  of the NYPD, that could maybe be accessed through

          4  HMOs where officers could get help, their families

          5  could get help, without having to fear the internal

          6  stigma of going for it within the NYPD.

          7                 Just to illustrate that there was a

          8  case of officer Patrick Fitzgerald who was a

          9  patrolman in the 34th Precinct. He shot and killed

         10  himself, his wife and their two children in Orange

         11  County. Relatives of the wife reported that she

         12  contacted the precinct repeatedly. The Police

         13  Department says they have no such record. But

         14  tragically the record does exist of the

         15  seven-year-old child's call to 911 moments before

         16  her father killed her and her family in a futile

         17  effort to get help.

         18                 So, I thank you for having us here

         19  today. I am sure you will agree that these are all

         20  crucial issues and I look forward to going forward

         21  from here.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         24  Ann.

         25                 MS. SHERWIN: My name is Galen
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          2  Sherwin, I am President of the New York City Chapter

          3  of the National Organization for Women. We represent

          4  about 10,000 members in the five boroughs of New

          5  York City. I want to thank the Council for bringing

          6  this Coalition of Committees together to handle this

          7  issue, which really does deserve as broad attention

          8  as possible.

          9                 And I think Anne really did an

         10  excellent job at outlining some of the problems and

         11  I want to keep my testimony brief.

         12                 I do think that, you know, I don't

         13  really need to emphasize how important the police

         14  response to domestic violence is. They really can

         15  make all of the difference, in determining the

         16  outcome of a case in saving women's lives and we are

         17  in most instances the first people on the scene of a

         18  case of abuse. So their response is crucial.

         19                 And while we have heard reports,

         20  certainly there has been some progress, but I think

         21  that while some officers are providing, caring and

         22  effective intervention, from what I hear they are

         23  really the exception more than the rule. And Anne

         24  has sort of gone over the ways in which the changes

         25  in policy are not really taking effect or that they

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            19

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  are backfiring against battered women. One thing

          3  that I also just want to mention is enforcement of

          4  orders of protection which in some cases that you

          5  mentioned there had been orders of protection issued

          6  that had been breached and were not being enforced

          7  as a rule, even though it was stepped up to a felony

          8  offense a couple of years ago. So that is a really

          9  crucial element that needs to be changed throughout

         10  the Police Department and that has to come from the

         11  highest level of City government that Orders of

         12  Protection must always be enforced against batterers

         13  when they breach them. Because that really is one of

         14  the only ways we have in place to prevent further

         15  abuse or even homicide.

         16                 Domestic violence is already one of

         17  the most underreported crimes next to rape and every

         18  time the police respond with brushing off a domestic

         19  violence call, or every time the system fails

         20  another woman, it really sends the message that

         21  domestic violence isn't a serious crime, that the

         22  laws are not going to work to protect women and that

         23  really women's lives don't matter, and I think that

         24  is certainly not the message we should be sending as

         25  a city and not the message that the Administration
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          2  should be sending to women.

          3                 While certainly the education

          4  campaigns are having an impact in raising awareness

          5  about getting help, as Anne mentioned, the resources

          6  aren't there for women and for victims of domestic

          7  violence generally.

          8                 The other thing that I just want to

          9  emphasize is that we can't discuss the police

         10  response for domestic violence without discussing

         11  police brutality and vice versa, because they are

         12  really linked, and racism and police brutality do

         13  have a real impact in domestic violence cases, and I

         14  find that even in the great outcry that has come to

         15  the public about the killing of Amadou Diallo and

         16  the rape of Abner Louima, we haven't really heard

         17  very much about how police brutality and racial

         18  profiling affect women, in particular, or on how

         19  that impacts domestic violence.

         20                 And obviously no woman should be

         21  afraid to call 911, but in communities of color that

         22  have been the target of police brutality and racial

         23  profiling, and how are women supposed to trust the

         24  Police Department?

         25                 One of the most horrifying
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          2  illustrations of this problem that I have heard is

          3  the case of someone who contacted the NOW New York

          4  City office recently, earlier this month, and

          5  although her case really doesn't center on

          6  allegations of police misconduct and brutality, it

          7  started, her call started, it was a call for help

          8  with a situation of domestic violence and she is

          9  here today with me and I am going to really just

         10  turn it over to her because I think that her case

         11  really illustrates this more thoroughly than I

         12  could, and I do want to thank her for her bravery in

         13  coming and speaking, and right when she called my

         14  office she said this is so awful I want to take this

         15  public, I don't care what it takes. So she is with

         16  us today.

         17                 MS. WILLIAMS: Good morning, everyone.

         18  I haven't spoken in public in awhile, so please bear

         19  with me.

         20                 My name is Cherae, and I am a

         21  survivor. Not only am I survivor of domestic

         22  violence, I am also a survivor of police violence,

         23  brutality. If I may, I would like to share my story

         24  in hopes it will make some small contribution in

         25  ending these tragedies. Here is my story:
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          2                 I had been dating the same guy for

          3  about two years. The relationship was good until I

          4  realized he had a temper and was possessive. Two

          5  dangerous combinations.

          6                 I wanted to get out of the

          7  relationship but soon realized it wasn't going to be

          8  that easy. I had called the police many times, any

          9  time I felt threatened. But this last time I called

         10  the police, it almost cost me my life.

         11                 I called 911. My emergency was

         12  domestic violence. The police showed up but couldn't

         13  even be bothered. They didn't bother getting out of

         14  their car.

         15                 I threatened to take down their badge

         16  numbers and make a formal complaint and this angered

         17  them. I was placed under arrest and thrown into

         18  their car. I was driven to a deserted lot where they

         19  beat me until I was bloody. They left me there

         20  dazed, and with the warning. They told me if they

         21  saw me on the street, that they would kill me.

         22                 I am still in doctor's care, still

         23  afraid, very angry, and I feel violated.

         24                 These officers have been taken off

         25  the street. But I am demanding more. I think they
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          2  are dangerous men, and I think that they should be

          3  out of uniform. That is my story.

          4                 My reason for being here today is to

          5  make everyone aware of what did and can happen when

          6  the police respond to a domestic violence call. We

          7  need to look at and speak out about how women are

          8  being victimized by the police, where is the

          9  justice? Where is the civility?

         10                 First I called the police to prevent

         11  a serious incident, then they brutalized me.

         12  Domestic violence is something I have never had to

         13  deal with until this relationship. My immediate

         14  reaction was to call the police. These officers were

         15  so arrogant that they thought the call was a

         16  nuisance and they thought they could do this to me

         17  and there would be no repercussions.

         18                 And then I just go on to say how many

         19  domestic violence calls have they or other officers

         20  responded in a negative behavior, in a negative

         21  manner.

         22                 I want to make certain, when a woman

         23  makes a domestic violence call, you can be assured

         24  they will be treated as a person who needs immediate

         25  help from caring, properly trained officers. I hope
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          2  that these officers and any other officers that

          3  engage in this type of behavior are going to be

          4  dealt with appropriately and know this is

          5  unacceptable.

          6                 And in closing, I am asking for

          7  everyone's help to put a stop to domestic violence

          8  calls being treated as insignificant calls. Abuse is

          9  abuse.

         10                 Let's stop the cycle and the violence

         11  now, don't let someone die before there is a

         12  resolution.

         13                 I just want to thank the Committee

         14  for this opportunity to be heard. The National

         15  Organization for Women, especially Galen, especially

         16  Galen, and my friends and family, you know, doctors

         17  and lawyers that are helping me get through this.

         18  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. Unless

         20  either of you had anything else to add, as you can

         21  see this is a difficult and nonetheless important

         22  topic with a number of general issues and/or

         23  specific cases that come up. Obviously the work of

         24  the Committee and the Committees is to try to deal

         25  with the broadest possible policy questions, finding
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          2  to follow your comments what are, if any, the legal

          3  obstacles faced by battered women? What are the

          4  obstacles faced by gay and lesbian victims of abuse?

          5  What is the situation with beds and the possible

          6  shortage, how is the hot line working? Each of those

          7  components of this overall question, you know, where

          8  it often is somewhat of a starting point, what is

          9  the police response? So we appreciate your doing all

         10  of that and certainly understand how difficult it

         11  was for you.

         12                 So unless there are any questions, I

         13  don't think, from the members of this group, with

         14  the exception of Council Member Reed, we will then

         15  do some introductions and we will switch to Council

         16  Member Leffler.

         17                 Council Member Reed, please.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chair. I certainly thank everybody for their

         20  testimony. I am just interested if this group could

         21  answer the question or perhaps others: Is there a

         22  general age range with abusers that we should be

         23  looking at? Are they younger or older or does it

         24  just across the board?

         25                 MS. CONNERS: It is pretty much across
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          2  the board. Although I have to say that the targets

          3  of domestic violence do tend to be younger women who

          4  are being abused by older men.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Do we have any

          6  idea, and perhaps the police can answer this, about

          7  the precincts with the highest numbers?

          8                 I understood you said quite often,

          9  unfortunately, in black and Latino communities we

         10  see this incidence because of the crisis in people's

         11  lives, et cetera, et cetera. But is there one area

         12  that stands out? Can you make some general

         13  observations about that?

         14                 MS. CONNERS: One of the issues is how

         15  extremely difficult it is to get data from the

         16  Police Department and also from this Administration

         17  in general. And I think that is one of the purposes

         18  of the hearing, is try to get some of that data to

         19  be forthcoming. You know, we just don't know. You

         20  hear anecdotal evidence of complaints. The 108

         21  Precinct in Queens had been anecdotally before this

         22  incident with Jolanta Short, I had heard a lot of

         23  complaints about it. But, you know, five, six

         24  complaints, how do you tally that with what they are

         25  responding to? I think we need to have the data and
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          2  you need to have the data, and the City needs to

          3  release it.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

          7  Council member.

          8                 Thank you, folks, so much for your

          9  time and your testimony. Let me just do a couple of

         10  things. We have been joined by Council Members Mike

         11  Abel, Stan Michels, Angel Rodriguez, Bill Perkins,

         12  there are several other meetings going on so members

         13  are kind of trying to cover both important topics.

         14                 Because of the joint nature of this

         15  hearing, it is hard to avoid overlap. If it were

         16  just our committee, then they clear and make sure

         17  that the members don't have another meeting, but

         18  when you have three committees here, it is not

         19  unlikely that some of the members have to run

         20  inside.

         21                 Let me also say to everyone who is in

         22  this audience on behalf of my colleagues, and then I

         23  will turn it over to Councilman Leffler, the Council

         24  as a whole, the three committees as a whole and us

         25  individually as members understand the importance of
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          2  this issue, have devoted as much time and resource

          3  as possible. The following people really need to be

          4  acknowledged for a moment, Rob Newman, who is

          5  Counsel to my Committee. Miriam Burns, Rich Arbelo,

          6  Susan Cadero, and Michael Polumburg, who is the

          7  newest member of my staff, who helped put it

          8  together. Roberto Ragone, Ted Beeker, Andy Grossman

          9  from Council Member Leffler's committees, Deidra

         10  Feerick, Mary Barber, Fiona Alofant, and Joan

         11  Havloni, from the Women's Issues Committee.  Amy

         12  Weber, who I forget, from Council Member Leffler.

         13  The point is, this is an enormous amount of staff

         14  time and energy, and they become, as expert on these

         15  issues as we try to be and we want to thank them.

         16                 So, again, the balance now of the

         17  hearing, we will have police and DAs, Council Member

         18  Leffler to take over, then Council Member Eldridge,

         19  because we do want to hear from some panelists about

         20  the legal obstacles faced by battered women, the

         21  obstacles faced by gay and lesbian victims and the

         22  questions surrounding the issue of beds.

         23                 And as I turn it to Councilman

         24  Leffler, I just want to say for my purposes I would

         25  be interested in knowing, as the police join us, you
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          2  know, what are -- I mean, I am sure you have

          3  prepared testimony, but what are the numbers? What

          4  is the distribution? Where are we out there? I hope

          5  that is part of it.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 Councilman Leffler.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I would like to

          9  acknowledge the presence of a class in the gallery.

         10  This is a class from PS 29, which is located at 425

         11  Henry Street in Brooklyn. I understand it is a third

         12  grade class. We welcome you all. This is a joint

         13  hearing of the City Council's Committees of Public

         14  Safety, General Welfare and the Women's

         15  Subcommittee. We are looking into issues of domestic

         16  violence here this morning. We now have

         17  representatives from the New York City Police

         18  Department.

         19                 Do you have a prepared statement?

         20                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I need a copy of

         22  it.

         23                 And the Committee on Women, excuse

         24  me, I stand corrected.

         25                 MS. RAIFORD: Good morning. I am Lucia
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          2  Davis Raiford, Director of the Domestic Violence

          3  Unit of the Office of the Chief of Department, New

          4  York City Police Department.

          5                 On behalf of Commissioner Safir I am

          6  pleased to be here today to discuss the Police

          7  Department's response to domestic violence.

          8                 As you know, the mission of the

          9  Police Department is to protect life and property by

         10  enforcing the law in an effective and fair manner.

         11  Nowhere is our commitment to that mission more

         12  strongly demonstrated than the area of domestic

         13  violence.

         14                 From a time when domestic violence

         15  was essentially considered a private matter, we as a

         16  society have come to understand the personal

         17  devastation and ultimate social cost of treating

         18  domestic violence as anything less than a crime.

         19                 The Police Department operating

         20  within a strategic framework of policies and

         21  procedures works diligently with its companion city

         22  agencies, as well as with the District Attorneys,

         23  court systems, community groups, the advocacy

         24  community, and most especially, the victims, to

         25  provide as comprehensive an approach to the complex
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          2  problem of domestic violence as possible.

          3                 The Police Department's role is

          4  essentially the same as its role in any crime

          5  problem, to arrest perpetrators, and assist in

          6  preventing or deterring future crime.

          7                 When police officers respond to a

          8  situation involving victims and criminals who are

          9  strangers to each other, police officers are guided

         10  by general law and policy without many additional

         11  factors to consider. But when there is a

         12  relationship between the crime victim and the

         13  perpetrator, there are emotional bonds, children,

         14  financial and other issues that interrelate with the

         15  police action.

         16                 For example, domestic violence is a

         17  crime where the perpetrator knows how to contact the

         18  victim, where many victims do not choose to

         19  participate in the prosecution of the offender.

         20                 In addition, there are also specific

         21  laws and policies for domestic violence crimes with

         22  an overriding Police Department commitment to work

         23  in partnership with other entities to do as much as

         24  possible to secure the safety of the victim.

         25                 Recognizing the importance of the
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          2  problem of domestic violence and the fact that

          3  taking strong action and arresting perpetrators can

          4  help break the cycle of violence, the Police

          5  Department devotes to this problem an enormous

          6  amount of energy, expertise and resources.

          7                 In fact, we are regularly visited by

          8  law enforcement and other government officials from

          9  all over the world to study our methods, seeking to

         10  replicate them in their own jurisdictions.

         11                 I remind you that the New York State

         12  Legislature essentially adopted our Department's

         13  already existing policy in 1994, when enacting the

         14  State's mandatory arrest law and introducing the

         15  domestic incident report.

         16                 As you know, in 1994, the Police

         17  Department undertook a major new commitment to

         18  combat domestic violence, by formulating and

         19  implementing a creative strategy, in a comprehensive

         20  and integrated manner.

         21                 Since we increased our commitment

         22  five years ago, we have achieved numerous

         23  accomplishments in this area.

         24                 We have previously described to this

         25  body the basic elements of our strategy, embodying a
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          2  more proactive approach to domestic violence.

          3                 It includes the assignment of

          4  Domestic Violence Prevention Officers that we call

          5  DVPOs, and Domestic Violence Investigators, DVIs, to

          6  patrol all precincts and Housing Bureau commands.

          7                 The establishment of the headquarters

          8  Domestic Violence Unit within the Office of Chief of

          9  Department to coordinate the Department's response

         10  to domestic violence; mandatory arrest; preparation

         11  of domestic incident reports; Citywide tracking

         12  service and enforcement of orders of protection.

         13                 Police officers act in partnership

         14  with both public and the private agencies to address

         15  the needs of domestic violence. Not only by

         16  addressing the commission of the crime itself, but

         17  by also making appropriate referrals and conducting

         18  regular follow-up so that the victims are supported,

         19  better informed and more able to follow through on

         20  criminal prosecutions of Family Court proceedings.

         21                 DVPOs are required to contact victims

         22  within 24 hours of filing every criminal complaint

         23  or DIR. They receive extensive training in the law,

         24  as well as services available to domestic crime

         25  victims through other agencies, crime victim support
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          2  groups, community-based organizations and shelters.

          3                 For a snapshot of the Department's

          4  present efforts, there are currently more than 300

          5  sworn staff specifically dedicated to this problem,

          6  224 domestic violence police officers; 21 sergeants,

          7  and 96 DVIs have been assigned to address domestic

          8  violence in addition to the headquarters Domestic

          9  Violence Unit.

         10                 This demonstrates the significant

         11  commitment of resources which has increased with the

         12  passing years. Note that when the strategy was

         13  introduced in 1994, the Department assigned to each

         14  of the then 75 precincts, one DVPO and one DVI.

         15                 With respect to crime complaint data,

         16  year-to-date, as of October 10th, 1999, preliminary

         17  figures indicate that there were 6,994 major

         18  felonies involving family and household members, as

         19  opposed to 8,196 for the same period in 1998, a

         20  decrease of 4.7 percent.

         21                 Data for family offenses and sex

         22  offenses other than rape and violations of order of

         23  protection indicate a total of 54,701 complaints in

         24  1999, as opposed to 57,081 in 1998, for a drop of

         25  4.2 percent.
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          2                 I note the domestic homicides number

          3  60 through October 12th, 1999, as compared to 62

          4  during the same period in 1998, which represents a

          5  three percent decrease.

          6                 Of the 1999 homicides, only two of

          7  the victims, or three percent, had an order of

          8  protection. In 75 percent of the cases there have

          9  been no prior police reports.

         10                 With respect to family-related

         11  arrests, data for calendar year 1998 indicates

         12  24,781 arrests, as opposed to 14,409 in 1993 for an

         13  increase of 72 percent.

         14                 There are 135,786 DIRs prepared in

         15  the first seven months of 1999, and a total of

         16  231,241 DIRs prepared in 1998.

         17                 An essential element of our approach

         18  is training at all levels, recruit and in-service,

         19  for field personnel, with additional enhanced

         20  training for DVPOs and DVIs.

         21                 At the beginning of their careers,

         22  recruits receive extensive training specifically

         23  devoted to domestic violence issues, utilizing

         24  varied teaching techniques - lecture, sociodrama,

         25  roleplay, reflective team exercise, video - they are
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          2  trained in such topics as: Power and control

          3  dynamics; arrest policy and family offenses;

          4  profiles of the batterer; orders of protection; the

          5  role of the Domestic Violence Prevention Officer;

          6  the importance of maintaining the domestic violence

          7  database; primary physical aggressor; and same sex

          8  battering.

          9                 All police officers receive ongoing

         10  in-service domestic violence training in Precinct

         11  Level Training, and in In-Tac Training two days per

         12  year.

         13                 Precinct level training is utilized

         14  to keep officers informed of developments in the

         15  law, and policy changes, as well as through general

         16  sharpening of skills and knowledge.

         17                 For example, this year the training

         18  topics included identification of primary physical

         19  aggressor in domestic violence cases to reflect

         20  recent legislation.

         21                 Every officer who is promoted to

         22  sergeant, lieutenant or captain receives promotional

         23  training in domestic violence conducted by the

         24  Uniformed Promotional training Unit.

         25                 The Executive Development Program
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          2  conducts executive level training for captains and

          3  above, and civilian managers, as well as supervisory

          4  civilian personnel from within and outside the

          5  Department.

          6                 Many specialized courses, such as the

          7  Leadership Training Section, LEAD Training for the

          8  uniformed and civilian supervisors, Detective Bureau

          9  In-Tac training, the Criminal Investigation Course,

         10  and the Sex Crimes and Child Abuse Investigation

         11  Course, contain substantial domestic violence

         12  components. Even our Police Cadets receive extensive

         13  training in domestic violence issues.

         14                 The Domestic Violence Unit plays a

         15  major role in many of these courses. In Fiscal Year

         16  1999, the Domestic Violence Unit trained over 6,400

         17  members of the Department and 520 civilian members

         18  of the outside agencies.

         19                 In addition to the comprehensive

         20  implementation of our overall strategy, we have

         21  initiated several special projects and approaches

         22  which I would like to summarize for you now.

         23                 One of the most ambitious programs to

         24  date is our Bronx model precinct in the 43 and 44

         25  Precinct. Supported by a State grant under the STOP
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          2  Violence Against Women Act funds, the staffs of the

          3  domestic violence unit in each precinct were

          4  increased to one sergeant, eight police officers and

          5  two civilian aides.

          6                 These precincts work collaboratively

          7  with the Bronx District Attorney's Office, the

          8  Department of Probation and Victim Services to

          9  coordinate the law enforcement response and to

         10  improve outreach to victims.

         11                 During the first year, August 1998

         12  through July 1999, successful home visits increased

         13  by 210 percent and DVPO arrests increased by 287

         14  percent.

         15                 Inspired by the success of the Model

         16  Precinct Program, we developed the Combatting

         17  Domestic Violence Program, currently operating in 15

         18  precincts Citywide.

         19                 This program enhances the

         20  Department's ability to address domestic crimes

         21  through improvement in education, prevention,

         22  enforcement and collaboration.

         23                 Internal precinct resources, such as

         24  the Crime Prevention Officer, Community Affairs

         25  Officer, Youth Officer, and officers assigned to
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          2  Community Policing posts are utilized in an effort

          3  to ensure increased levels of outreach to victims.

          4                 The focus of the program is increased

          5  home visits, following an incident, development of a

          6  safety plan, and enhanced case monitoring.

          7                 In partnership with Victim Services,

          8  the Administration for Children's Services and the

          9  Brooklyn District Attorney's Office, the Department

         10  participated in the development of the Brooklyn

         11  Child Advocacy Center, a model program in which

         12  child victims of abuse are treated with sensitivity

         13  in a child friendly location.

         14                 Law enforcement and other agency

         15  efforts are coordinated with the goals of minimizing

         16  the number of times the child needs to come into

         17  contact with the criminal justice system, as well as

         18  centralizing the availability of medical and

         19  psychological care.

         20                 Recognizing that wherever possible, a

         21  victim should be able to remain in the home safely

         22  rather than fleeing because of an offender's

         23  criminal actions, the Police Department is working

         24  with HRA to implement Mayor Giuliani's Alternatives

         25  to Shelter Program. By giving participants home and
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          2  pendant alarms, caller ID, answering machines and

          3  cellphones, victims will be able to contact 911

          4  quickly in an emergency but remain in their homes.

          5                 The program includes community-based

          6  resources, such as counseling and case management.

          7  In order to participate in a program, the victim

          8  must obtain an exclusionary order of protection

          9  against the offender, be willing to participate in

         10  the prosecution of the case and must be screened by

         11  HRA.

         12                 The program is based on a successful

         13  pilot program which was expanded and upgraded and

         14  will ultimately be expanded to precincts in all five

         15  boroughs.

         16                 The Police Department is working with

         17  the Brooklyn District Attorney and the Department of

         18  Probation to implement a new program, the Juris

         19  Monitor Program, in which offenders convicted of

         20  crimes of domestic violence are fitted with

         21  electronic bracelets. Victims receive a special

         22  alarm installed in their homes and if the offender

         23  comes within 500 feet of the residence the alarm

         24  will sound.

         25                 The technology, therefore,
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          2  automatically documents the offender's violation of

          3  the order of protection and conditions of probation,

          4  which facilitates arrest. Victims also receive a

          5  pendant alarm.

          6                 In the 25th Precinct we are working

          7  with the Urban Justice Center to develop a

          8  collaborative legal advocacy network to assist

          9  victims of domestic violence through the criminal

         10  justice system and the Family Court process.

         11                 Monthly meetings are held with the

         12  Domestic Violence Prevention Officers, the Domestic

         13  Violence Investigators, the Manhattan District

         14  Attorney's Office the Department of Probation and

         15  Victim Services in an effort to improve operational

         16  and support services for victims.

         17                 With the assistance of the Center of

         18  Court Innovation, four department precincts will be

         19  directly linked to the Brooklyn Domestic Violence

         20  Court through enhanced technology, so that officers

         21  will be able to communicate by computer directly

         22  with the court and obtain up-to-date information and

         23  court-ordered conditions on pending cases.

         24                 Another part of the project will

         25  provide for video-conferencing between the District
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          2  Attorney, victim advocate and the local precinct, so

          3  that victims need not travel to court.

          4                 The Department is also the

          5  beneficiary of a $2 million technology grant which

          6  will allow us to link all of the disparate computer

          7  systems needed for efficient information flow and

          8  response to domestic violence.

          9                 Systems, such as the SPRINT system,

         10  with location and victim/offender history, the DIR

         11  database, the pistol licensing system, the on-line

         12  booking and complaint systems, and order of

         13  protection database will all be linked so that

         14  police officers responding to an incident may obtain

         15  a significant amount of relevant background

         16  information, which is now gathered in a cumbersome

         17  and time-consuming fashion.

         18                 Finally, we will be working with the

         19  FBI on an innovative and ground-breaking initiative

         20  focusing on stalkers. We will develop a model

         21  protocol and training materials which will enable

         22  police officers to create stalker profiles and to

         23  use specialized investigation tactics to initiate

         24  and evaluate cases more effectively, with the goal

         25  of apprehending the stalker and preventing an
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          2  escalation of danger to the victim.

          3                 I note that this initiative is

          4  particularly timely with the recent passage of the

          5  anti-stalking legislation in the State Legislature.

          6                 As you see, the Police Department is

          7  one very important part of a larger effort on the

          8  part of public and private entities. We recognize

          9  and fulfill our unique responsibilities by proactive

         10  effort and by working together with all of the

         11  helping agencies.

         12                 I welcome your interest in our

         13  efforts, and I would like to invite you to assist us

         14  in any way possible, including funding of

         15  collaborative, community-based outreach and public

         16  education programs, so that victims of domestic

         17  violence can learn that they are not alone, and that

         18  help is available from many sources.

         19                 I will be happy to answer any

         20  questions you may have.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, thank you

         22  very much, Director Davis Raiford.

         23                 One of the things you said early on

         24  in your testimony were, I think -- here it is, at

         25  the bottom of page four, the last paragraph, with
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          2  respect to homicides in 1999, where you said that

          3  through October 12th of the two years, '98 and '99,

          4  there were only two more homicides. Wait a second

          5  here, there were two fewer homicides in 1998. There

          6  were two fewer homicides in 19-- one second. There

          7  were two fewer homicides in 1999 than in 1998, a

          8  decrease. And yet, am I not correct in saying that

          9  time after time when the statistics here in 1999

         10  have shown an increase in homicides in the City, the

         11  increase has been attributed to an increase in

         12  domestic violence homicides.

         13                 So, how do you account for that? It

         14  seems to me that the two don't mesh, first of all.

         15                 MS. RAIFORD: With all statistics it

         16  depends on when you do the count generally. It is

         17  just a blip in the screen that at the point that

         18  statement was made some months ago, that we had

         19  increased over a 30-day period a higher rate of

         20  domestic homicides than we had in that 30-day period

         21  the previous year.

         22                 But it has been fairly consistent

         23  over the course of this year, that they have not

         24  been significantly higher. It has been within the

         25  range of one or two homicides over the course of
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          2  most of the year.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

          4                 You have told that to the Police

          5  Commissioner and his public information officers so

          6  that now when they do explain, "explain" the

          7  increase in homicides in the City, they won't

          8  attribute it to any increase in domestic violence

          9  homicides?

         10                 MS. RAIFORD: Will I tell the Police

         11  Commissioner?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: They should know

         13  about this, I mean -- in other words, what you are

         14  saying is that "explanation" may have been --

         15                 MS. RAIFORD: I believe that they do.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: -- May have been

         17  apt at the time but it hasn't been apt now for some

         18  time, and it is not apt anymore.

         19                 MS. RAIFORD: I believe that they do.

         20  I believe that statement was made back in February

         21  when it was in fact the case.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Frankly, I would

         23  be interested in checking it. It is my impression

         24  that it has been made more recently than that. But

         25  in any case, you know, dealing in the domestic
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          2  violence here, are you doing anything special then,

          3  with respect to homicides and domestic violence

          4  cases to address that particular aspect of the

          5  overall problem we are dealing with today?

          6                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes, and it is one of

          7  the most perplexing issues that we face.

          8                 What we find in domestic homicides

          9  more often than not the victims have never reported

         10  to the police, the victims have never gotten orders

         11  of protection, which means that they have not used

         12  the system as any point of intake.

         13                 What we have found, however, as we

         14  looked at the Department of Health studied that

         15  showed that between 1990 and 1997 femicides, adult

         16  women killed by adult male partners, that quite a

         17  number of those cases involved stalking-type

         18  behavior, and that is the very reason that we are

         19  trying to develop this stalking protocol and plan to

         20  pilot it in an area where we believe has a good mix

         21  of the types of cases so that that stalking protocol

         22  can hopefully result in a good homicide prevention

         23  program.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It seems to show

         25  a sort of obsession that can lead to a fatality; is
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          2  that correct?

          3                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes. And there is no

          4  broad, really broad way to treat it, domestic

          5  violence murders, as are most people, individuals

          6  that respond to different stimuli. The one thing

          7  that we do know is that for most of the cases that

          8  we know about when interviews occurred with the

          9  victim's family after the death, that there had been

         10  stalking behavior.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Let me just

         12  point out that Council Member Malave-Dilan has also

         13  joined us at the hearing.

         14                 There is a reference in here to your

         15  testimony to domestic incidents reports and numbers

         16  that you keep, the Mayor's Management Report that we

         17  got last month stated that there were 266,890

         18  domestic incident reports in Fiscal '99, and that

         19  23,420 family-related arrests were made. Could you

         20  explain why there is such a tremendous disparity

         21  between incident reports and numbers of arrests?

         22                 You pointed out the comparison of '98

         23  I think it is with '93, and how there have been over

         24  a 70 percent increase, but there still seems to be a

         25  very small percentage of DIR-reported cases having
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          2  arrests, why is that?

          3                 MS. RAIFORD: Well, one of the reasons

          4  we do know is that domestic incident reports are

          5  merely the form by which we record that we got a

          6  call or a complaint or a walk in that there was a

          7  domestic incident.

          8                 If a neighbor called, oftentimes we

          9  get calls and it is a vacant lot. But it has to be

         10  recorded. That incident, even if there is one, does

         11  not necessarily mean that a crime has been

         12  committed. People have arguments, neighbors call

         13  police, we respond to a lot of those. It is still

         14  not illegal to argue with your partner, and those

         15  certainly will not result in arrests. Those are the

         16  great many, plus there is a great volume of

         17  harassments, quite a number of the complaints that

         18  we receive of harassments, but the violations, for

         19  which there can't be an arrest unless the police

         20  officer is present.

         21                 So the great disparity really results

         22  from the fact that the domestic incident report

         23  doesn't necessarily record the occurrence of a

         24  crime, only a complaint report would do that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Maybe I could

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            49

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  ask you some questions then on how the NYPD deals

          3  with arrest, and then I will turn it over to

          4  colleagues and then come back.

          5                 Do you keep track of incidents where

          6  no arrest is made?

          7                 MS. RAIFORD: In the sense that if

          8  there is a domestic incident number and an arrest at

          9  the end?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, incidents

         11  where you go to the scene of, you know, because

         12  there is a dispute, and no arrest is made, so that

         13  you can then review them and determine whether there

         14  has been appropriate action or whether there are

         15  still too few incidents in which arrests are made?

         16                 MS. RAIFORD: We do review the

         17  complaint reports. Unfortunately --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: A supervisor

         19  reviews it then I take it?

         20                 MS. RAIFORD: Oh, the supervisor

         21  reviews every complaint report. But I believe your

         22  question is, is there a post incident review of that

         23  report to determine whether or not arrests should

         24  have been made?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.
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          2                 MS. RAIFORD: Certainly my office does

          3  that and the Chief of Department's Office does that.

          4  We review the complaint report, we review domestic

          5  incident reports, we look at the fact to see whether

          6  or not the police officer's actions have been

          7  appropriate.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And what have

          9  you generally found?

         10                 MS. RAIFORD: What is hard to tell,

         11  though, from a pure copy of a piece of paper is all

         12  the facts that occurred. And certainly with a sheer

         13  volume of incidents and reports we can't look at

         14  every one.

         15                 But we find that the COMSTAT process

         16  has been very effective in causing the review of

         17  appropriate arrest actions or whether or not arrests

         18  should have been made in certain circumstances, and

         19  generally reviewing our overall response to domestic

         20  violence, whether it is home visits, whether it is

         21  enforcement of orders of protection, we found that

         22  that has been very, very effective.

         23                 But for the most part, we feel fairly

         24  confident that our compliance with the mandatory

         25  arrest statutes is pretty good.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It's pretty

          3  good.

          4                 Well, what do you do in the terms of

          5  discipline if an officer doesn't make an arrest that

          6  he should have made?

          7                 MS. RAIFORD: I am sorry, I don't

          8  handle discipline.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: What do you do

         10  in terms of discipline if an officer doesn't make an

         11  arrest that he or she should have made, that you

         12  determined should have been made?

         13                 MS. RAIFORD: In those circumstances,

         14  it is not a call that I would make certainly in

         15  terms of discipline. My role would be to review

         16  whether or not the facts of the case, and I get on

         17  the phone and I call, determine whether or not an

         18  arrest should be made.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         20                 MS. RAIFORD: For the most part, if we

         21  have an unapprehended perpetrator, the case is of

         22  course referred to the detective for investigation.

         23  We review the case closings of the Detective Squad

         24  on the domestic violence cases. Rarely has there

         25  been in a circumstance that came before my table
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          2  where an arrest wasn't made that should have been

          3  made.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Rarely?

          5                 MS. RAIFORD: Fairly rarely, in my

          6  review.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, what do

          8  you do in the instances where you determine that an

          9  arrest should have been made but was not made?

         10                 MS. PETITO: Maybe I can step in.

         11  Susan Petito, Director of the Office of Deputy

         12  Commissioner of Legal Matters, Police Department.

         13                 It certainly depends on the facts. If

         14  discipline is to be taken it would be for a

         15  violation of Department policy, but because these

         16  situations are so fact specific, it might actually

         17  be the result of the Police Commissioner's training

         18  need, as opposed to a willful disobeyance of

         19  Department Policy. So, it would be looked at on a

         20  case-by-case basis. That look would certainly start

         21  with Director Raiford's review, but it would seem

         22  that probably a lot of these are more training

         23  issues than discipline issues.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Do you have an

         25  outcome-based indicator in the Mayor's Management
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          2  Report or elsewhere as to how successfully you are

          3  implementing this policy, and particularly with

          4  respect to disciplining officers for failure to make

          5  arrests?

          6                 MS. RAIFORD: I believe that the

          7  arrest numbers have been shared in the Mayor's

          8  Management Report.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Say that again?

         10                 MS. RAIFORD: The numbers of arrests

         11  and the volume of arrests --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes, there are.

         13  But the question is, an indicator as to what you do

         14  in instances when an arrest should have been made

         15  but was not made?

         16                 MS. RAIFORD: In the Mayor's

         17  Management Report?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Or anywhere. It

         19  would seem to me that if you are trying to be

         20  effective, one way of being effective is to trace

         21  the outcomes. Instances where there should be

         22  discipline, where there should have been arrests, no

         23  arrests made, what discipline is imposed.

         24                 MR. RAIFORD: It is not in the Mayor's

         25  Management Report.
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          2                 .

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I know that, I

          4  read the Mayor's Management Report.

          5                 Do you keep that outcome indicator

          6  anywhere?

          7                 MS. RAIFORD: I personally don't.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I don't mean you

          9  as a person, I mean --

         10                 MS. PETITO: I don't believe so. I

         11  don't believe it would kept in that routine and

         12  manner. Our sense is that there are not many of

         13  them, but I don't believe that there is a separate

         14  indicator for discipline as a result of the failure

         15  to arrest.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Could I suggest

         17  to you, even if -- you know, I am skeptical that

         18  there shouldn't be many, but whatever number there

         19  are, it would seem to me it would be worthwhile to

         20  track this, and to even make it known so that people

         21  would have, who were working in the Department would

         22  have the sense of the consequences for messing up,

         23  for not making an arrest where there should be.

         24                 You rightly point out, you know,

         25  there could be particular factors explaining it,
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          2  but, you know, if there are X number of incidents,

          3  it would be good to know that Y percent of the time

          4  of those X incidents, this has been the consequence.

          5  And then people who respond to the scenes will know,

          6  I better do this right, otherwise it will be more

          7  than just a talking to, there are consequences.

          8                 MS. PETITO: Right. I think that on a

          9  case-by-case basis, Director Raiford's unit gets

         10  very involved in the issue of whether an arrest

         11  should be made or not. But you are right, that is a

         12  case-by-case basis. Looking at it in a more

         13  generalized fashion is something that we will take

         14  back and think about.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: What is your

         16  reaction to the woman, Cherae, who testified, the

         17  third women in what would be to your left, with

         18  respect to the incident where she -- you heard her

         19  testimony, that the officers actually abused her

         20  rather than helped her?

         21                 MS. PETITO: I think we went into the

         22  other area. We started with the original call which

         23  was for domestic violence, but then certainly it was

         24  a very affecting story and it was very moving, and I

         25  am glad she came here, but I wonder that a complaint
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          2  was filed. I hope that she made a complaint at the

          3  Civilian Complaint Review Board and that the case is

          4  being investigated, either by them or by Internal

          5  Affairs. Because we need to know about those

          6  incidents and we need to properly investigate them.

          7                 I believe that she did say that the

          8  officers had been removed from patrol. I don't know

          9  if that was a direct result of this or not, but

         10  certainly it is an area, the general area of uses of

         11  the citizenry, it is something that we have had many

         12  discussions about, and the Police Department is

         13  wanting to address.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: With respect to

         15  the so-called misdemeanor arrests, as opposed to the

         16  felony arrest where there is a mandatory policy,

         17  what criteria has the Department established to

         18  assist the officers in determining whether to make a

         19  misdemeanor arrest when the victim requests that no

         20  arrests be made?

         21                 MS. RAIFORD: Training, training, and

         22  more training.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. What does

         24  it consist of, the training?

         25                 MS. RAIFORD: The training consists of
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          2  teaching adults in the way we think that adults

          3  learn best, which is multi-media certainly, less

          4  lecture, but on the substance of a law, and that is,

          5  in misdemeanor circumstances, the law and our own

          6  policy, which we think is even tighter than the law,

          7  and that is, in a misdemeanor circumstance where the

          8  victim voluntarily requests, which happens a lot,

          9  that the offender not be arrested, the police

         10  officer should do a safety assessment, and then of

         11  course that becomes a discretionary arrest once

         12  again. If the police officer believes that he would

         13  put that woman and family at risk by leaving the

         14  offender there, then an arrest is made.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That is the only

         16  time? That seems to me to be perspective, rather

         17  than focusing on the facts of the case and whether,

         18  you know, the sufficient harm was done to begin

         19  with, not whether there might be a recurrence.

         20                 MS. RAIFORD: Well, if there is

         21  probable cause to believe that a crime was then

         22  committed and it is a misdemeanor level family

         23  offense, the victim still has the right to say no.

         24                 One of the things that we are getting

         25  better at --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That's the

          3  point. What happens if she does say no but the

          4  officer has the sense that she was beaten up?

          5                 MS. RAIFORD: If he believes that she

          6  is at risk, and there is immediate danger, he must

          7  make an arrest.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: In other words,

          9  if he has the sense that they really like one

         10  another or love one another or have something there

         11  but she was beaten up once but hopefully it won't

         12  happen again, probably it won't happen again, he

         13  doesn't have to arrest in that instance?

         14                 MS. RAIFORD: Well, first of all,

         15  prosecution is an issue as to whether or not that

         16  will occur. But in misdemeanor circumstances the

         17  victim has the right to determine whether or not a

         18  police officer will make an arrest, it is within her

         19  discretion or his discretion to say no.

         20                 If there has been some kind of

         21  battle, it has to first of all rise to the level of

         22  a misdemeanor before it is a consideration. If there

         23  has been some smacking around, pushing, shoving, in

         24  which there has been no injury or substantial pain,

         25  then it would have had to occur in the presence of a
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          2  police officer in order for that arrest to have been

          3  made.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. Sometimes

          5  they can see somebody is actually, you know,

          6  bruised, and she will still say, no, don't arrest

          7  him.

          8                 MR. RAIFORD: For the most part, I

          9  have to be honest with you, under no circumstances

         10  arrests will be made if they believe the woman is at

         11  risk, because for the most part we recognize that

         12  these cases are cyclical and that they are

         13  repetitive.

         14                 But as to whether or not we go in

         15  someone's home and call everybody away, that doesn't

         16  happen, unless it is within the mandatory arrest

         17  policy, where it is absolutely mandated that an

         18  arrest be made.

         19                 Police officers tend to use pretty

         20  good discretion when it comes to misdemeanor

         21  arrests. They generally exercise that discretion in

         22  favor of protecting the victim.

         23                 What I have to be careful about,

         24  though, because I, too, am a victims advocate, and

         25  I, too, am a survivor of domestic violence, is that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            60

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  we remain smart enough as an institution to listen

          3  to victims, that we cannot frame the agenda, we

          4  cannot shape the agenda. We can come up with the

          5  best institutional response that our growing

          6  experience teaches us, but we still have to respect

          7  her or him enough to be guided where there is no

          8  safety issue in our action.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I would be

         10  interested in what others have to say, but I am

         11  actually surprised at that, because it seems to me

         12  that what you are saying is that if somebody is

         13  beaten up to the point of it being evident, bruised,

         14  but the man, because it is usually the man, says I

         15  shouldn't have done it, I lost my temper, and she

         16  says something like, look, I don't want the family

         17  broken up, I don't want him arrested. Your attitude

         18  is something like, well, it probably won't happen

         19  again. She was beaten up this time. Didn't you

         20  essentially say that?

         21                 MS. RAIFORD: No, I did not. I would

         22  never be that cavalier about responding to anybody

         23  whose life is at risk, and certainly not a domestic

         24  violence victim.

         25                 My response is, though, that, again,
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          2  the victim has to be respected. I know we all

          3  attempt to represent her as best we can, but the

          4  statute still gives her the right to say that she

          5  does not want the criminal justice to intrude at

          6  this time, and we have the discretion at that point

          7  to make the arrest decision or not.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: The statute

          9  gives the police the power, the discretion, to make

         10  an arrest in instances where you believe somebody

         11  has been violent, has broken the law. Even if she,

         12  you know, for other reasons says don't arrest him.

         13                 MS. RAIFORD: You are right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So, it seems to

         15  me what you are doing is letting somebody get away

         16  with it where she, for other reasons, you know,

         17  doesn't want him arrested, but you can see that he,

         18  you know, was particularly violent, there was

         19  evidence of it.

         20                 MS. RAIFORD: In which case he would

         21  be arrested.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: He would be

         23  arrested.

         24                 MS. RAIFORD: Arrests have increased.

         25  This is problem the most critical area in terms of
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          2  police performance, that police officers are very,

          3  very, very much aware of the mandatory arrest

          4  statute.

          5                 Anecdotally I think people are

          6  reluctant not to make an arrest in these

          7  circumstances. So, whereas the statute says one

          8  thing, our policy says one thing, but I tend to

          9  trust the discretion of the police that respond to

         10  these jobs, in doing a good job and making sure that

         11  the scene is secure, that people are safe and if

         12  that means arresting a perpetrator, even if the

         13  victim doesn't want it, if there is a risk to her

         14  safety, that that arrest is made.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: How often does

         16  the officer refer the victim to services that are

         17  available?

         18                 MS. RAIFORD: Any time a complaint

         19  comes in, a domestic incident report, I am sorry,

         20  not just a complaint, that gets to the domestic

         21  violence prevention officer, whose job it is to

         22  contact the victim. They do it by phone, by letter,

         23  depending on the type of case, they will do a home

         24  visit knocking on the victim's door. In all of those

         25  circumstances, referrals to sources of help are
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          2  made.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think it was

          4  Anne Connors who testified earlier on, you heard it,

          5  she said that she felt that one of the problems was,

          6  I think was the way the cross complaint situation

          7  has evolved. That frequently women are arrested

          8  based on the complaints of the person who appears to

          9  be the predominant batterer, if not the main

         10  batterer.

         11                 How many women are being arrested in

         12  such circumstances? How wide spread of a problem

         13  have you found that to be?

         14                 MS. RAIFORD: I am amazed when people

         15  can quote that, because I don't see statistics on

         16  cross complaints and dual arrests, certainly not

         17  being made by the Department.

         18                 But now anecdotally, what I can say,

         19  that any time you mandate that an arrest be made if

         20  you have probable cause, that is the standard that a

         21  police officer has to make.

         22                 Whether or not that arrest, if it is

         23  appropriate, moves forward, certainly we don't like

         24  to do them because a case goes nowhere. The

         25  prosecutors can't prosecute because of course each
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          2  person is a perpetrator and neither is likely to

          3  give facts about the other.

          4                 But in terms of dual arrests, we are

          5  not seeing the major number that I was very

          6  concerned about that and the Department was very

          7  concerned about that when we implemented the

          8  mandatory arrest statute, because the statute didn't

          9  say look to see who is the least guilty. It said if

         10  you have probable cause to believe that a crime had

         11  been committed, then you must make an arrest. And in

         12  cross complaints you have two parties saying I want

         13  him arrested, I want her arrested.

         14                 Now, when you have that kind of an

         15  affirmative statement, that is a mandatory arrest,

         16  that is one of the fallouts that we saw from the

         17  misdemeanor part of the mandatory arrest statute.

         18                 Now, getting better, because we have

         19  the primary aggressor statute that requires that we

         20  do better assessment, probable cause assessments in

         21  those typical misdemeanor cross complaint

         22  situations.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And how do you

         24  do that? What criteria do you use to determine who

         25  is the primary physical aggressor?
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          2                 MS. RAIFORD: Therefore, and I hope I

          3  can remember them now, since I am in this meeting,

          4  but we have to look at the comparative extent of the

          5  injury, certainly. If one party has their eye gouged

          6  out and one party has a scratch, certainly the

          7  comparative injury would indicate that one person

          8  was more likely the aggressor.

          9                 We have to look at whether or not one

         10  party has made a threat against the other, to harm

         11  now or future harm, those I will kill you kind of

         12  threats, or I am going to get you if you have me

         13  arrested, those kind of threats.

         14                 We also have to look at the past

         15  history of the party to determine in those

         16  circumstances whether or not there have been past

         17  police reports or past orders of protection, and

         18  whether or not one party tended to act offensively.

         19  So it is four considerations that have to be made.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Does that go

         21  beyond the statute?

         22                 MS. RAIFORD: That is the statute.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well --

         24                 MS. RAIFORD: As tortured as I

         25  presented it, that is the statute.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. Do you

          3  have your own guidelines that go beyond the statute?

          4                 Do you have your own guidelines that

          5  go beyond the statute to determine who is the

          6  primary physical aggressor so that in your training

          7  of your officers?

          8                 MS. RAIFORD: Our guidelines mirror

          9  the statute.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: They mirror the

         11  statute.

         12                 MS. RAIFORD: They mirror the statute.

         13                 The training of course, the training

         14  has to be dynamic. It has to be presented in a way

         15  that people understand it, make the statute come

         16  alive before them in terms of how they do their job.

         17                 So, we train differently. We have

         18  videotaping, we have roleplays, we have classroom

         19  training, scenaro-based intact training.

         20                 We have a video that we use, and if I

         21  had known this would have been a part of the

         22  discussion I certainly would have brought it, and I

         23  would welcome you all to look at it. We are pretty

         24  proud of it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Just my
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          2  concluding question and then I will turn it over to

          3  others, our staff report in 1995, which analyzed

          4  your implementation of Police Strategy Number Four,

          5  found that the Department wasn't fulfilling its

          6  responsibility as well as it might in assisting in

          7  evidence gathering that would be helpful to

          8  prosecutors, for example, with respect to taking

          9  photos all the time of the scenes of, you know, of

         10  these incidents. How have you gone about ensuring

         11  that the Police Department plays a better

         12  evidentiary role?

         13                 MS. RAIFORD: Well, one of the things

         14  I did when opening the doors to this unit, I went to

         15  anybody who would let me in the door to ask for

         16  help. I asked for an identification of what the

         17  issues were. I came before this Committee very

         18  early, scared me to death, by the way, very early in

         19  starting the unit. One of the things that I heard

         20  consistently from the prosecutors, from the

         21  advocates and the victim is that we needed to do a

         22  better job of gathering evidence at the scene.

         23                 The physical evidence is the easiest

         24  thing to gather. And I have also learned at my time

         25  at the NYPD, that it is like a super tanker, it
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          2  takes a while to turn the entire super tanker

          3  around, and I am just particularly pleased to be

          4  able to be able to eat that elephant one bite at a

          5  time as I can. As far as the training is concerned,

          6  each of the City's prosecutors has really joined

          7  with us in doing precinct level training, classroom

          8  training, we have checklists about what we want.

          9                 As far as the photographs are

         10  concerned, we were hampered by the fact that we had

         11  one or two cameras in each precinct. And as you know

         12  200 plus thousand incidents reported, high volume of

         13  assault cases, we now have cameras, thank God. We

         14  now have film.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So that every

         16  officer gathering evidence has access to a camera --

         17                 MS. RAIFORD: We anticipate, we are

         18  trying to get more so that we can put a camera in

         19  each of the sergeants' cars so that when there is an

         20  assault, the sergeant travels to the scene to take

         21  the photographs. But now we have at least three

         22  points in the system where the photographs can be

         23  taken.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Why should it be

         25  so difficult to do that, to see to it that there is
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          2  a camera with film in every car of a domestic

          3  violence --

          4                 MS. RAIFORD: Because unfortunately it

          5  cost money.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: But in the

          7  context of I think it is a $2.4 billion budget this

          8  year that the Police Department has, you can't have

          9  cameras for --

         10                 MS. RAIFORD: We have purchased two --

         11  I don't know how many thousands of cameras for the

         12  Police Department. We have thousands of dollars --

         13  it was a problem for awhile. But, again, the super

         14  tanker effect, I think we have pushed and pushed.

         15                 Now that the cameras are out here, I

         16  don't want to dismiss it because it is important, it

         17  is important. It was important for me to make sure

         18  that we at least got photographs of the damage that

         19  were being done by the perpetrator. First of all, it

         20  helps us as an institution. It documents that we had

         21  probably cause to make the arrest in the first

         22  place.

         23                 If the victim should later recant,

         24  which they most often do, or they do very

         25  frequently, we have the photographs to present as
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          2  evidence so that the case can move forward often

          3  times without the victim support. The cameras are

          4  there now, the film is there now, what we have to do

          5  institutionally now is track and monitor for

          6  accountability, which is what we are doing. We

          7  actually go in to look at the complaint in the

          8  system, I actually have my staff do a count, they go

          9  out to the precincts, we check the logs, we check

         10  the files, now not only are photographs are

         11  required, two sets are now required. We are gearing

         12  towards making sure that we voucher a set of

         13  photographs, but also that we get copies of the

         14  photographs to the prosecutors with the arrest

         15  package so that they have better evidence for bail

         16  applications and arraignment decisions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And if the

         18  camera wasn't used, if photos were not taken when

         19  they should be taken, how do you deal with the --

         20                 MS. RAIFORD: Well, that is kind of a

         21  nuance. For me an assault equals a photograph should

         22  have been taken. What I have to get better at, and

         23  so does everybody else, is the victim has to also

         24  consent to her photograph being taken. We don't do

         25  self-polaroids. And again, being respectful of what
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          2  she wants. If she doesn't want a photograph taken,

          3  we can't force her to do it.

          4                 But in every circumstance where we

          5  think it is appropriate, and where we still have the

          6  opportunity, because often times when we take the

          7  photographs on the scene, they are not as good as

          8  the photographs we will get two or three days later

          9  when we have to send the cop back, certainly the

         10  bruisers are better. So, we try to remedy it and

         11  make them go back to take the photographs where they

         12  should have been taken, if we have the consent to do

         13  it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. Council

         15  Member Ronnie Eldridge, the Chair of the Women's

         16  Committee.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         18                 I am not a member of the Public

         19  Safety Committee so I have never met you before. How

         20  long have you been the Director of this Unit?

         21                 MS. RAIFORD: Since, it seems like a

         22  long time but it has been since 1995.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how many

         24  people are in your unit?

         25                 MS. RAIFORD: I have now, it is
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          2  changing, I am getting new staff as we speak, as a

          3  matter of fact.

          4                 I have about ten people in the

          5  headquarters unit.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I understood

          7  you to say that you look at all of the domestic

          8  violence complaints? All the investigation, the

          9  incident reports? Does your office look at all of

         10  those incident reports?

         11                 MS. RAIFORD: I cannot possibly look

         12  at all of the reports.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: That's what I

         14  thought.

         15                 MS. RAIFORD: Absolutely not.

         16                 What generally happens is, for the

         17  COMSTAT meetings that are twice a week, in order to

         18  prep the Police Commissioner and the Chief of

         19  Department who does the actual COMSTAT review, we

         20  look at certain things that are within our

         21  wherewithal to look, that are easily captured,

         22  things such as Councilman Leffler suggested, the

         23  photographs. The photographs being taken. The level

         24  of home visits that are being done. In those cases

         25  we look at the assaults, we can pull up a 30-day
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          2  picture of what the assaults in the precinct look

          3  like and review what has happened on the cases.

          4                 We do the same thing, with the

          5  investigator, which is a rather new thing to look at

          6  what the investigators were doing once we knew a

          7  case hit the system in terms of our intake. We

          8  wanted to be able to assess what happened at the

          9  very end.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But just

         11  looking at the numbers from the Management Report,

         12  because they differ slightly from yours and there

         13  are too many --

         14                 MS. RAIFORD: That is because it is a

         15  fiscal year thing, in our calendar year --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: All right. But

         17  if you have got something like 266,000 reports and

         18  you have 23,000 arrests, the incident reports seem

         19  to me to be an important part of a history of a

         20  family.

         21                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Do they get

         23  recorded?

         24                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: The incident
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          2  reports are recorded. Where are they recorded?

          3                 MS. RAIFORD: They are recorded in two

          4  places until we get this technology grant up and

          5  running that I described in my testimony.

          6                 We keep the hard copy. They are

          7  entered into a precinct-based database, it is right

          8  now a precinct base. So, we have a hard copy and it

          9  is recorded in a system in the precinct.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how long

         11  have you had this grant, the computer, what is it a

         12  couple of million dollars?

         13                 MS. RAIFORD: It is a couple of

         14  million, we got the money in January.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: When you said

         16  that the homicides, and I agree with Council Member

         17  Leffler, that the Commissioner has more than once

         18  attributed the increase in homicides to domestic

         19  violence homicide, although we know I think the

         20  female homicides over the years have traditionally

         21  involved known people, so that if we had looked at

         22  female homicides years ago, we would have classified

         23  them as domestic violence.

         24                 MS. RAIFORD: Right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And you said
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          2  that very few of them had orders of protection.

          3                 How many of them had incident

          4  reports?

          5                 MS. RAIFORD: None. I am sorry, not

          6  none. Forty-five had none. Seventy-five percent of

          7  them had no prior report.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Of incident

          9  reports, no connection to a precinct or anything.

         10                 MS. RAIFORD: Of any kind. Any time

         11  there is a domestic homicide, and for us it is not

         12  just adult females killed by adult partners, it is

         13  anybody that fits within our definition, it could be

         14  children. And we look at all of them and we do

         15  intensive reviews of all of the cases.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Do you do

         17  something that is comparable to the fatality review

         18  for child abuse for female homicides?

         19                 MS. RAIFORD: We are thinking about

         20  that and I have to be very cautious about how we do

         21  that, because I am not sure just yet of how to

         22  really do it well.

         23                 We are working with the Brooklyn

         24  District Attorney's Office that we are right now

         25  organizing ourselves to look at the fatalities in
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          2  Brooklyn. But as an institution we have not done it,

          3  and there is a lot more homework that needs to be

          4  done before I can say that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, for your

          6  information, the Women's Committee eight years ago,

          7  I think, and over the years have met consistently

          8  with the Police Department urging a similar thing. I

          9  think we even have legislation introduced that they

         10  oppose, but that there be fatality reviews for

         11  victims, female victims, and it is ten years and I

         12  hope you look at it.

         13                 MS. RAIFORD: Oh, I certainly will. I

         14  certainly will.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: It is hard to

         16  understand that out of -- when a person calls the

         17  hot line, does that call get entered into any kind

         18  of centralized computer system?

         19                 MS. RAIFORD: Not into the Police

         20  Department system, no. I am sure it probably does

         21  into a hot line --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So you don't

         23  have any correlation about how many people have

         24  called the hot line and then filed incident reports?

         25                 MS. RAIFORD: I am not aware of it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: There is no

          3  connection between that.

          4                 I am just interested in trying to

          5  understand your office's role and the Mayor's

          6  Commission's role, and then the connection with the

          7  different agencies, and what kind of comprehensive

          8  information is really available about these

          9  different cases that come in.

         10                 How often do you meet with the

         11  Mayor's Commission?

         12                 MS. RAIFORD: Well, if not a formal

         13  meeting, I think certainly the Executive Director

         14  and I speak very, very frequently. It would not -- I

         15  would be modest in saying we speak once a week, or

         16  once every other week, we speak very, very

         17  frequently.

         18                 But as far as our role with

         19  collaborating and certainly coordinating with other

         20  agencies, I am very, very proud of the fact that we

         21  are way out in front on domestic violence, as far as

         22  any agency is concerned in terms of positioning

         23  ourselves to improve our response to, we know it is

         24  a work-in-progress, as anybody who knows anything

         25  about responses to domestic violence. We work with
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          2  essentially, my motto is I will work with anybody

          3  who is willing to roll up their sleeves and work

          4  with me on this issue.

          5                 Most of the people in this room know

          6  that I have an open door policy. We work with public

          7  agencies, we work with private agencies, we work

          8  with small organizations, we work with larger

          9  organizations that have the institutional will to

         10  come to the table to work with us.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: What we are

         12  concerned with is how we work with the different

         13  police officers and precincts and how we can really,

         14  you know, hone this in.

         15                 Do you have a separate budget? How

         16  much money do you have budgeted to your office?

         17                 MS. RAIFORD: I don't have a separate

         18  budget. My office is carried in the Chief of

         19  Department's budget.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how often

         21  do they request funding for projects for you?

         22                 MS. RAIFORD: I do it personally, and

         23  I request it frequently, and have been very

         24  successful in getting a very positive response for

         25  funding, and we have to be creative sometimes.
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          2                 Just as with the cameras and the

          3  film. We were donated cameras for the domestic

          4  violence prevention officers, but it didn't take us

          5  long to realize to know that we needed cameras with

          6  the people who actually respond to the job.

          7                 I will stay up all night every night

          8  writing grants which we have been fairly successful

          9  at getting to fund our initiatives.  It pays to have

         10  a little bit of independence in that way.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: It seems to me

         12  with 241,000 incident reports that it should be a

         13  top priority in the Department for the money to come

         14  to you.

         15                 MS. RAIFORD: It is.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: When you had to

         17  wait for -- you had to get funding from outside for

         18  this project in the Bronx with the STOP Violence

         19  Against Women fund, and you say now that it was

         20  successful, but what does that mean? Successful home

         21  visits, increased by 210 percent, what does that

         22  mean?

         23                 MS. RAIFORD: It means that --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: How many home

         25  visits were there to begin with?
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          2                 MS. RAIFORD: In domestic violence, I

          3  do have that somewhere.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: It is page six.

          5  It begins on page six. It is the Bronx model

          6  precinct program, the 43 and the 44.

          7                 MS. RAIFORD: Right. We didn't have to

          8  go outside for funds for that. It is just that I

          9  tend to go wherever I see a source.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: That's very

         11  good, and I understand that very well. We are always

         12  having to be innovative.

         13                 All right, so you got funds, you did

         14  this program in those two precincts. Now, they

         15  worked collaboratively with the DA's office,

         16  Department of Probation and Victims Services, and

         17  the first year, August '98 and through August, July

         18  '99, the successful home visits increased by 210

         19  percent; how many home visits were there? What is

         20  the number?

         21                 MS. RAIFORD: 1,210 as opposed to 455

         22  last year.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So that -- and

         24  then the arrests increased by 287 percent. So, now

         25  you want to operate 15 precincts citywide; is that
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          2  going to come out of the city budget?

          3                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Good.

          5                 MS. RAIFORD: And in fact, in the

          6  Bronx project, the model precinct project that we

          7  developed, the grant we got was only big enough to

          8  cover the placement of civilian staff there. Because

          9  there is such a shortage of civilian staff we had to

         10  be creative about where we had to get them from and

         11  how we are going to pay it.

         12                 Part of the issue has been with our

         13  domestic violence officers is that because we have

         14  been doing all of this counting that I can get up

         15  here and recite to you today, it makes their job

         16  administratively heavy. So, part of the experiment

         17  with the Bronx was, if we had civilians to do the

         18  data entry and to do the counting such as we are

         19  talking about today --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: You are talking

         21  to the wrong people, since we always want to add

         22  civilians to the Police Department. This City

         23  Council. We agree with you totally.

         24                 If you had civilians, how many

         25  civilians would you need?
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          2                 MS. RAIFORD: I haven't done that

          3  assessment, but I would like to have as many as we

          4  could possibly get. Not necessarily civilians

          5  because police officers can do the job, those that

          6  are on restricted duty, those that are unable to go

          7  out into the field because of whatever circumstance,

          8  that are desk-bound or in the house for some reason,

          9  they can be used for data, and we have had to rely

         10  on them for data entry as well.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Yes, because

         12  this program -- and I am just hurrying because lots

         13  of people want to ask questions.

         14                 MS. RAIFORD: All right.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: This program

         16  has now expanded to 15 precincts, do you pick the

         17  precincts by the number of incident reports that

         18  come in, or arrests, assaults? How do you pick the

         19  precincts?

         20                 MS. RAIFORD: Some we did by the

         21  volume of complaints. But one of the things that I

         22  wanted to make sure that we gave ourselves an

         23  opportunity to do with this program, and I wanted to

         24  keep it very quiet so we would have the opportunity

         25  to change things, if certain things didn't work, as
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          2  we tried to look at the precincts that had a mix of

          3  cases, there are some precincts that as we assessed

          4  who should be a part of this program, we realized

          5  that we had only in the past, we best responded to

          6  those cases where there was actually physical

          7  violence. And these precincts we looked at, well,

          8  where are the cases where the physical violence

          9  isn't necessarily the threat, but the threat is the

         10  harassment, the aggravated harassments, the phone

         11  calls, the following, the menacing. So, we mixed in

         12  some of those cases too, and we are going to give

         13  ourselves some flexibility to improve the response

         14  to that.

         15                 I am fairly confident about our

         16  response to physical abuse. We want to work harder

         17  at responding to the different, what I call twilight

         18  kind of domestic violence cases and get better at

         19  that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         21                 Can I just go back to the calls. You

         22  said that you don't know about the hot line phone

         23  calls, but what about the 911 calls, how many of

         24  those become domestic incident reports?

         25                 MS. RAIFORD: Every one in which there
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          2  is a family dispute indicated. Every single one.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So, you respond

          4  to every 911 call?

          5                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: On the next

          7  page of your testimony you talk about -- I am sorry,

          8  that means that there were 240,000 responses, if

          9  they were domestic --

         10                 MS. RAIFORD: No, because not all of

         11  the calls are in response to a radio run --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: You said vacant

         13  lots, right.

         14                 MS. RAIFORD: I mean, you can walk

         15  into a precinct and report a domestic incident. A

         16  teacher can call the school safety officer who will

         17  call the local cop in. The cop will have to fill out

         18  -- so, radio runs is merely one indicator of

         19  tracking, the way we track our responses to domestic

         20  calls. There are far many more DIRs than there are

         21  radio runs.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: On the next

         23  page of your testimony, we are talking about HRA to

         24  implement the alternatives to shelter, so can you

         25  tell me the number of pedant alarms that have been
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          2  distributed, Caller ID, answering machines?

          3                 MS. RAIFORD: I am afraid I can't give

          4  you the number as of today.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Who could tell

          6  us that?

          7                 MS. RAIFORD: I am sure HRA can.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But HRA

          9  wouldn't come to testify.

         10                 So, HRA gives out those pendants, not

         11  the Police Department?

         12                 MS. RAIFORD: We respond to the alarm.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: You respond to

         14  the alarms, but they have to give them out.

         15                 How do they give them out? Who are

         16  they giving them to?

         17                 MS. RAIFORD: They do an assessment.

         18  Part of it, we help with the intake because we can

         19  help certainly identify people we think will be

         20  appropriate for that kind of safety measure. But HRA

         21  does the training. HRA interviews people that we

         22  would refer for participation, and I think they are

         23  probably the best group to answer any details about

         24  where the alarms --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So, if someone
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          2  called 911, you respond, you file a domestic

          3  incident report. You don't make a referral. Your

          4  Counselor, or your DV officer or anything doesn't

          5  make the referral to HRA?

          6                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes, we do.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But then you

          8  don't check on what happens after that? I suggest

          9  you should.

         10                 MS. RAIFORD: I think we do. I don't

         11  have any numbers about how many alarms, which I

         12  thought was the question you asked.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, I am

         14  asking how many alarms, but I am asking what happens

         15  to those people who are referred to HRA? Does the

         16  Police Department then not keep them -- you don't

         17  have -- on your computer will you have --

         18                 MS. RAIFORD: A notation that it is an

         19  ATS home?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Yes. But you

         21  don't have a notation that it does in fact have a

         22  phone --

         23                 MS. RAIFORD: That is what that

         24  notation would mean. ATS for us means Alternatives

         25  To Shelter.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how long

          3  does that Alternatives To Shelter Program last for

          4  an individual?

          5                 MS. RAIFORD: I do not know. And I

          6  don't know that HRA knows yet, and this is a work in

          7  progress.

          8                 It would depend on need. Some cases,

          9  for instance, if the batterer has been arrested and

         10  he has been convicted and incarcerated, that alarm

         11  probably would move to another house, at least for

         12  the period of incarceration.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So your

         14  computer has the fact that it is ATS?

         15                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: You don't then

         17  follow that person?

         18                 MS. RAIFORD: What does that mean?

         19  What do you mean follow that person?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I don't know.

         21  What happens after that? What happens? Are they in a

         22  counseling program? Does HRA have a compatible

         23  system, do they have the records?

         24                 MS. RAIFORD: HRA needs to answer

         25  that, but they do -- there are all kinds of programs
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          2  and counseling and coordinated services through the

          3  programs.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And when you

          5  say they must be screened by HRA, what are the

          6  standards that they have to adhere to if they are

          7  screened by HRA?

          8                 MS. RAIFORD: One of the things that I

          9  am real clear about is that they have to have an

         10  order of protection, exclusionary order of

         11  protection that would bar the individual from the

         12  home and that they have to be willing to participate

         13  in their own safety plan as well as in the

         14  prosecution of the case.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But there is no

         16  income limitation or anything like that?

         17                 MS. RAIFORD: No, none that I am aware

         18  of. But HRA could certainly respond to that, but I

         19  am not aware of any.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So then you say

         21  that this program is based on a successful pilot

         22  program which is expanded and upgraded and will

         23  ultimately be expanded to precincts in all five

         24  boroughs. But it still then does not come under your

         25  supervision. Then the responsibility shifts to HRA.
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          2                 MS. RAIFORD: HRA is responsible and

          3  has funds for putting in the home alarms. They have

          4  hired a person to directly supervise this program,

          5  and again our role in it, it remains law enforcement

          6  and protection of the safety.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Do you know how

          8  many people are in that program?

          9                 MR. RAIFORD: No, I don't.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Then you talk

         11  about another program on the next page about the

         12  offenders in domestic violence being fitted with

         13  electronic bracelets?

         14                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes, that is the Juris

         15  Monitor Program.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how many

         17  offenders have so far been fitted with those?

         18                 MS. RAIFORD: That I am aware of,

         19  thankfully. There are 11 that have been fitted from

         20  start to finish in that program. Two of which are

         21  reincarcerated as a result of violations, and so I

         22  think they have like eight active --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Now, is it

         24  impossible for that alarm not to ring in the

         25  precinct?
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          2                 MS. RAIFORD: Is it impossible?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Does that alarm

          4  ring in the precinct?

          5                 MS. RAIFORD: The alarm rings, it is

          6  hooked up with a service, it notifies a service, the

          7  service calls the police.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: They call the

          9  police.

         10                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Because it says

         12  the alarms are installed in their homes and the

         13  alarm will sound.

         14                 MS. RAIFORD: That, too, but there

         15  isn't direct notification to the police for

         16  response.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And in the

         18  precinct? Or is it centrally or what?

         19                 MS. RAIFORD: To 911 which goes to the

         20  precinct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Does that

         22  automatically trigger a police investigation?

         23                 MS. RAIFORD: It does. It also

         24  triggers a level two priority response.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So that means
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          2  if the victim isn't home, the police are still going

          3  to find out if the offender is there?

          4                 MS. RAIFORD: If there is a

          5  notification that that alarm has gone off, within

          6  the precinct, the part of the dispatch is to notify

          7  that this is a Juris Monitor participant, so the

          8  police officer would know the level of either a

          9  threat that has been posed or certainly there is an

         10  order of protection and probation and that there

         11  should be an arrest.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I have a few

         13  more questions.

         14                 Then on the next paragraph, you say

         15  you are working with the Urban Justice Center to

         16  develop a collaborative legal advocacy network. Is

         17  that money out of the Police Department budget?

         18                 MS. RAIFORD: Our money is. Urban

         19  Justice Center got a grant through the STOP Violence

         20  Against Women Act in the State. And their grant

         21  supports the community-based volunteers. It supports

         22  legal advocacy, both in criminal and family, which

         23  we know to be an area that systems improvements

         24  require.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So, if this is
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          2  a successful program, which we think it is, it is

          3  only in the 25th Precinct, how are we going to fund

          4  it in other areas?

          5                 MS. RAIFORD: We are still working on

          6  that, because this is one of the I think really

          7  successful programs, it is one of the programs that

          8  has not lost track of the fact the victims should be

          9  framing the agenda. And so we are very proud of our

         10  work with Urban Justice Center on that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And so is the

         12  Police Department going to request that as part

         13  money for the expansion of that program and their

         14  budget?

         15                 MS. RAIFORD: I can't say what the

         16  Police Department is going to do. I can tell you

         17  that we have a strong interest in replicating the

         18  success of that program, very strong.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And then in the

         20  next paragraph is that a separate program, the

         21  Center for Court Innovation, four Department

         22  precincts will be directly linked with the Brooklyn

         23  Domestic Violence Court so that officers will be

         24  able to communicate by computer directly with the

         25  court and contain up-to-date information. When is
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          2  that going to happen, and when is that going to

          3  happen Citywide?

          4                 MS. RAIFORD: I am not sure that it is

          5  going to happen Citywide. This is, again, one of our

          6  collaborations with other agencies, it is with the

          7  Center for Court Innovation that has received a

          8  grant and has gotten all kinds of awards for its

          9  innovation in modeling domestic violence courts.

         10                 What is happening, we are at the

         11  point now where they are finished with the design of

         12  the technology, they are purchasing the equipment

         13  and that is where we are now. We hope to start that

         14  very soon.

         15                 I believe they are ready at the end

         16  of November, from what I can recall.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But that again

         18  has to become a priority, it seems to me, of Police

         19  Department expenditures. We spend a lot of money on

         20  the Police Department and we look at domestic

         21  violence as a very serious phenomena in the country

         22  and in the city, and as the Chairman has said, it

         23  has even been referred to as the reason for the

         24  increase in homicides. We need to have all of these

         25  good systems. So, it is difficult when each year we
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          2  hear about what is being planned. I mean the $2

          3  million for technology, I would have assumed would

          4  have been done long ago. That is not in yet either,

          5  the computer systems for the flow and response to

          6  domestic violence, and so, I mean, all of this is

          7  talked in the future tense.

          8                 MS. RAIFORD: Actually it isn't.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And that $2

         10  million that you just got, when is that going to be

         11  completed?

         12                 MS. RAIFORD: By December.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: All right,

         14  that's fine.

         15                 But we knew the need for that years

         16  ago, so that is one of the things in the future that

         17  has come. And the frustration comes from the fact

         18  that the Police Department has been innovative and

         19  attempted to do lots of things, but it still doesn't

         20  become a major budget item, it still is not. And it

         21  can't be the large tanker anymore because it is too

         22  awkward, it is too large, and we have got to make

         23  this work efficiently. So, the frustration is to get

         24  the Department to understand that and not have it as

         25  a unit with good intentions. And I applaud you for
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          2  your efforts and your work, I think that is fine,

          3  but it is difficult.

          4                 I would like to ask in one final

          5  area; and that is, the members of the Police

          6  Department who themselves are victims of crimes or

          7  offenders in the crime, and I would like to repeat

          8  that I think the Department has not set the example

          9  with how they deal with offenders in the Department.

         10  It is not enough to say 30 days leave or whatever,

         11  it is enough to make it totally unacceptable.  And

         12  somebody who has provoked physical violence, or the

         13  term, somebody who has violently or killed people,

         14  this thought that that person might respond to a

         15  domestic violence incident is, it is unacceptable,

         16  and therefore within the Department.

         17                 So, on your computer system do you

         18  have reports of police officers who have been

         19  reported for domestic violence incidents? I mean, do

         20  you have a record of them?

         21                 Are they there? Is there a way of

         22  matching what the background is of these officers?

         23                 MS. RAIFORD: The Department does

         24  track.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But do you have
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          2  it?

          3                 MS. RAIFORD: Do I have it?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Yes.

          5                 MS. RAIFORD: On my computer system?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Yes.

          7                 MS. RAIFORD: No, I do not.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: All right,

          9  thank you.

         10                 MS. RAIFORD: The Domestic Incident

         11  Report, which is certainly recorded in all

         12  circumstances, is tracked, monitored and

         13  investigated by Internal Affairs or the

         14  Investigations Unit in the various borough commands,

         15  and they do not come directly to my office.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And that

         17  includes police officers who live in Suffolk County

         18  or Rockland County?

         19                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Only, though,

         21  if they have been reported to the local police?

         22                 MS. RAIFORD: It does take a report to

         23  trigger a response.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: How then do you
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          2  explain the incident that Ann Conners referred to,

          3  like Officer Fitzgerald's incident where apparently

          4  there had been a number of instances where he had

          5  been reported to be a batterer. The Department

          6  didn't do anything, ultimately he killed his wife.

          7                 MS. RAIFORD: Council Member Leffler,

          8  I didn't have the opportunity to do anything, but I

          9  will tell you, a homicide and a suicide in a

         10  domestic case is no less difficult when it is

         11  certainly a police officer.

         12                 The difficulties are similar but

         13  square in terms of the way we respond and impact to

         14  them.

         15                 That case, we have no evidence that

         16  there were reports made. I certainly read in the

         17  paper that family members said that they had made

         18  reports to the precinct. We literally tore the

         19  precinct up looking for those sources.

         20                 In addition to which, what we know

         21  typically, and I am not playing with any certainty,

         22  because I can't speak to the specific facts of any

         23  specific case, but generally with those cases that

         24  are homicides and suicides, we don't find reports

         25  for police officer families or non police officer
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          2  families. Therein lies our difficulty, and therein

          3  lies our new challenge. How do we police against

          4  future X, what are the indicators, what do we look

          5  for? It is a work in progress.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: How do you? I

          7  mean, say there are reports, you say in Officer

          8  Fitzgerald's case, I recall the New York Times did

          9  an article on it and I think they reported comments

         10  by family members that there had been reports to the

         11  Police Department. But when there are reports to the

         12  Police Department that an officer has been a

         13  batterer, what do you do? What does the Department

         14  do? What sort of counseling, if any, does the

         15  officer receive? And what are the other consequences

         16  in terms of fulfilling his usual police function?

         17                 MS. RAIFORD: Well, again, it would

         18  depend on the facts in each case. But in every

         19  circumstance, a captain responds to a domestic

         20  incident report where a police officer or a member

         21  of the service is involved. And in most

         22  circumstances a police officer or a supervisor would

         23  respond, in this case a captain must respond. The

         24  captain has to do an investigation on the scene, and

         25  where arrest decisions can be made at that point,
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          2  they are made at that point.

          3                 Where there are circumstances that

          4  the Captain on the scene is not sure that probable

          5  cause can be made either way the case is further

          6  investigated to determine whether or not certain

          7  actions should be taken, and we are getting better

          8  and better and better at taking those actions and

          9  tracking those actions when they do occur.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Can I also

         11  suggest both to you and to our staff that you look

         12  at the testimony that was given to the public safety

         13  Committee about four years ago, where we had a

         14  hearing on domestic violence. Because then the

         15  Department had outlined, just as Council Member

         16  Eldridge had said, a number of steps that you were

         17  going to be taking with respect to technological

         18  improvements.

         19                 MS. RAIFORD: Technological

         20  improvements for tracking --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I believe it was

         22  for tracking, for making information available to

         23  police officers, on computer, the status of orders

         24  of protection, prior incidents, I would like our

         25  staff, I will do a memo to the central staff, which
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          2  will be the umpteenth type of memo that I have done

          3  to them to get assistance. To have reviewed your

          4  testimony and then what has in fact been done to

          5  implement that four years later.

          6                 MS. RAIFORD: I will be happy to have

          7  and share that information with you and in fact give

          8  you a demonstration of where we are with the

          9  development of the technology.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: No, what I am

         11  asking for is to compare where we are with what we

         12  were told four years ago --

         13                 MS. RAIFORD: Oh, okay.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: -- We would be

         15  in the near future.

         16                 Councilman DiBrienza.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: It has taken a

         18  lot longer than I think maybe all of us had

         19  anticipated, I mean this hearing. But

         20  notwithstanding that, let me ask just three quick

         21  things.

         22                 One, as you come to the end of your

         23  testimony, I trust, given your apparent dedication

         24  that you present, you will leave someone here to

         25  listen to the balance of the testimony,
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          2  notwithstanding the lateness of the hour. That is

          3  very important. There are several advocacy groups

          4  and I think it is important that someone stay. You,

          5  yourself, may have to go, but it is important. Is

          6  that going to be done? Other than the Mayor's

          7  Office, they are paid to be here, they have to sit

          8  there. We really need someone to stay, that would be

          9  helpful. Is that possible?

         10                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Good, number

         12  one.

         13                 Number two, can you tell me the top

         14  three precincts, assuming that is how you break it

         15  down, of domestic violence in terms of volume. You

         16  know, Precinct X is the highest, do you have that,

         17  the top three?

         18                 MS. RAIFORD: We do have it and,

         19  again, it changes day to day, but right now the top

         20  three would consist of the 75, the 67 and 44.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: 75 is in

         22  Brooklyn North.

         23                 MS. RAIFORD: Brooklyn.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I know that.

         25                 MS. RAIFORD: So is the 67 in
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          2  Brooklyn. And the 44 is in the Bronx.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. And at

          4  some point, what I would request, as the co-chair of

          5  this tripart hearing is a list, even though I

          6  realize it changes, you know, it could be from

          7  number one to the 75 or however many precincts there

          8  are. Just a sense of the flow of these things.

          9  Because then when I talk to the social service

         10  agencies, it is helpful for me to say, there is lots

         11  of activity in these areas precinct-wise, you know,

         12  what are you doing?

         13                 And on that third and final point, on

         14  page eight of your testimony, although it was

         15  referred to you don't have to go back up to it, you

         16  talked about HRA. And I just want to warn you

         17  respectfully, given, again, all of the detailed

         18  responses and obvious commitment you have to this

         19  issue, it is the first time I have heard you

         20  testify, you are relying in part in your operations

         21  on HRA. This is from a Commissioner who, (a) refuses

         22  to be here, which is unacceptable and insulting and

         23  demeaning to not only this Council, this Committee

         24  or these committees but to every woman in the City

         25  of New York and every person, right-thinking person

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            103

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  in the City of New York who cares about this issue,

          3  number one; and number two, number two -- it doesn't

          4  have to be the Commissioner, by the way, it could

          5  have been the appropriate deputy -- number two, this

          6  is from a Commissioner who goes to, has time to go

          7  upstate New York to give a speech to a group of

          8  folks, wherein he says in the '90s and in the future

          9  we have to watch out for false claims, and this is

         10  roughly a quote, if not a paraphrase, for false

         11  women who make false claims of domestic violence so

         12  as to engender some advantage in the benefits world.

         13  Those are his words.

         14                 So, while none of that falls on your

         15  shoulders, I just want you to know, every other part

         16  of the testimony I have listened and learned, but

         17  any place where you intersect with HRA and count on

         18  them to - screen by HRA, provide resources, do case

         19  management, you should hold your breath given his

         20  position, and what he has done or failed to do. I

         21  have to share that with you.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 MS. PETITO: May I just make a

         24  statement regarding that, Councilman DiBrienza?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Sure.
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          2                 MS. PETITO: I believe HRA did not

          3  come because the issue presented was the Police

          4  Department Response to Domestic Violence, and though

          5  we work with them, I think everybody was under the

          6  impression that we were going to be concentrating on

          7  the Police Department, so --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thanks, but

          9  you know what? You are both doing a good job, HRA in

         10  general, in my mind, is indefensible, so the answer

         11  of their questions and what you know, and I don't

         12  think it is helpful for you to defend them. He

         13  didn't send a person to sit in the audience, let

         14  alone sit at the table, and tell me how we are

         15  relying on HRA for anything when that is the

         16  Commissioner's attitude, that this terrible scourge

         17  of domestic violence, which has been with us all too

         18  long that it has finally come in a sense, in some

         19  ways come out into the opening so that we can do

         20  more, you can do more, councils can do more,

         21  advocates can do more, he believes in 1998 or 1999,

         22  I don't remember when he gave the statement, that we

         23  have to watch out for people making false claims of

         24  domestic violence in order to curry favor (sic).

         25  That is what you are up against, that is what we are
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          2  up against.

          3                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you,

          5  Council Member DiBrienza.

          6                 Councilman Stanley Michels.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you,

          8  Mr. Chairman.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And let me also

         10  introduce Council Member Chris Quinn, who has been

         11  here for some time now.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you for

         13  your testimony. I have been listening very intently,

         14  I have read your statement and it is an issue that I

         15  have attended several hearings on and I am extremely

         16  interested in. One of this is from the point of view

         17  of making this an effective program, and one of the

         18  ways of being effective is by making sure that the

         19  people who deserve punishment do receive punishment,

         20  and I am wondering what statistics you have with

         21  respect to successful prosecutions of cases where

         22  the Police Department had made the arrest.

         23                 MS. RAIFORD: We don't have statistics

         24  on prosecutions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Why not?
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          2                 MS. RAIFORD: We generally track DRS

          3  volume, those that go into the system. We are in

          4  ongoing discussions with the prosecutors' offices in

          5  terms of what we can do better in making those

          6  arrests, what evidence they need.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You don't

          8  have a file where you list the arrests?

          9                 MS. RAIFORD: I am sorry?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: When there is

         11  an arrest on the situations like this, because this

         12  is a special situation, you have a file on it.

         13                 MS. RIAFORD: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But you have

         15  everything in there except what the result is, is

         16  the result of rearrest?

         17                 MS. RIAFORD: In terms of what happens

         18  and the continuum of the criminal justice

         19  experience?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes.

         21                 MS. RAIFORD: No, we do not track

         22  that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: When it comes

         24  to the arrest, you don't have any knowledge of that?

         25                 MS. RAIFORD: We do not track that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So as far as

          3  you know that is the end of it. You don't know

          4  whether the person has served time, went to jail,

          5  whatever happened to him?

          6                 MS. RAIFORD: No that is not as far as

          7  I know, but we don't track the prosecutor's records.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: There is no

          9  record of it.

         10                 MR. RAIFORD: We don't track the

         11  prosecutor's records.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You

         13  understand then, and I don't know if you are an

         14  attorney, but you certainly are in the criminal

         15  justice system, that one of the things that make the

         16  system work is when we have the certainty of

         17  arrests, the certainty of prosecution and the

         18  certainty of punishment. Because what we are trying

         19  to do is stop this from happening. This is a

         20  preventative program.

         21                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes, as are we.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The best

         23  result that we want is not to have these people do

         24  these things, and not to have this kind of

         25  prosecutions. And the way we can do it is by making
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          2  sure that what you do is effective. Not only the

          3  arrest, but the fact that your police officers go

          4  and testify and there was an actual prosecution of

          5  these cases and that these people know that they

          6  can't do this because there is going to be

          7  punishment. You would agree, wouldn't you?

          8                 MS. RAIFORD: I would agree with you

          9  100 percent. Our entire program is focused on

         10  offender accountability. But the way the Police

         11  Department holds them accountable is to arrest them.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: To arrest

         13  them. But you don't know whether or not -- your job

         14  doesn't end there. The police officer's job doesn't

         15  end there, does it?

         16                 The police officer then has to go in

         17  to testify, and he has to cooperate with the

         18  prosecutors to make sure there is a prosecution.

         19                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And also you

         21  have to know to a certain extent what the result is,

         22  whether that person is off of the street or still

         23  around. Because you may be convinced that that

         24  person did wrong, but that person may be sentenced

         25  to probation or just put back on the street with

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            109

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  admonition.

          3                 MS. RAIFORD: Or even more than that,

          4  we know he is going to be arraigned within 24 hours

          5  regardless. Even when we make the arrest and the

          6  prosecution --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And you don't

          8  even know whether or not maybe you did something

          9  wrong in the arrest, not you I am talking about, but

         10  maybe the arrest was not an effective arrest, as a

         11  result of which you may have lost the case in court

         12  as a result of something you did wrong. But you want

         13  to know about that so you can go back and straighten

         14  it out.

         15                 MS. RAIFORD: Of course we are

         16  interested in that, and which is why we have such a

         17  close working relationship with all of the domestic

         18  violence bureaus and the prosecutor's offices.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And you

         20  realize, of course, that one of the biggest -- you

         21  realize what one of the biggest problems in the

         22  areas of the prosecution is, don't you? What would

         23  you say the biggest problem is?

         24                 MS. RAIFORD: I am not going to pick

         25  one, but please share.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: One of the

          3  biggest is getting the person who has been injured

          4  or the person who has been violated against to

          5  testify. You know that that is a very big problem?

          6                 MS. RAIFORD: It is. I also know that

          7  we are getting better at not depending on his or her

          8  testimony. Again, as Council Member Leffler brought

          9  up, because the key is whether or not we can build a

         10  sufficiently good circumstantial case so that we

         11  don't have to rely on that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And by that

         13  you are doing photographs? Making sure there is an

         14  arrest, making sure you have got the names of all of

         15  your witnesses who were at the scene. Because the

         16  cop isn't just sent there to calm everybody down, he

         17  is there to investigate a crime.

         18                 MS. RAIFORD: Absolutely.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And you have

         20  to give the attitude there is a crime being

         21  committed here, we have got to prosecute, and

         22  therefore in order to be able to prosecute I need

         23  evidence.

         24                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes, we agree.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That is why
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          2  we have film in the camera now.

          3                 MS. RAIFORD: Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That's very

          5  good.

          6                 But the idea here is also to try to

          7  get, and you are taking statements down also, and as

          8  I understand what you are trying to do is being able

          9  to use those statements or the conversations with

         10  the complaining witness or the victim so that you

         11  can use those statements in court, even if the

         12  witness can't testify.

         13                 MS. RAIFORD: The DIR has a section in

         14  it for the victim's statements.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Something in

         16  the order of the exception of the hearsay rule what

         17  we call reyes justae (phonetic), it occurred on or

         18  around the time of the act, we can use it, and that

         19  is the exception to the hearsay rule.

         20                 MS. RAIFORD: They are even using it

         21  for supporting at depositions, it is being used.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Good. That is

         23  very important because --

         24                 MS. RAIFORD: We have done a lot. We

         25  have moved forward a lot.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand

          3  that. This is the stuff I have been over, over the

          4  years. I am just checking on what you are doing and

          5  are you doing it properly, because it is important

          6  that this area gets the attention it deserves,

          7  because I am not even concerned with your

          8  statistics, because I know too much of it goes

          9  along, and I remember the case of the police officer

         10  in my precinct, the 34, who there was a complaint

         11  made, I don't know what the facts are, and nothing

         12  was done and he ended up killing his wife, children

         13  and himself. It was a terrible tragedy in my

         14  community.

         15                 MS. RAIFORD: I will share with you

         16  again, I think one of my strengths is the fact that

         17  I have been through all of this before.

         18                 When I talk about domestic violence

         19  in the Police Department, I am not pontificating on

         20  anybody's philosophy.

         21                 I am talking about what I have lived,

         22  what I have gone through and how systems failed me

         23  as a consumer.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand.

         25  But you should also know where I am coming from. I
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          2  don't know if you know my daughter is an ADA, and

          3  was in Trial Part 70 and used to come home and we

          4  used to discuss these cases --

          5                 MS. RAIFORD: It's tough.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And from the

          7  point of view of trying to get people, the women to

          8  testify, and how she was frustrated with not being

          9  able to get them to testify. What are we doing --

         10  because one of the reasons they don't testify is

         11  because they are afraid.

         12                 MS. RAIFORD: Sure. They should be

         13  afraid.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Another

         15  reason is that they still love their husband no

         16  matter what they have been through, or love their

         17  lover or whatever --

         18                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes, absolutely.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What are we

         20  doing from a psychological profile to try to

         21  convince them that they must testify?

         22                 Because as good as all the other

         23  evidence is, there is nothing as good as the

         24  evidence of the actual victim testifying, right?

         25                 MS. RAIFORD: We are not mental health
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          2  services. We are the Police Department whose major

          3  responsibility is to secure the safety.

          4                 Now, we go beyond that, which is why

          5  we have those domestic violence --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The best way

          7  of securing their safety is to get that person off

          8  the streets.

          9                 MS. RAIFORD: And as you can see, the

         10  arrests have gone through the roof.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: There is a

         12  fear of the Police Department, knowing that if he is

         13  getting arrested, he is going to serve time.

         14                 MS. RAIFORD: We are not disagreeing.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I know we are

         16  not.

         17                 MS. RAIFORD: Okay.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am just

         19  leading you along.

         20                 MS. RAIFORD: Okay. All right.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I just want

         22  to make sure we are being thorough and we look at

         23  what police used to call the tiel again (phonetic),

         24  the happiness. The happiness is the prevention of

         25  the future and prosecuting those who perpetrate the
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          2  --

          3                 MS. RAIFORD: And one of the things

          4  that we can do, because we realize domestic violence

          5  is not merely a criminal justice problem, it is

          6  certainly not merely a police problem, it is so

          7  multi-faceted and so complex.

          8                 One of the things we do try to do is

          9  make sure that in those systems that we are aware

         10  of, that should help. And this is from Jane citizen

         11  to the grandmother who sits and watches the block

         12  all day and knows when Jonny should be there and she

         13  calls the police as a part of the network. We

         14  realize that we do what we can and we will work with

         15  anybody else. We go far beyond law enforcement on

         16  domestic violence.

         17                 We have people who will refer, we

         18  have people who will attempt to get people to

         19  safety.

         20                 Our police officers very often go in

         21  their own pockets to get transportation money for

         22  victims and their families to be moved from one

         23  place to the other, but you know what also we

         24  realize? That we don't have all of the answers, and

         25  we have just got to keep plugging. That is what we
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          2  are willing to do.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That is the

          4  point. We have to keep going forward. This momentum

          5  has to be gathered. You know, there is a system, and

          6  the system is only as good as its individual parts,

          7  and if your part or one part of your system that you

          8  are trying to do to save these people isn't working,

          9  then the whole system is no good.

         10                 MS. RAIFORD: We think we are working

         11  and getting better.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We want you

         13  to keep getting better, not matter how good you are.

         14  Because even if it is an improvement, it is not good

         15  enough until we have stopped practically everybody.

         16                 MS. RAIFORD: You are absolutely

         17  right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you

         19  very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you,

         21  Councilman Michels.

         22                 Councilman Reed.

         23                 Councilman Marty Golden.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman. I would like to thank my colleagues and
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          2  chairs here today for bringing this forward and

          3  making and bringing fairness forward and attempting

          4  to get something concrete, and I thank you for being

          5  such a great witness.

          6                 I have no further questions, because

          7  many of my questions were answered by Council Member

          8  Eldridge, and she did a great job.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you,

         11  Councilman Golden.

         12                 Councilwoman Margarita Lopez.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Hi. You have

         14  the most beautiful smile I have seen in a long time.

         15                 MS. RAIFORD: Oh, thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: God bless it.

         17                 I am very impressed with your

         18  presentation, I didn't have the opportunity to hear

         19  you but I read your entire presentation here, and I

         20  am very impressed with the work that has been done

         21  in regard to domestic violence so far, and I

         22  understand that it is much more to do, I understand

         23  that part.

         24                 I was taken by a piece in which you

         25  report here that 70 percent of the cases are
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          2  individuals who did not have prior police complaints

          3  against them, it is in the page four at the end.

          4                 MS. RAIFORD: The homicides you refer

          5  to.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I was taken by

          7  that because I would like to understand why, is it

          8  because people were afraid to report on these

          9  people? It is true that they never engaged in prior

         10  domestic violence? Do they have prior histories, but

         11  not reports? That is my question to you. Because if

         12  the cases, they had a prior history, but never a

         13  report occurred, then we need to deal with that, and

         14  that is education and how to help people with the

         15  Police Department. Can you help me on this?

         16                 MS. RAIFORD: Well, I am certainly not

         17  the expert and it certainly leaves us in a position

         18  of flailing because we of course respond to reports.

         19                 One of the challenges is finding out

         20  systemically where the reports may be coming in, or

         21  indications of domestic violence may be recurring

         22  outside of the police system.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That is not

         24  getting to you.

         25                 MS. RAIFORD: That is not coming to us
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          2  as a crime report. You certainly have experts in

          3  this office, and I am looking at some of them that I

          4  work with every day, that would recognize, as do we,

          5  that reports, the Police Department is a good intake

          6  point for interacting with domestic violence but is

          7  certainly not the only one, and not necessarily the

          8  best one, because once we do our jobs, once we learn

          9  better about what we are doing, we will be more in a

         10  preventive mode. So there is a need for, in law

         11  enforcement intervention is lessened certainly by

         12  our becoming more aware through other means that we

         13  have problems in these homes. There are hospitals,

         14  there are schools, which is what we are trying to

         15  experiment with in these 15 precincts, where do

         16  people present who have domestic violence problems

         17  outside law enforcement that will become our cases

         18  eventually, or that should become our cases now, but

         19  remain unreported.

         20                 It is one of the things we are

         21  looking at very, very strongly in our stalking

         22  program, how do people show up? Where do victims

         23  indicate that they need the help. To the extent of

         24  doing polls, how might we have served you better?

         25  What other services might you have required prior to
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          2  calling the police so that we can collaborate with

          3  what needs to be done.

          4                 We realize that our ability to do

          5  this, this bit of work, is very, very limited, and

          6  it is limited to our ability to know where it is

          7  happening, whether the conduct is criminal, because

          8  we consider a lot of abusive behavior that is not

          9  criminal that we believe is going to likely lead to

         10  some criminal act in the future, and we need to get

         11  better about being preventive, and I am not sure

         12  that the law enforcement response is appropriate at

         13  this point. There needs to be a lot more work in

         14  assessing where victims might present.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then if in

         16  order for me to be clear, it is clear there is a

         17  problem in terms of prevention and we need to do

         18  something about that. But from these 45 people, did

         19  you have information -- I mean, I am talking about

         20  the 75 percent is 45 people --

         21                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: From these 45

         23  homicides, did you have information that indicated

         24  that individuals who engaged in this, taking the

         25  life of another human being, at any given moment
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          2  engaging violence against these people before, do

          3  you have information with respect to that?

          4                 MS. RAIFORD: Well, the number does

          5  not exclude all domestic and family-related

          6  homicides, so these numbers include more than adult

          7  partner homicide. It does include the circumstances

          8  that are just as heinous, where a mother kills a

          9  baby.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

         11                 MS. RAIFORD: So, it would include the

         12  murder of babies. It would include grandparent to

         13  grandchild, and we do have some of those homicides.

         14  Any time there is a death and the offender and the

         15  victim meet our definition of a family relationship,

         16  it will be recorded here.

         17                 So, it is almost impossible, absent

         18  some knowledge from other symptoms, other means that

         19  we are really are trying to be creative about

         20  discovering, how we might be put on early notice in

         21  some of the bigger, broader circumstances so that we

         22  can implement some preventive effort.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay. Give me

         24  one chance.

         25                 In regard to the program that you
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          2  report here, the new program that is going to be in

          3  the five boroughs, your page eight --

          4                 MS. RAIFORD: All right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: When this

          6  program is going to be totally implemented, do you

          7  have a date for that?

          8                 MS. RAIFORD: Is this the Alternative

          9  To Shelter Programs?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

         11                 MS. RAIFORD: No, I don't have a date.

         12  It is being piloted now. It started in one with one

         13  precinct, with just the Police Department, it has

         14  been expanded now. We are going to do it

         15  incrementally Citywide, but I don't know.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Can you tell me

         17  which precinct is piloted?

         18                 MS. RAIFORD: Right now it is in

         19  Queens in the 103, the 115 and the 113.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Do you have

         21  results of the pilot implementation in hand that you

         22  can share with us?

         23                 MS. RAIFORD: Not right now. But I do

         24  have the results for the pilot in the 24 and the 26

         25  Precincts, yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay.

          3                 Do you have in regard to this

          4  particular proposal of this unit, a study that shows

          5  how much money you would need in order to put this

          6  Citywide currently? Or this is something that you

          7  are going to project?

          8                 MS. RAIFORD: I don't have that, and I

          9  am not able to project how much money it needs.

         10                 As we pilot this, I think one of the

         11  things we learned in the very first precinct that we

         12  did it in, is that, again, it supports our ability

         13  to respond, in the way we did it first, which was

         14  the home alarm, the pendant alarm, the cellphones.

         15  And that was very helpful in us tracking whether or

         16  not there was subsequent abuse.

         17                 One of the things we learned from

         18  that pilot is that we needed to be developing a more

         19  sophisticated way to track and monitor and give

         20  victims a report, ability to report those

         21  non-physical domestic terrorism kinds of crimes. So,

         22  since then, in this program, in this program, the

         23  Caller ID, to track the in-coming phone call as well

         24  as the tape recorders, are also going to be given.

         25  But I have not done, and I am not sure that the
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          2  program has done an assessment that would count how

          3  many recorders we would need if we are going to do

          4  what types of cases, how many cases can we project

          5  will be happening in the Year 2000. What types of

          6  cases is kind of hard, where we are really

          7  responsive to in terms of prevention and safety

          8  efforts, so that is why we are studying now.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay. I have

         10  two last questions.

         11                 Do you have a protocol in your unit

         12  that has been developed to deal with non-traditional

         13  families like families that are defined for the gay,

         14  lesbian and transgendered community? Or for families

         15  who are not legally married but they are living

         16  together --

         17                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Do you have a

         19  protocol for that?

         20                 MS. RAIFORD: We do have a protocol.

         21  The protocol is gender blind, race blind, couple

         22  blind, stereotype blind. The training is the issue

         23  in terms of how does the police officer ask the

         24  types of questions that is going to elicit the

         25  response that would indicate a same sex couple is in
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          2  fact a same sex couple. Rather than a question such

          3  as, if we asked what is your relationship, when we

          4  get the response, he is my roommate.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Can I have

          6  copies of those documents?

          7                 MS. RAIFORD: Oh, absolutely.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The reason I am

          9  asking you this is because in our community, and I

         10  say in our community because I am openly gay, this

         11  issue is serious, it exists, it is big, and there is

         12  an attempt to pretend that it doesn't exist. And

         13  that is part of the problem, and one of the things

         14  that we need to do is to make clear to the domestic

         15  partners that they do have a solution and a result,

         16  a solution to deal with this problem, when this

         17  problem isn't right. And I want to know how that

         18  community is reached out to in order to know how to

         19  proceed. What are the mechanisms that they have to

         20  deal with these problems, with these problems that

         21  arrive into their lives.

         22                 I would like to know about all of

         23  that and see how I can be helpful in that arena.

         24                 MS. RAIFORD: Well, thank you. Because

         25  we could use the help.
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          2                 Part of any programs, it is very

          3  different, I found out the hard way to establish a

          4  program that is going to be responsive to individual

          5  human needs rather than coming up with policy and

          6  pontificating on what should happen, I was real good

          7  at that until it came time for me to put the pedal

          8  to the metal to deal with responses.

          9                 Public education, i.e., having the

         10  public become aware of what the expectations of the

         11  Police Department should be is a part of that, and

         12  that is one of the things we support and that is one

         13  of the things we always talk about. We want

         14  potential domestic violence victims who are our real

         15  clients, not the perps, to know what they should

         16  expect of the police, and we want to hear when our

         17  actions have failed to meet those expectations, and

         18  we have had a pretty good open ear on hearing those.

         19  But we will partner as we have done, we have worked

         20  with AVP in the past, and in fact, AVP, not so much

         21  recently but in the past year, but prior to last

         22  year really was active in doing direct training of

         23  Police Department police officers, precinct level

         24  training. They did a full day training for our

         25  domestic violence prevention officers directly, so
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          2  the message wouldn't have to be filtered through

          3  somebody like me, but going to the experts, in terms

          4  of how to appropriately respond to domestic

          5  violence, what the expectation should be, understand

          6  the level of discrimination that had been

          7  experienced and how you interview through that is a

          8  work in progress and we would like to see more of

          9  that, so I would appreciate your help.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: My last

         11  question is in regard to your last page, you speak

         12  about the need for funding. Can you please be more

         13  specific to the Council in regard to this because

         14  for next year's funding, if we can receive these

         15  requests in advance it would be easier for us to

         16  look at it. And when you talk about funding and

         17  collaborative community-based outreach and public

         18  education program, I am very much interested on

         19  that.

         20                 I can tell you that in my district I

         21  am not aware of programs that take place to reach

         22  out to the members of my community on this issue,

         23  and in my community, my community is the one where

         24  Elisa was killed, and these issues, if they are

         25  addressed in advance, as you well know, they will be
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          2  going away, then I would be more than glad to be

          3  supportive of this, and you just need to reach out

          4  to me. I would be willing to fight for any dollar

          5  that is necessary to put on this. And just feel free

          6  to contact me.

          7                 MS. RAIFORD: Thank you very much. And

          8  I am sure there are people in the audience who are

          9  very glad to hear that as well.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you,

         11  Council Member Lopez.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We have also

         15  been joined by Council Members Helen Marshall and

         16  Kathryn Freed.

         17                 Council Member Christine Quinn.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you. My

         19  questions very much follow on the line of those

         20  raised by Council Member Lopez.

         21                 First of all, I appreciate your

         22  comments about AVPs domestic violence and DVPO

         23  training program. I actually was, prior to being on

         24  the Council, the Executive Director of the Gay and

         25  Lesbian Anti-Violence Project, so up until about a

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            129

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  year ago, so thank you very much.

          3                 I actually wanted to ask in

          4  particular about whether or not the full-day DVPO

          5  training was still going on, but I guess it is not?

          6                 MS. RAIFORD: We are planning on it as

          7  we speak.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay.

          9                 MS. RAIFORD: What we are evaluating

         10  now is whether or not we are going to do a -- call

         11  all the domestic violence prevention officers in,

         12  along with the investigators and the supervisors, or

         13  are we going to make it a borough-based kind of

         14  traveling training.

         15                 It is easier on our resources, and

         16  the guest lecturers that we anticipate coming,

         17  hopefully AVP will be one of them, certainly Barrier

         18  Free Living is one, and generally all of our

         19  community-based partners are being asked to come in

         20  and do specific training. It is harder on them to do

         21  it eight times than it is on one, but I believe the

         22  officers would learn better with smaller groups.

         23                 So that is one of the things we are

         24  weighing, and we are working on one now.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I know when I
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          2  was at the Anti-Violence Project we were able to do

          3  that more extensive training for DVPOs, based on a

          4  grant that was received from the Division of Social

          5  Services, the State Division of Social Services, and

          6  when earlier Council Member Eldridge was asking

          7  about, you know, collaborative efforts you have with

          8  different social service agencies with the grants

          9  they got or Police Department money and it seemed to

         10  be a mix and I don't ask this question to say give

         11  AVP the money, my question is do you know if there

         12  are, the Police Department has or is considering

         13  allocating or asking for an allocation that could be

         14  used to fund non-profit advocacy groups to do

         15  training, for DVPOs. I only say that because

         16  obviously the people who do the trainings are the

         17  same people who answer the hot line and, you know,

         18  do the group therapies.

         19                 MS. RAIFORD: Do the work.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Exactly. So,

         21  sometimes it is hard to do, and obviously, you

         22  mentioned Barrier Free Living, it is not just the

         23  gay community, there are other communities that

         24  would be great to be part of this training.

         25                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Do you know if

          3  that funding initiative either exists or is being

          4  contemplated at all?

          5                 MS. RAIFORD: Well, I can tell you

          6  from my experience that most of us that work in

          7  domestic violence are so used to being so broke that

          8  we realize that we have to do this with or without

          9  the funding.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.

         11                 MS. RAIFORD: So that people who have

         12  joined with us in training have done it with their

         13  own resources. They won't take two hours out to come

         14  in and train and talk with police officers about

         15  what it takes, we will make the sacrifice of pulling

         16  these really, really expensive resources off the

         17  road in order for them to receive that training. But

         18  what traditionally happens is we as a Department

         19  certainly seek grants for training all the time,

         20  because I really believe information and training is

         21  the best weapon we have against domestic violence.

         22  We also, when are asked, sometimes we are not asked,

         23  when people just apply for grants and the next thing

         24  we know is they have committed to training every cop

         25  in the NYPD because they don't have the experience
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          2  to know that that is very hard to do.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: We need you to

          4  talk to some of the foundations in the world who say

          5  can't you train more than that.

          6                 MS. RAIFORD: Which I do. Which I do.

          7  But we do write letters of support for a grant

          8  submitted, particularly by not-for-profit agencies,

          9  and we are finding that some of the smaller ones are

         10  actually the very best ones at service delivery. So,

         11  we are always willing to partner with people who we

         12  believe can bring an effective approach to working

         13  with domestic violence victims.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I just want to

         15  say as we kind of move forward through the winter

         16  and spring I would be interested in further

         17  discussions with you or the appropriate people in

         18  the Police Department about working towards the next

         19  year's budget, and internal department allocation

         20  targeted at this, so if you could have whomever is

         21  appropriate in the department get back to me, that

         22  would be great.

         23                 I also wanted to request a copy of

         24  the domestic violence curriculum that is used for

         25  the class at the Police Academy, if that would be
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          2  possible, and then my last question is a little more

          3  open ended and you know this far better than I do,

          4  but stalking is obviously one of the hardest things

          5  and the law is extremely limited in what can be done

          6  and I was wondering if you had any particularly

          7  successful initiatives, any thoughts, any way that

          8  the City Council that we could be helpful to you in

          9  trying to strengthen your unit's ability to deal

         10  with stalking because I really do think it is the

         11  hardest.

         12                 MS. RAIFORD: It is. I agree with you

         13  that it is. It is most difficult. Stealth actions by

         14  anybody are very, very difficult to track and

         15  certainly are being responsive to a report of that

         16  kind of stealth action is even more difficult.

         17                 We don't have anything that I can

         18  claim to be a successful initiative yet.

         19                 We are about to start one that it is

         20  probably going to be the first of its kind in the

         21  country. It is the one that I referred to in which

         22  we reached out to the FBI and we know law

         23  enforcement departments are pretty good assessment

         24  units and stalking units when it comes to celebrity

         25  stalkers, or stalkers of elected officials. You
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          2  know, what we have to get better at is finding out

          3  how we police against domestic terrorism, they know

          4  where she lives, they know where she works, they

          5  know where the kids go to school, they know where

          6  the grandmother lives, and stalking for us is not

          7  just a mere following of persons from point to

          8  point. It could be otherwise completely legal and

          9  innocuous activity, but the threat that it poses to

         10  the victim, the risk that it poses to the victim,

         11  makes it go through the roof in terms of being a

         12  concern for her safety.

         13                 So, we are about to pilot something

         14  in Brooklyn. We applied for a grant, we didn't get

         15  all of the money that we wanted.

         16                 One of the things that we had to do

         17  was ask the detectives, if you had the best of all

         18  scenarios, best of all cases, how would you

         19  implement? What would you do in stalking cases? And

         20  they took me to school, they really took me to

         21  school on what it took.

         22                 But we knew we needed to be able to

         23  pay for overtime, we needed to be able to pay for

         24  certain types of equipment, that may or may not be

         25  allocated directly to domestic violence, and I
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          2  believe like no excuses, we write the grant, we get

          3  the money to buy the equipment. So, this grant will

          4  pay for things like Nightvision goggles. We are

          5  going to use our Taro Unit for recording, which is

          6  generally used in those kinds of crimes that you

          7  have seen on television, where they track

          8  electronically the movement and discussion, if you

          9  will, of stalkers.

         10                 So, we are going to be working with

         11  the FBI to develop a protocol that will tend to

         12  profile stalkers and the level of threat that they

         13  may present to a victim. There are people, advocates

         14  in the room who could also take us to school on what

         15  that is, and we want to make sure that our response

         16  is effective to the particular issues.

         17                 I am very, very hopeful about our

         18  chances in that. And I am also hopeful about being

         19  flexible enough to allow ourselves to fail on some

         20  of our initiatives in that regard as a part of the

         21  learning process.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I just want to

         23  echo what Council Member Lopez said. First of all, I

         24  want to congratulate you on developing this program

         25  and this concept, and as it moves forward, the
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          2  things that fail, the things that succeed, the

          3  things that you want to continue and you need money

          4  for, the things that you just don't know and you

          5  need to keep working on and you need money for, if

          6  as you look for advocates on the City Council to

          7  fight for that funding, please call me and I think

          8  the body as a whole would be very committed to

          9  helping in any anti stalking efforts that the

         10  Department had.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 If I could just ask you a few more

         14  questions that should be asked, I think, and maybe

         15  we could wrap this up in five minutes.

         16                 One is with respect to orders of

         17  protection. In our 1995 report the Council found

         18  that the Department wasn't uniformly serving orders

         19  of protection, although mandated by law to do so.

         20  Does the Department now train officers regarding

         21  their duty to serve orders of protection?

         22                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: They do, okay.

         24                 Do you have a database with respect

         25  to orders of protection?
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          2                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Can you provide

          4  us with a sample of what category of information is

          5  tracked in the database?

          6                 MS. RAIFORD: We track by precincts,

          7  by borough command, by City borough, and certainly

          8  citywide numbers.

          9                 The number of orders of protection

         10  that the Police Department has been asked to serve,

         11  a lot of people are not aware that just because an

         12  order is issued doesn't mean that that necessarily

         13  was referred to the Police Department for service.

         14  But of those that have been, where they land, we

         15  track how many attempts there have been made to

         16  service. That was one of the challenges, to come up

         17  with a system that would effectively track our

         18  activity in how we were serving the orders of

         19  protection and how many attempts we made.

         20                 We have been fairly good at really

         21  isolating where we think problems are.

         22                 We went, from the time we started

         23  tracking, which was 1996 or '97, I believe, '97

         24  certainly the whole year, I believe we started it in

         25  1996, gone from about a 55 percent successful
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          2  service rate over 90 percent Citywide.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I am sure that

          4  has improved a lot.

          5                 MS. RAIFORD: Oh, it substantially

          6  improved.

          7                 Our next challenge in orders of

          8  protection certainly is making sure that once we do

          9  serve it, that we track that service because we need

         10  to enter it in the registry so should that victim go

         11  from New York City to Buffalo, that the Buffalo

         12  Police Department understands that not only has an

         13  order been issued, but it has been in fact served,

         14  that the offender has had notice and he is subject

         15  to immediate arrest, she is.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         17                 With respect to a few questions in

         18  the area of training and selection of the domestic

         19  violence prevention officers and investigators, how

         20  have you ensured, or sought to ensure the

         21  suitability of these personnel?

         22                 MS. RAIFORD: I am still trying to

         23  discover what suitability means for this particular

         24  job.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, obviously
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          2  that is one of the questions, is how you choose who

          3  should be the domestic violence prevention officers

          4  and investigators.

          5                 MS. RAIFORD: The commanding officer

          6  selects the actual person from his or her own

          7  precinct resources who is going to be a domestic

          8  violence --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: How is that

         10  done? Is it just a volunteer or is it --

         11                 MS. RAIFORD: It was. Part of it is

         12  volunteer. It had been almost 100 percent, when it

         13  was a new concept and people were afraid of what

         14  does this mean, but they are actually selected now.

         15  The things that they look at is the police officers'

         16  activity, police officers purported sensibility to

         17  domestic violence, and it is a specialized position.

         18  It is not a position that you don't want to give to

         19  somebody who you are not interested in rewarding.

         20                 I said that in a tortured way but

         21  what I meant was, that it is a specialized

         22  assignment in the Department, and there is

         23  competition for it.

         24                 Now, on the other end, if we find

         25  that there are domestic violence officers who are
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          2  not responding in a sensitive manner as we would

          3  want, or in as a professional manner as we want,

          4  they are removed and replaced.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Do you have a

          6  systematic means of evaluating those who were chosen

          7  to be DPVOs and DPVAs?

          8                 MS. RAIFORD: The only system that we

          9  have is a requirement that the commanding officer

         10  notify our unit as to who has been selected for the

         11  position, and we take the responsibility for

         12  training them.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It would seem to

         14  me that some sort of plan of how you are going to

         15  evaluate these people and ensuring that they are

         16  evaluated and looking at some at least criteria

         17  would make sense --

         18                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes, it does and we do

         19  regularly evaluate. We do.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: With some

         21  established criteria?

         22                 Would you send me your memo as to

         23  what are the criteria for evaluating these officers?

         24                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So you will send
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          2  us that among other things, so we can see what

          3  criteria you use.

          4                 Do you monitor instances in which

          5  these officers did not follow proper procedures? In

          6  other words, isn't the way that you know whether

          7  your training is being affected by monitoring and

          8  seeing if proper procedures are in fact followed?

          9                 MS. RAIFORD: Absolutely. As with

         10  every other system, as with any system we come up

         11  with a policy, we inform, educate on what the policy

         12  is, we do training, we track and measure

         13  performance, absolutely, every 30 days most of the

         14  precincts in the City are given what I call a

         15  domestic violence wash and we go into the precinct,

         16  we go into the books of the precinct, we go into the

         17  computer systems that people think we don't have but

         18  we do, to evaluate the domestic violence cases and

         19  to look at outcomes.

         20                 We monitor things as minute as not

         21  just photographs, but whether or not the cover

         22  sheet, we can pick up a file in the precinct and

         23  find out what happened to Jane Cutisen (phonetic)

         24  last week. How many times we responded to that home.

         25  To come up with a system by which using that
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          2  information we identify who our high propensity

          3  families are, or offenders are, those who have been

          4  most susceptible either to repeat violence,

          5  escalating violence or sustained cases that we

          6  believe are not true indicators of the level of

          7  violence but only the mere report, for verbal

          8  disputes and harassments, that we really can't do

          9  anything about right now, but it is a pattern, we

         10  want to trigger certain kinds of responses, such as

         11  a home visit, such as a contact to the victim. But,

         12  yes, we absolutely do that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: As a result, is

         14  there some turn-over of --

         15                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: In other words,

         17  some of them get eased into another position, let's

         18  put it that way.

         19                 MS. RAIFORD: I wouldn't say eased,

         20  but they do --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: They get

         22  movement.

         23                 MS. RAIFORD: They do get identified.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That's even

         25  better. I agree.
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          2                 Now, Council Member Eldridge, and I

          3  won't repeat it, discussed the problems with respect

          4  to incident tracking and your need for more

          5  civilians. One of the things that was suggested four

          6  years ago was that perhaps you consider simplifying

          7  your computer program with respect to information

          8  that you need.

          9                 MS. RAIFORD: That is being done.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It is being

         11  done.

         12                 MS. RAIFORD: It is being done in

         13  significant portions of it, as far as domestic

         14  violence system has been done. But we want to go

         15  beyond tracking domestic incidents. In order to

         16  effectively police, which is what we do, against

         17  domestic violence, we need to have quick and ready

         18  access to all intelligence databases that exist.

         19                 John Cue batterer was not necessarily

         20  a good guy before he became notified -- before we

         21  got notice that he was a batterer. So, the system

         22  that is there, the work in progress is the design of

         23  how we link to the Sprint system, to our arrest

         24  history. That is there already, that has been

         25  linked. The complaint system has been linked. The
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          2  arrest system has been linked. The gun licensing

          3  system has been linked to the domestic violence

          4  database.

          5                 We are looking at now how we might

          6  search other systems such as our Bag systems so that

          7  we can know whether of not this guy has been

          8  involved in robbery, how many times we responded to

          9  that location for this and other types of crime,

         10  that is the work in progress.

         11                 The domestic violence system is there

         12  waiting, and they would release it tomorrow if I

         13  were to let it go. I am not ready yet to let it go

         14  until I am sure that when we put it out in the field

         15  that it is going to be something that is going to

         16  help the cops in the job, in the field and the

         17  victims that they respond to get quick information,

         18  because I don't want to have to rely on a victim to

         19  tell me about her history. To the extent that it has

         20  been reported, as the custodians of it, we want

         21  quick ways to get it up to the person in the home

         22  and on the way to the job.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: A couple of more

         24  questions with respect to resources. We discussed,

         25  for example, cameras.
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          2                 One of the things that we pointed out

          3  in our 1995 report was that 55 percent of domestic

          4  violence prevention officers that we surveyed said

          5  that they were hindered in their responsibility to

          6  respond to victims by lack of access to a squad car.

          7                 Are such resources, cars, computers,

          8  always available?

          9                 MS. RAIFORD: I can tell you, Council

         10  Member Leffler, if you throw me a lemon, we will

         11  find a way to make lemonade.

         12                 The domestic violence prevention

         13  officer's job was never intended to be the first

         14  responder to a domestic violence crisis called 911

         15  call.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         17                 MS. RAIFORD: It is the police

         18  officers that are out on patrol.

         19                 In terms of having no access to a

         20  car, which is a problem sporadically, it depends on

         21  how resources are used at the moment in the Police

         22  Department, in terms of crisis calls.

         23                 The bottom line is, though, we

         24  believe we have sufficient resources to respond to

         25  the home such as a domestic violence officer would
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          2  do, using other resources, which is why in these 15

          3  precincts we are experimenting with, if the police

          4  officer is standing on a corner and we have a

          5  domestic incident report for the block, we want the

          6  cop on the corner to go knock on the door.

          7                 If there is a youth officer that has

          8  gotten a report that a child has been abused, that

          9  youth officer works in the same precinct as the

         10  domestic violence officer. We are being very

         11  flexible in the way that we use the resources that

         12  we already have, so we don't have to be dependent on

         13  anybody's dime, if you will, to be more responsive

         14  to this particular crime.

         15                 Crime prevention officers for the

         16  first time, once a domestic incident report and

         17  certainly a crime, are going to the homes and doing

         18  surveys to see what kind of hardware, particularly

         19  in stalking and past assault cases, is needed. We

         20  have never done that before. We treated the domestic

         21  violence prevention officer as the sole answer to DV

         22  cases, and it can't be. It will never crack the nut

         23  that way.

         24                 Crime prevention officers, community

         25  policing, community affairs officers, for doing

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            147

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  public education and information with community

          3  groups, churches, precinct community councils, and

          4  they are all available to come to speak to anybody

          5  about what we do, what communities' expectations of

          6  us should be, youth officers, and the community, the

          7  regular beat cop, there is a way to knock on a door

          8  without doing it from the seat of a car.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: In terms of

         10  transporting victims, one of the things we found

         11  with '95, even then cars weren't always available to

         12  transport a victim to a safe shelter; is that

         13  improved?

         14                 MS. RAIFORD: We will, unfortunately,

         15  unless we get 250,000 cars, which is not likely, I

         16  think be able to transport victims from one place to

         17  the other. We did have the luxury at one point of

         18  working with travelers aid.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: What about a

         20  squad car?

         21                 MS. RAIFORD: We do that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You do do that.

         23                 MS. RAIFORD: We do do that. I mean,

         24  where there is a crisis situation and the Sergeant

         25  has responded and there are indications that we
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          2  better get this family out of here, if she is ready

          3  to go, we do do that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Do you keep

          5  performance measures and evaluations and reports on

          6  a precinct basis with respect to domestic violence?

          7                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: In all

          9  precincts?

         10                 MS. RAIFORD: Every one we go to we do

         11  an evaluation and assessment.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         13                 Do you find two domestic violence

         14  prevention officers per precinct adequate?

         15                 MS. RAIFORD: It depends on the volume

         16  of crime. The number of domestic violence prevention

         17  officers in each precinct is based on the volume of

         18  crime.

         19                 Except, however, in those Bronx

         20  precincts where we were trying to model what would

         21  be the best, we put eight cops, we put nine cops.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: No, I meant as a

         23  general rule.

         24                 MS. RAIFORD: As a general rule, there

         25  are at least two. There are many that have five and
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          2  six. Depending on the volume of the domestic crime,

          3  and of course we want them, at least day tours up to

          4  midnight.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Just my last

          6  question. Do you have an overall report evaluating

          7  the implementation of strategy number four?

          8                 MS. RAIFORD: No.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: How come not? It

         10  would seem to me that after five years or so it

         11  would make sense.

         12                 MS. RAIFORD: Well, I mean we could do

         13  one that would measure, in fact I think we have done

         14  one a couple of years ago, put the response to the

         15  strategy. One of the things I really like about

         16  strategy number four is it is not a document that

         17  says you have X time to cure the world, this is a

         18  work in progress, as any policy document is. Our

         19  response to the policies, improving the way we

         20  implement the policy is a work in progress, it is

         21  ongoing. I could have done one yesterday, hopefully

         22  that will be improved by one that I would do in six

         23  months. But strategy four itself is not the measure,

         24  there are so many more details that I think are much

         25  more appropriate of our response to domestic
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          2  violence, that we do keep records on and reports on.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, just one

          4  last issue that I think should be touched on; and

          5  that is, the immigrant population, which is of

          6  course so big in New York City and so varied, do you

          7  have training specifically geared to the immigrant

          8  community?

          9                 How do you feel with people who can't

         10  speak English?

         11                 MS. RAIFORD: It is tough, tough,

         12  tough, tough.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I am sure it is.

         14                 MS. RAIFORD: And one of the ways,

         15  again, is training, training and more training.

         16                 Part of the challenge in that

         17  training is presenting it in such a way that doesn't

         18  make our response to domestic violence different

         19  when we are dealing with the great other.

         20                 We have groups that come in to train

         21  specifically on their particular ethnic or cultural

         22  response to domestic violence and educating the

         23  Police Department on how we should view what happens

         24  in a home where a family is Hispanic or a family

         25  speaks foreign.
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          2                 The challenge is, though, where you

          3  have the only person in the home who can speak

          4  English to a cop who only speaks English be the

          5  batterer. Or the person who might be in collusion

          6  with the batterer. Then we have to do the very best

          7  we can in terms of probable cause determination.

          8  Injuries certainly would be the determinate.

          9                 But it is very, very hard. There is

         10  one thing that we have to be sure of in training

         11  police officers and everybody else, is that

         12  regardless of any family's culture or background,

         13  that we have one standard, and that is, illegal and

         14  inappropriate conduct here, and that the law will be

         15  enforced as it is here. So, cultural nuances aside,

         16  even though it is a consideration. Certainly it is a

         17  consideration so that we get better at knowing these

         18  people are not doing this just because they are

         19  Nigerian and it only happens in a Nigerian community

         20  or only happens in communities of color, all of that

         21  is hogwash. That is best the challenge.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, thank you

         23  very much for all of your responses. You know, I

         24  think that you are a good person, both of you are,

         25  for this job.
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          2                 I have additional questions, I am not

          3  going to get into them now, with respect to

          4  management and the Mayor's Management Report, but in

          5  the interest of time an with all of the advocates

          6  here, we are going to have a hearing with the Police

          7  Commissioner on that. But tell him we did not handle

          8  these domestic violence Mayor's Management type of

          9  issues here just because of time considerations.

         10  When you have three committees together, to some

         11  extent you just have a lot more work even on a given

         12  topic.

         13                 Kathryn Freed. Council Member Kathryn

         14  Freed will conclude, and then we will go to the

         15  representatives of the District Attorneys Offices

         16  who are here and I understand that both the Brooklyn

         17  and Queens DA's offices are represented and then we

         18  will go on with the Advocate.

         19                 Council Member Freed.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: All right,

         21  thank you.

         22                 Yes, I got here late so I hope this

         23  hasn't been asked, but the incidences that I have

         24  had problems with in my own district and with my own

         25  precincts actually deal more so with when there is
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          2  the threat of violence, where it is either a spouse

          3  or a partner, former partner. And there isn't a

          4  court case, so I have had officers basically tell,

          5  usually women, that you can't get an order of

          6  protection because there is no court case, and if

          7  there hasn't really been any violence, or you

          8  haven't really been hit, you know, you can't really

          9  show that you have been injured, then there is

         10  nothing I can do.

         11                 And that is very discouraging to the

         12  people involved, usually women, not always but

         13  usually. Or you know, with children, things like

         14  that, where there is a very real threat of violence

         15  and their feeling is they want to do something

         16  before it is too late, because after someone has

         17  been injured, you know, then they feel it is too

         18  late.

         19                 I quite frankly, don't know what to

         20  tell them when invariably the officers tell them

         21  there is nothing they can do and I have had similar

         22  incidences where someone has felt that they have

         23  been stalked and they will talk to the precinct

         24  about it and the response they really get is there

         25  is nothing we can do about it until there has been a
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          2  serious injury.

          3                 So, what do I do?

          4                 MS. RAIFORD: Well, one of things that

          5  you do is the same thing that we are trying to do

          6  right now, certainly is improve the level of what we

          7  know about certain types of domestic violence

          8  behaviors, given the current statutes that we have

          9  to police with, and being creative about how we do

         10  that.

         11                 I did mention that in terms of

         12  stalking and all of the range of behaviors that that

         13  means, that we are about to initiate a pilot project

         14  which is essentially a process of discovery in terms

         15  of what works, and a police or law enforcement

         16  response to domestic violence.

         17                 Very often I find, though, and I

         18  should be so happy when some person who is satisfied

         19  with what the police have done also call you,

         20  because I mean there are thousands of them, that

         21  anyone who has an issue about whether or not they

         22  know what their rights are in terms of what they can

         23  expect from the Police Department, or any individual

         24  circumstances where you think we need to improve our

         25  response certainly to calls, level of threat by the
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          2  victim, felt by the victim is very, very important.

          3  Fortunately, however -- I mean unfortunately, it is

          4  very difficult to deal with the level of threats

          5  that they felt in terms of whether a cop can process

          6  this or you are afraid so that means I have probable

          7  cause to do -- you know, that X has happened.

          8                 With the new stalking legislation, we

          9  are very hopeful that it makes the offender's

         10  behavior the real test. We hope that that is going

         11  to help us out.

         12                 And, again, just as our performance

         13  is evolving, so is the legislation that governs our

         14  performance evolving.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Yes. Because as

         16  I said, invariably the problems I have had, in even

         17  talking to precinct captains their usual response is

         18  there is nothing we can do.

         19                 MS. RAIFORD: Unless a crime has been

         20  committed.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Right.

         22                 And I am concerned, because that is

         23  one of the reasons why a lot of victims really are

         24  afraid to go forward, because they get the

         25  impression that there is really nothing that can be
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          2  done, unless everything really escalates, and then

          3  you do run into the cultural barriers, with a number

          4  of cultures, where they are not predisposed to go

          5  into court.

          6                 MS. RAIFORD: Or dealing with the

          7  police at all.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Right. Well,

          9  they don't view the police as their friend. And then

         10  if you have an officer say essentially, well, there

         11  is nothing I can do until you have been beaten up,

         12  then they really feel even more of a victim and they

         13  feel even more helpless and it is much more likely

         14  that they will put up with threats, or maybe even if

         15  they are victimized or they are actually injured,

         16  that they don't do anything.

         17                 And I guess the next question I have

         18  for you is because we hear so much of people, women

         19  who were killed when they do have orders of

         20  protection, and the idea of getting some kind of

         21  educational program out there and just continuing to

         22  push an educational program, not only with, and also

         23  not only in English, but a number of the other

         24  cultures and languages, including Chinese, by the

         25  way, which is a community that is very much not
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          2  predisposed to go to the police, not predisposed to

          3  go the police and it is not even frowned upon. I

          4  think education is a big area --

          5                 MS. RAIFORD: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: And you do have

          7  to do whatever you can to help empower victims or

          8  potential victims of domestic violence.

          9                 MS. RAIFORD: Right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay, thank

         11  you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Maybe I could

         13  ask one last point. Have you found that the City has

         14  adequate resources for all of the referrals that you

         15  make, in terms of beds, for example?

         16                 MS. RAIFORD: That is not even a

         17  finding I try to make.

         18                 I deal with whatever my reality is

         19  for my victim at this moment. I have not done any

         20  kind of finding or --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes, but it

         22  seems to me that the police, like the domestic

         23  violence prevention officers have a lot of

         24  worthwhile experience, and if there is a group they

         25  find that there is a shortage, for example, of
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          2  shelter beds, you know that would be meaningful for

          3  us. So, to the extent that you find that there is a

          4  need for more resources, I think that would be

          5  meaningful and hopefully we could try to address

          6  those issues.

          7                 Okay, thank you very much.

          8                 Okay, the District Attorneys Offices.

          9  Is there Scott Kessler from the Queens DA's Office,

         10  and Professor Lisa Smith from the Brooklyn DA's

         11  Office?

         12                 Welcome, Professor Smith.

         13                 PROFESSOR SMITH: Thank you. I direct

         14  the criminal clinics there, and I am also the

         15  Director of Policy and Planning for Domestic

         16  Violence for District Attorney Joe Hynes in

         17  Brooklyn.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Where are you a

         19  professor?

         20                 PROFESSOR SMITH: Brooklyn Law School.

         21  And in fact, I can say that Deidre is one of my

         22  former students. Thank you very much, Deidre, for

         23  inviting me here today.

         24                 I am going to just speak a little bit

         25  about an overview of the agency response in Brooklyn
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          2  and give you a sense of the numbers that we are

          3  looking at.

          4                 In 1998 there were about 12,000

          5  domestic violence prosecutions in Brooklyn, in 1999

          6  probably a little closer to 13,000.

          7                 It is our policy in the Brooklyn

          8  District Attorney's Office to attempt to interview

          9  each and every one of those victims.

         10                 So, for instance, in 1998, actually

         11  having counted this, they found that they

         12  interviewed about 13,100 victims and friends of

         13  victims in domestic violence cases.

         14                 The purpose of that policy and that

         15  process as you can imagine is very time consuming

         16  and also consuming of resources, is to be able,

         17  during the course of that interview, to do the

         18  following:

         19                 First and foremost would be a risk

         20  assessment on each and every one of the victims in

         21  domestic violence cases. The risk assessment would

         22  start out with the issue of whether the victim needs

         23  to go into a shelter, if a shelter is not available,

         24  hotel relocation, and the question of whether there

         25  should be a change in the permanent housing status.
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          2                 The District Attorney's Office in

          3  Brooklyn spends over a million dollars in relocation

          4  of witnesses a year, and a significant percentage of

          5  it, I have been told close to half, is actually for

          6  the Special Victims Division Relocation.

          7                 We also work on security initiatives.

          8  There are many victims of domestic violence who do

          9  not wish to go into shelters. I think a lot of the

         10  advocates here can probably speak to this issue, it

         11  actually is something that creates a lot of problems

         12  for us as prosecutors, it disgusts the victims of

         13  domestic violence to consider that they have to

         14  uproot themselves and children and go into shelters

         15  while the abuser has been released on his own

         16  recognizance or had very low bail set and is out on

         17  the street.

         18                 But be that as it may, that is the

         19  reality that we deal with. If the victim is not

         20  interested in shelters, we look at whether security

         21  initiatives that we have are appropriate.

         22                 Lucia Raiford spoke about Juris

         23  Monitor, we also give cellular phones that dial 911

         24  to the victims of domestic violence, that's

         25  particularly important involving cases involving
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          2  stalking and particularly because most of the

          3  victims are very mobile, they have children, they

          4  have to go to school, they have to go to the

          5  supermarket.

          6                 We also have a program called Aware,

          7  that uses an ADT security system, I am sure you are

          8  familiar with ADT, the burglar alarm company. What

          9  we do with Aware is we give the victim a pendant, if

         10  she presses the pendant, ADT is notified and ADT

         11  notifies the 911 to report immediately to her home

         12  or place of business.

         13                 So, we look at the shelters and

         14  security initiative immediately.

         15                 After the risk assessment, we talk

         16  about social workers. Some of the people who have

         17  worked with us as counselors are here in the

         18  audience. We have a counselor available and assigned

         19  to every one of the felony victims in domestic

         20  violence. We have social workers also available for

         21  all of the misdemeanor victims. They do group

         22  counseling, they do nighttime individual counseling

         23  and they will work with the children of domestic

         24  violence victims.

         25                 We feel that having social workers in
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          2  the bureau is the key to successful prosecution and

          3  appropriate prosecution in domestic violence cases.

          4                 We also have counselors who work with

          5  our social workers to work as ombudsmen with many of

          6  the City agencies that our victims of domestic

          7  violence deal with on a daily basis.

          8                 I am sorry that Councilman DiBrienza

          9  is not here anymore because we, like him, have had

         10  our own difficulties on behalf of domestic violence

         11  victims dealing with HRA and Housing and Welfare and

         12  Social Security. It is really too much to expect

         13  prosecutors who are prosecuting those cases to also

         14  work up the social welfare problems on the

         15  individual victims.

         16                 So, we have had counselors and people

         17  I think of as ombudsmen employed in the office to

         18  deal with that particular issue.

         19                 Just like a brief example of

         20  something like that, on the importance of social

         21  workers and ombudsmen, is that people think that the

         22  issue of whether victims press charges or don't

         23  press charges is sort of a simple issue in and of

         24  itself.

         25                 But to give you an example, I had a
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          2  case last year that I dealt with where a woman had

          3  five children, and she had been beaten up by her

          4  husband but also one of her children was very sadly,

          5  although thankfully in remission, had had a brain

          6  tumor, and the little girl came into our office many

          7  times, she was wearing a little helmet, and we

          8  worked with her a lot. But the very first time she

          9  came in, the first thing she sat down and said to us

         10  was, that her refrigerator had broken that morning.

         11  So, we wanted her to come in and talk about the

         12  abuse, but her refrigerator had broken. And so when

         13  prosecutors around the country say to me, well I

         14  don't really think we should have social workers in

         15  the office, because I don't want to mix social

         16  workers with prosecution. I always think about that

         17  case because I think when the woman sits down and

         18  starts talking to you and you say, well, tell me

         19  what occurred on October 5th, she says, well, I

         20  would expect my refrigerator broke this morning and

         21  how am I going to take care of my children and food

         22  is freezing, I say to the prosecutors, well, what do

         23  you do. Do you look at her and say well I am sorry

         24  to hear that, what happened on October 5th? Do you

         25  think you are going to have any kind of an effective

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            164

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  communication or relationship afterwards and I think

          3  everybody here would acknowledge that the answer to

          4  that is clearly no.

          5                 So, I think that from a process

          6  standpoint, social workers and counselors are

          7  critical, and that every District Attorney's office

          8  should be appropriately funded to have social

          9  workers and counselors working with them.

         10                 We also are involved in the concept

         11  of victimless prosecutions. I probably don't have

         12  enough time to address that theoretically. One of

         13  the Council members here before spoke about the fact

         14  that many victims don't want to prosecute.

         15                 That is a very difficult issue to

         16  analyze in not enough time, but sometimes victimless

         17  prosecutions are appropriate, sometimes they are

         18  not. When they are appropriate, it is really a

         19  question of what the NYPD has put together for you

         20  in terms of evidence.

         21                 We have worked very cooperatively

         22  with Lucia Raiford and her office in attempting to

         23  do these victimless prosecutions.

         24                 We have a lot of victimless

         25  prosecutions.
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          2                 One thing you should understand, too,

          3  is that I think there is an idea here, too, though

          4  that perhaps we should think of these as victimless

          5  prosecutions, because many times, and this happened

          6  to me in court just yesterday, a woman came in with

          7  the abuser. She had had several conversations with

          8  the defense attorney and thought she should come to

          9  court. She told me that she wanted to drop the

         10  charges. But in fact, after talking to her she

         11  really wanted an order of protection and anger

         12  management, a counseling program for him, because he

         13  had a very bad temper.

         14                 But she had promised the defense

         15  attorney and him she was going to drop those

         16  charges. And if you could withstand that pressure,

         17  being people who are perhaps lawyers and at least

         18  familiar with the system, I doubt that even you

         19  could withstand that pressure because I know I

         20  couldn't. And what I have to say to her in that

         21  situation is, that she can tell me privately what

         22  she wants and then I am going to get up in court and

         23  I am going to see the judge, which I did, that she

         24  has adamantly and aggressively asked me to drop

         25  those charges. And that she doesn't want those
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          2  charges pressed, and I am informing the court that

          3  she doesn't want those charges pressed, and in fact

          4  she had turned around in the court room and said to

          5  the abuser, which I encouraged her to do, and I

          6  probably can't use this word in the City Council

          7  here, but she had called me a B blank whatever, to

          8  the abuser because I was not cooperating with her

          9  desire to drop the charges, which was in fact faked

         10  by myself and the victim.

         11                 So, the concept of victimless

         12  prosecutions is not always against the wishes of the

         13  victim, but sometimes the victims need not to be the

         14  lead person in these prosecutions, because they

         15  can't withstand the pressure and it is not

         16  appropriate for the criminal justice system to

         17  expect them to withstand the pressure.

         18                 There is a Brooklyn Domestic Violence

         19  Task Force, it meets on the second Tuesday of every

         20  month. It is a very large organization, many people

         21  who are in the audience, or who were formerly in the

         22  audience, are members. It is a group that connects

         23  advocacy groups, law enforcement and the courts to

         24  discuss issues involving domestic violence.

         25                 This is also a very good opportunity
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          2  for those of us in the county to interact with each

          3  other, sometimes on individual cases, and sometimes

          4  on systemic issues we would like to see resolved.

          5                 There is also a Brooklyn Domestic

          6  Violence Fatality Review Team, which you,

          7  Councilwoman Eldridge, talked about. We meet on the

          8  first Friday of every month. We started it at the

          9  end of the spring when we also noticed the increase

         10  in fatalities.

         11                 Our statistics look as follows. We

         12  basically had 14 domestic violence homicides in '98,

         13  we are at about 27 right now.

         14                 We have analyzed those for purposes

         15  of creating the Fatality Review Board. Seven of the

         16  27, interestingly enough, and I actually spoke about

         17  this on Friday, because the American Bar

         18  Association, with the American Psychologist

         19  Association, had a conference in Washington, D.C.,

         20  and a piece of the conference had to do with

         21  fatality assessment. What I said was that of the 27

         22  we are looking at, seven were actually unfortunately

         23  elderly victims of children who were their

         24  caretakers, okay?

         25                 In assessing those seven cases, which
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          2  are different from the other 20, which were intimate

          3  partner homicides, okay? I looked at factors that

          4  were common for all of the 27 cases.

          5                 Ms. Raiford spoke before about prior

          6  contacts with the Criminal Justice System. Just to

          7  back up for a moment, even before some of this

          8  increase in homicides had begun, we had done a

          9  fatality review on our office and we are planning

         10  this team, because in assessing '96 and '97

         11  fatalities, we found that very few of the cases had

         12  had any prior contact with the criminal justice

         13  system, meaning the District Attorney's Office in

         14  that particular assessment, which said to us that we

         15  are not -- I think that conventional wisdom, myself

         16  included actually, when I did the study in '96 and

         17  '97 thought that every one of those cases would be

         18  somebody whose terminology slipped through the

         19  cracks of the criminal justice system, I think that

         20  a lot of us would have thought that was the case.

         21                 What we found in '96 and '97 was that

         22  that wasn't the case, which meant that the criminal

         23  justice system could not have saved that homicide.

         24  So we started to talk about if not in the criminal

         25  justice system, where?
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          2                 In looking at '99, where we are now,

          3  what I found was that in all 27, there was

          4  unreported, unreported prior abuse, okay? So, in

          5  going back through interviews with everybody, the

          6  families in the 27 and friends, everybody said that,

          7  yes, there has been abuse, different levels of abuse

          8  in the relationship, but that it was mostly

          9  unreported. That was the highest factor that

         10  correlated with the 27 cases.

         11                 In all seven, in six out of the seven

         12  of the elderly homicides, six of the defendants, and

         13  this probably comes as no surprise to you, had

         14  serious psychological problems. Okay? So, six of the

         15  seven defendants had really serious mental health

         16  issues. Psychological problems were also present in

         17  five more of the cases involving intimate partner

         18  homicides. The next highest correlate was substance

         19  abuse. Eleven or 12 of the 27 defendants had

         20  substance abuse problems.

         21                 I think only six of the 27 cases in

         22  Brooklyn had prior criminal justice contact. Six is

         23  important but it is not the kind of a statistic that

         24  I think I might have presumed I was going to see.

         25                 So, the purpose of the domestic
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          2  violence fatality review team is to bring together

          3  many different agencies, and that includes, ACS, the

          4  Police Department, hospitals, churches, the Board of

          5  Ed, everybody who could possibly interact with the

          6  members of society to take a look at where we might

          7  have helped that couple, knowing that as we start at

          8  the prosecutor's office, we will actually have

          9  missed the bulk of the homicide victims. So, we do

         10  have a fatality review team. You are welcome,

         11  anybody here is of course welcome to attend, as I

         12  said it is the first Friday of every month.

         13                 We have also been working on issues

         14  of coordination between Family Court. There are a

         15  lot of issues, and Criminal Court, between the

         16  victims of domestic violence, being in both the

         17  Criminal Court and the Family Court, and issues that

         18  arise because of that.

         19                 Somebody asked about statistics

         20  before, and I thought I would just mention that on

         21  the issue of felony statistics, in Brooklyn we have

         22  separate felony domestic violence court parts, and

         23  misdemeanor domestic violence court parts.

         24                 Our felony statistics are very high

         25  and I think against conventional wisdom, because
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          2  actually in Brooklyn the lowest felony dismissal

          3  rate is in domestic violence, which is surprising to

          4  you because you probably have expected and not even

          5  criticized if the highest dismissal rate had been in

          6  domestic violence, so we only had about a five

          7  percent dismissal rate with close to a 92 percent

          8  conviction rate and felony cases.

          9                 It is not the same in misdemeanors,

         10  and there are many reasons, and I am definitely sure

         11  I don't have the time to talk about that, though I

         12  am more than happy to come back and address the

         13  issue of misdemeanors and the criminal justice

         14  system. In my mind that is very much a resource

         15  problem.

         16                 Just to give you another sense of

         17  numbers, at any given time right now there are

         18  probably 150 felony cases pending in domestic

         19  violence and approximately 2,500 misdemeanor cases

         20  pending in the local Criminal Court in Brooklyn.

         21                 The District Attorney's Office has,

         22  within the next week is going to have about 55

         23  prosecutors assigned solely to prosecuting domestic

         24  violence cases, they are incorporated in a bureau

         25  that also includes those social workers and
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          2  ombudsmen I mentioned. There are also detectives

          3  that are assigned strictly to domestic violence.

          4                 I am going to finish and let Scott

          5  continue now. If you have any questions, I would be

          6  happy to answer them.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you.

          9                 Mr. Kessler, welcome.

         10                 MR. KESSLER: Thank you. My name is

         11  Scott Kessler, and I run the Domestic Violence Unit

         12  at the Queens County DA's Office.

         13                 Hopefully everyone can hear me, I

         14  will just move up a little bit.

         15                 I am going to talk a little bit

         16  specifically about how the police have responded to

         17  domestic violence in Queens County, and things they

         18  have done well, things they need improvement on,

         19  things they have not done too well. I think that is

         20  generally the subject matter that this Committee is

         21  meeting about, and I will try to address those

         22  particular issues.

         23                 I think when you are thinking about

         24  domestic violence in Queens County in particular, a

         25  lot of questions have been talking about ethnic
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          2  diversity. I don't think you can find a more ethnic

          3  diverse county in the country than Queens County,

          4  and that makes it particularly difficult to

          5  prosecute and arrest people on domestic violence

          6  cases because of the fact that most of the ethnic

          7  backgrounds we find in Queens County and throughout

          8  the City patriarchal systems.

          9                 But generally speaking, I have been

         10  in charge of the Domestic Violence Unit for

         11  approximately two and a half years. So, for those

         12  two and a half years was basically my focus, I was

         13  not there prior to four years ago when they began

         14  strategy number four.

         15                 However, there are a number of things

         16  that I think are worth mentioning, I think the

         17  Police Department has done extremely well,

         18  especially in connection with prosecuting cases in

         19  Queens County.

         20                 I think probably the most important

         21  thing I have noticed since I have been there is

         22  their initiative and their innovation and their

         23  willingness to try new ideas, it is not like I am

         24  hitting a wall of bureaucracy one way or another

         25  where they are not looking to change, or trying new
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          2  ideas. Training has probably been the number one

          3  issue that we have been trying to deal with here in

          4  Queens County in terms of domestic violence officers

          5  and patrol officers.

          6                 I have to give credit to NYPD on that

          7  respect, because I have often asked for every

          8  domestic violence officer to come to a central

          9  location and do training myself and I have never had

         10  a problem, I have also had every training sergeant,

         11  as well as administrative lieutenants. So they are

         12  not adverse to training, especially regarding

         13  training from another aspect over an outside agency

         14  such as myself.

         15                 The photographs were an issue. I know

         16  a number of people had mentioned that there was a

         17  report that there were not enough photographs taken

         18  a number of years ago, and what steps has NYPD taken

         19  and what, if anything, has the DA's office done to

         20  assist in that, and what have we noticed in

         21  connection with more photographs.

         22                 I can tell you that I ran some

         23  numbers before I came here at City Hall, and it

         24  appears that the number of photographs taken on

         25  assault cases in Queens County has risen

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            175

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  dramatically over the last two and a half years. It

          3  has gone from numbers such as, as low ass 25 percent

          4  of the assault cases a few years ago, to last year

          5  over 50 percent, and in the beginning of the year we

          6  are looking at 60 percent, and our last numbers

          7  indicate within the last two months we are getting

          8  roughly over 70 percent of the assault cases in our

          9  county now are coming with photographs, so I think

         10  that is a dramatic increase, and I think police

         11  officers pretty much in the county know it is

         12  standard procedure, that when they have an assault

         13  case of domestic violence, they are required to take

         14  photographs.

         15                 I think part of the reason that

         16  increase has taken is the fact that, you know, my

         17  office is now, on every single case that comes

         18  across is documenting what police officer made an

         19  arrest, what paperwork was missing, and I have

         20  connections with borough commanders of both Queens

         21  North and South, who have also been very responsive,

         22  and any time a case is missing a piece of paper,

         23  they come down, identify the officer, the precinct,

         24  the case, and they actually, the commanders will

         25  write letters to the officers and ask the commanding
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          2  officers of the precincts exactly what happened and

          3  what steps and procedures they have in place now to

          4  correct the problem. I think that has been the large

          5  increase and why we have seen a lot of photographs.

          6                 Some of the other things I think that

          7  happened involving the domestic violence officers

          8  over the last few years have been a plus in that I

          9  think that you now have a contact person in each

         10  precinct, at least from the District Attorney's

         11  point of view, that we can contact the DBOs if we

         12  have a problem on a case or we see a problem coming

         13  up, we need a home visit or we need someone to make

         14  sure that this person is abiding by the order of

         15  protection, I think generally speaking they have

         16  done a nice job, however, I think one of the points

         17  that has been mentioned four years ago is still a

         18  recurring problem, is the fact that they have no

         19  automotive transportation, and it is a big issue.

         20                 I think that if you were to do that

         21  same survey of domestic violence officers and what

         22  they think their number one problem was, in my

         23  opinion I think you would come up with the same

         24  answer.

         25                 However, they are getting inventive
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          2  as well in getting out there.

          3                 I have had a number of DVOs who have

          4  used bicycles to do home visits. I have had numbers

          5  who have taken the patrol car at lunchtime when

          6  people are on lunchbreak to do home visits.

          7                 So, they are definitely trying their

          8  best in terms of doing a number of home visits.

          9                 Other innovative ideas that they have

         10  been responsive to is the domestic incident search.

         11  A number of speakers have spoken about the fact that

         12  there is a search and a database where now the

         13  Police Department has on every domestic incident

         14  report filed by this woman against the man,

         15  so-to-speak, so when an arrest is made, I am

         16  requiring the police officer who made the arrest to

         17  go back into the computer system and give me every

         18  single incident report that has occurred so that by

         19  the time the case appears in a court, I will have a

         20  history so I can make a better assessment.

         21                 The problem, though, though, however

         22  is that this search is only for that one precinct.

         23  The technology grant is part of the problem, they

         24  are trying to get -- they receive 2 million dollars,

         25  to try to get that throughout the City. So, for

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            178

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  example, if a male beats his wife in the 105

          3  precinct and then they all move to the 108, the 108

          4  will not have a history of a domestic incident

          5  report because it was only in the 105.

          6                 So, however, once we interview the

          7  woman, and, again, we interview each domestic

          8  violence victim as well. We sometimes can find that

          9  and then track it down and call the 105 precinct. So

         10  the technology grant is actually something I think

         11  that all of the DA's offices are looking forward to,

         12  so there will be a central database of all of the

         13  domestic incident reports.

         14                 I think that when we are talking

         15  about Police Department's accountability, I think it

         16  started, I think you will notice a lot at the top. I

         17  have attended some COMSTAT meetings and one of the

         18  topics that is always mentioned in COMSTAT is

         19  domestic violence, how the compliance rate is in

         20  terms of serving orders of protection, how that

         21  compliance rate has been in terms of arrests, the

         22  number of domestic incident reports. I think that in

         23  the last few years I have noticed a very high

         24  increase in the amount of attention domestic

         25  violence has seen both at the higher levels and the
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          2  lower levels.

          3                 So, generally speaking, in terms of

          4  how the police are responding to domestic violence

          5  in Queens County, I would give them favorable

          6  remarks. I think they have tried their best, they

          7  have become inventive. They work very closely with

          8  my office. I think that when I come up with an idea

          9  of how we can change things to get more photographs,

         10  or get a domestic incident search, you know, I don't

         11  hit my head against the wall and run into a solid

         12  steel wall. They are trying their best, they have

         13  some problems in some technology issues that I

         14  talked about, but for the most part I think I have

         15  seen, especially on, we are talking roughly in

         16  Queens County, 5,000 or more cases of domestic

         17  violence a year, that in those 5,000 I think with

         18  the Police Department's assistance, we have seen

         19  greater accountability for each police officer who

         20  has made an arrest, and I think by having

         21  accountability, we have seen an increase in both

         22  photographs, number of corroborating affidavits and

         23  number of arrests on violations of orders to

         24  protection, and I think that is a big issue as well

         25  in domestic violence, is the fact that a lot of
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          2  perpetrators are violating the court orders, almost

          3  immediately upon when they are written, and we have

          4  been able to use the domestic violence officers and

          5  their requirement to do home checks or home visits,

          6  and often you will find that when they do the home

          7  visit the perpetrator is there and they will

          8  immediately make an arrest.

          9                 And that is a classic example of a

         10  case you can go on with victimless prosecution

         11  because your sole witness is now the police officer

         12  who can testify they saw the two together.

         13                 And generally speaking, I think the

         14  shortcomings that I have seen is again the need for

         15  transportation for the domestic violence officers. I

         16  would emphasize that while our photographs are up

         17  and we are seeing roughly 70 percent, I think that

         18  number should be 100 percent. I think that part of

         19  the problem may be the fact that every sergeant's

         20  car doesn't have a Polaroid and I think that was an

         21  issue brought up by a lot of Council Members, and

         22  the database system that I talked about on the DIRs,

         23  I think those three are probably the biggest

         24  shortcomings I have seen so far.

         25                 So, in sum I think they have come a

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            181

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  long way in the last few years. I have seen a lot of

          3  attention given by the NYPD, they try new things,

          4  they are trying their best and they are in the

          5  process, they are trying to get through their

          6  shortcomings, which obviously both myself and a lot

          7  of DAs offices have been informing them of.

          8                 If there is any other questions,

          9  obviously Miss Smith and I will answer.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Just so I get

         11  your last point. With respect to the cameras

         12  availability to sergeants, could you make that point

         13  again.

         14                 MR. KESSLER: Sure. In domestic

         15  violence arrests, for the most part sergeants are

         16  required to be on the seen to authorize the arrest.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         18                 MR. KESSLER: And what we have found

         19  is, if we could put a camera in every sergeant's

         20  car, then since the sergeant has to be there, rather

         21  than take the victim and bring him back to the

         22  precinct on occasions just to take the photographs,

         23  she could still stay where she is, the photographs

         24  could be taken from the sergeants' car.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So the sergeant
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          2  comes with camera, with film?

          3                 MR. KESSLER: That would be ideal.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Generally

          5  speaking that is what you are finding now?

          6                 MR. KESSLER: No, it has not.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It has not been

          8  your finding.

          9                 MR. KESSLER: No. My suggestion is

         10  that they -- in each of the precincts my suggestion

         11  has been that they take the Polaroid and put it in

         12  every sergeant's car, and this way when there is a

         13  response, and I know most of these officers have

         14  agreed, that we can get the photograph immediately.

         15  And I understand that some photographs may need to

         16  be taken days later, but what I think would be

         17  assistance is if I could have photographs right then

         18  and there on the scene.

         19                 PROFESSOR SMITH: The other thing I

         20  might add is that sergeants cars would be great, it

         21  would be even better if we could have them in the

         22  responding patrol officers' cars. I don't really

         23  have much of an understanding when you speak about

         24  the budget that you mentioned that we weren't

         25  actually aware of, for NYPD that is impossible, but
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          2  the thing is that we don't really only need them for

          3  injuries, because one of the very significant things

          4  in domestic violence is that the apartments are

          5  frequently trashed and the furniture is broken and

          6  the key, and something we used also in the fatality

          7  study is phones ripped out of the wall. There are

          8  thousands of cases in Brooklyn where the phones have

          9  been ripped out of the wall, and we need pictures of

         10  those phones and those trash departments to assist

         11  us in the prosecution.

         12                 So, having those cameras in the cars

         13  and those responding patrol cars would be extremely

         14  helpful.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Then you made

         16  one other point at the end, Mr. Kessler, I think it

         17  dealt with DIRs?

         18                 MR. KESSLER: Yes. The DIRs are the

         19  domestic incident reports, I am sure I used the

         20  phrase. And every time as you mention numbers

         21  somewhere in the range of 200,000 of those that are

         22  occurring Citywide, every time a police officer

         23  responds to a 911 call or someone walks in the

         24  precinct. They are required and they will fill out a

         25  domestic incident report. Sometimes on the bottom of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            184

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  the report the woman will sign or give her version

          3  of the events that took place there.

          4                 When an arrest is made, what we are

          5  requiring of Queens County is that in the precinct

          6  in which the arrest was made, a search is done on

          7  all of the domestic incident reports filed by this

          8  woman, whether an arrest was made or not, so that by

          9  the time the prosecutor's office get it, we will

         10  have somewhat of a history or we will see some sort

         11  of escalation of violence, starting out maybe with a

         12  yelling or a screaming to a pushing or a shoving and

         13  finally to an assault.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And those prior

         15  domestic incident reports can't be searched, are not

         16  available in the precinct?

         17                 MR. KESSLER: They can be searched in

         18  the precinct but they are not available from

         19  precinct to precinct or Citywide.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: From precinct to

         21  precinct. Okay, that part I got, right.

         22                 MR. KESSLER: Yes, someone moves from

         23  Brooklyn, or someone moves from another precinct,

         24  you cannot get that unless you speak to the woman

         25  who then informs you. I used to live in Brooklyn --
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          2                 PROFESSOR SMITH: What we understand

          3  Ms. Raiford to have been saying was that in December

          4  a Citywide database of DIRs, Domestic Incident

          5  Reports, will be available. We, like you, have

          6  really been looking forward to you for a long time.

          7                 I didn't have a chance and I don't

          8  know if any of you have a question about the issue

          9  of cross complaints, which Ms. Feerick had asked us

         10  to address, but obviously --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes, I wanted

         12  you to address that.

         13                 PROFESSOR SMITH: Cross complaints and

         14  retaliatory complaints were a very big issue and

         15  still are in the domestic violence community and

         16  obviously cause the passing of the primary aggressor

         17  law.

         18                 What I have found in Brooklyn is that

         19  there has been a substantial decrease in cross

         20  complaints, and retaliatory complaints.

         21                 Now, retaliatory are a little

         22  different in the sense that a retaliatory complaint

         23  obviously involves an incident recurring and then a

         24  later arrest of that victim because the abuser went

         25  to the police and now claims that there was a new
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          2  incident.

          3                 On retaliatory complaints, generally

          4  speaking, the detectives in Brooklyn have been

          5  instructed and also many of the advocates, and some

          6  of the advocates even in the audience have done

          7  this, are instructed to call the District Attorney's

          8  Office and not put through retaliatory complaints

          9  unless they have discussed it with us, and this has

         10  helped in decreasing the retaliatory complaints.

         11                 In cross complaints, we run

         12  approximately 20 to 40 a month, so there could be

         13  somewhere around, it could five a week, it could be

         14  ten a week at our cap, five a week at our minimum.

         15                 Now, remember, we are taking in about

         16  250 cases a week in Brooklyn, so at our top we are

         17  talking about ten cross complaints a week.

         18                 That is a decrease from the height

         19  and I actually don't know the statistics but I can

         20  speak anecdotally. There were of course many, many

         21  more, so I think some of the police training has

         22  helped.

         23                 Also, the judges, I have spoken to

         24  the judges in the Brooklyn Criminal Court. I don't

         25  know how many of you know Judge Mickey Morgenstern
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          2  or Judge Pat Nunez, they are the domestic violence

          3  judges.

          4                 They have both told me very recently

          5  that they have seen a substantial decrease in these

          6  cross complaints that were plaguing them.

          7                 There is still a problem, because for

          8  the individuals who are in those 20 to 40 cases, it

          9  is an extremely egregious experience.

         10                 And I don't actually think that it is

         11  something that you can't resolve actually in the

         12  Council, because it seems to me that this might be

         13  something that a small amount of money on a pilot

         14  project could probably handle.

         15                 Most of those domestic violence cases

         16  that are cross complaints, obviously the

         17  prosecutor's office can't proceed with them, as you

         18  well know, because they are both defendants and what

         19  kind of a case obviously is that for us.

         20                 We don't want to even see them come

         21  as far as the prosecutor's office in the complaint

         22  room, they should be resolved by the Police

         23  Department. I think if the police could dedicate one

         24  or two significantly high-ranking officers on each

         25  of their shifts, that their street cops could call
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          2  to resolve the issue of primary aggressor and the

          3  issue of who should be arrested in the case, they

          4  could probably create a zero tolerance of cross

          5  complaints within their own department and I think

          6  that is the way to do it, because the cases are

          7  complicated, it is hard sometimes to make the

          8  decision right in the street. It might require

          9  authorizing a significant amount of overtime for the

         10  cops to go back, search the DIRs, talk to neighbors,

         11  listen to the 911 take, but if there was somebody in

         12  charge in the Police Department, he could authorize

         13  the overtime and I think that they need to have some

         14  funding directed at this project alone to look for

         15  zero tolerance in the cross complaint.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Do you think

         17  that is a matter where you need somebody of a higher

         18  rank than the domestic violence prevention officer?

         19                 PROFESSOR SMITH: No, because I think

         20  the fear is for the lower level officer that he is

         21  looking at an immediate decision in a hot issue on

         22  the street, and that if he makes a mistake he is

         23  going to pay the penalty for making that mistake.

         24                 And it is a judgment call that you

         25  have to make with some knowledge and some through
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          2  investigation. So, you have to ask that street cop

          3  to go back, do the research and make the decision.

          4                 Do I think the DVPOs could be given

          5  the job to make that decision? They don't actually

          6  work, as far as I know, around the clock, so that is

          7  one issue. You would have to correct that as a

          8  problem because obviously you need a round-the-clock

          9  person.

         10                 I think that somehow the Department

         11  would have to imbue those DVPOs with the feeling

         12  that they will listen and respect the calls they

         13  make and not that they wouldn't feel that there

         14  could be a terrible penalty for exercising judgment,

         15  and that is their reluctance for doing it. We

         16  understand it, but I think that it is something that

         17  the Department could work towards.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Council Member

         19  Ronnie Eldridge.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Do you, in

         21  Queens do you find difficulty with the number of

         22  different languages that are spoken in the

         23  constituents --

         24                 MR. KESSLER: Sure.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how do you
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          2  handle that?

          3                 MR. KESSLER: Yes, one of the

          4  problems, especially on domestic violence, you will

          5  find is that, and when we are speaking generally, 90

          6  percent of domestic violence victims are women, and

          7  when you are talking about Queens County, a lot of

          8  the women will not speak the English language,

          9  however, the husband will. So when the police

         10  respond, he may be the only interpreter that the

         11  police officers have. And there is a huge language

         12  problem.

         13                 We found that police at least again

         14  are getting inventive. They found someone in the

         15  same building who speaks the language and try to

         16  separate the two.

         17                 In our office, AT&T has a language

         18  line, has any dialect of any language, you call them

         19  up and immediately you can have someone who may be

         20  in California, but it will be on a phone, speak to

         21  them.  And this way you at least will be able to

         22  speak in a particular dialect.

         23                 There are hundreds of dialects, I

         24  think 150 languages spoken in the county alone in

         25  connection with the cases, so we find it a huge
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          2  problem, especially with the fact that a lot of

          3  women who are the victims, not only do they have the

          4  problem of integration, not only the problem of the

          5  patriarchal system, but they also have the problem

          6  where they can't really speak the English language

          7  that well and the only person that speaks for them

          8  is often times the batterer.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how many of

         10  the cases, or what do you think, what percentage

         11  involve immigration matters where women are afraid

         12  to say something or where their immigration status

         13  is dependent on the batterer? That is increasingly

         14  common?

         15                 MR. KESSLER: Increasingly common,

         16  often sometimes the most pressure she will receive.

         17  I mean, there is obviously economic pressures, there

         18  is obviously family pressures, but immigration

         19  pressures as well often you will find underlying.

         20  Often you won't get to that point in time, because

         21  they won't admit that is the problem.

         22                 You may know in your heart that is

         23  really what is going on, but you can't get there.

         24  So, statistically I don't have a particular number I

         25  can tell you, by the way, exactly this is the number
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          2  where immigration problems exist, but I can tell

          3  you, especially in Queens County where there is a

          4  large immigrant population, that that is an

          5  underlying problem that is hardest thing, especially

          6  with the woman's reluctance to go forward.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: How many

          8  prosecutions did you have last year in Queens?

          9                 MR. KESSLER: Roughly we are talking

         10  in the range somewhere of about 5,000.

         11                 Last year probably about 5,000,

         12  probably more if you are counting felony, probably

         13  roughly 5,000 misdemeanor arrests on domestic

         14  violence alone.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And what would

         16  the felonies, how many would those be?

         17                 MR. KESSLER: Probably a level of

         18  roughly another thousand.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And Ms. Smith,

         20  when you talked about 13,000 prosecutions, that is

         21  assaults and felonies?

         22                 PROFESSOR SMITH: That is misdemeanors

         23  and felonies, yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I mean

         25  misdemeanors -- that is 19,000 and the Police
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          2  Department reports there were 26,000.

          3                 PROFESSOR SMITH: Yes, Councilwoman,

          4  actually Scott and I were sitting and talking about

          5  that. That number, based on our numbers and also our

          6  contact, and we have extensive contact with our

          7  colleagues in the Bronx and Staten Island, can't be

          8  right.

          9                 And additionally, my 13,000 number

         10  reflects intimate partner arrests, meaning that we

         11  pick up boyfriend, girlfriend,

         12  ex-boyfriend/girlfriend, married, separated,

         13  children in common, et cetera, and elder abuse.

         14                 But that 13,000 for me does not

         15  reflect child abuse arrests, which we are imagining

         16  that 23,000 was. It also doesn't include certain sex

         17  crimes arrests and it does not include misdemeanor

         18  arrests between family members that are like aunt,

         19  uncle, cousins, brothers and sisters because our

         20  domestic violence unit handles basically intimate

         21  partner violence, and not cousins and aunts and

         22  brothers, and I don't know whether -- so if I were

         23  to add those, and not knowing what the 23,490 is, we

         24  would probably be adding I think another 3,000 at

         25  least in Brooklyn to bring us to 16,000 and you said
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          2  you would be adding a significant number so I am not

          3  sure what the 23,490 reflects and I think you would

          4  have to ask them specifically types of cases and who

          5  were the parties.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So maybe we

          7  could do that from the Committee staff.

          8                 I was interested in your refrigerator

          9  story because years ago there was a trial, a second

         10  degree murder trial in Queens, of a woman who was a

         11  victim of domestic violence who killed her batterer,

         12  and the end of the first week of the trial she came

         13  over to me and said, I am not going to be able to

         14  come tomorrow, she was the defendant in this case,

         15  because I have to go to the welfare office to pick

         16  up the check to pay the welfare hotel where my

         17  children and I are. So that is the second story that

         18  reflects the personal impact on families and what

         19  the whole thing -- it is chilling.

         20                 What I am wondering, the people who

         21  come through your system, do they reflect all

         22  economic classes and races and communities? Is there

         23  a distinction?

         24                 MR. KESSLER: In Queens I don't think

         25  you will find a distinction. You know, doing ethnic
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          2  background checks on our defendants and our

          3  complainants, we are finding pretty much a split

          4  among a third African-American, a third Hispanic, a

          5  third white and Indian population being somewhere in

          6  the middle. So, in terms of age background, it will

          7  be anywhere from 16 to 60. I know someone had asked

          8  the question specifically, do we find one particular

          9  age group more than another? I think what we found

         10  is probably you are talking the range of 27 to 31

         11  years old for the age of the defendant is probably

         12  covering the majority of the cases in terms of that

         13  percentage being higher than any other percentage.

         14  But in terms of cases, you know, a 79-year-old

         15  defendant we had yesterday, you know, it varies in

         16  terms of age and especially in terms of background,

         17  how we know that often is that a lot of the programs

         18  will be based on sliding scales on how much a person

         19  can afford and there are some people with wealthy

         20  backgrounds in the county and some people who are on

         21  public assistance.

         22                 So, I don't think you can generalize

         23  in a particular profile of a particular batterer, at

         24  least in Queens.

         25                 PROFESSOR SMITH: In Brooklyn it looks
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          2  more like a bell curve to me. I think there are

          3  about three precincts that probably carry about ten

          4  percent each of the arrests, and then with the

          5  remaining, there are 22 precincts, the remaining

          6  precincts have four to five percent of the arrests,

          7  you know, maybe seven percent for the next ten

          8  precincts and then a smattering four percent in

          9  another and then two percent, so it looks more like

         10  a bell curve to me in Brooklyn.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Do you have any

         12  figures about the number of children that are placed

         13  in ACS custody as a result of the domestic violence?

         14                 MR. KESSLER: I know someone had

         15  mentioned that issue, and I had checked, we have a

         16  grant in Queens County of about approximately 1.2

         17  million that we receive from the state for the

         18  prosecution of domestic violence, and similarly the

         19  part of the grant involved social workers who deal

         20  on the social aspects of it, and prior to coming

         21  here I asked at any point in time if they ever heard

         22  of a case where a woman was arrested because of the

         23  fact that she let the batterer back in endangering

         24  the welfare of those children, which was one of the

         25  subjects someone had talked about before, and they
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          2  have not found any cases where a woman was arrested

          3  for endangering their welfare, merely because she

          4  allowed the batterer back into the home.

          5                 In Brooklyn I am not sure if you have

          6  had a case.

          7                 PROFESSOR SMITH: We haven't either,

          8  but I think the bigger issue and actually the task

          9  force, we were talking about this earlier this year,

         10  to the people in the Brooklyn Domestic Violence Task

         11  Force this actually is the single biggest, most

         12  perplexing issue people are dealing with because a

         13  lot of people are of a lot of different minds on

         14  this topic.

         15                 We don't have any arrest in the area,

         16  but the people who work, the advocates who work with

         17  the women and people from ACS will tell you that

         18  simply having ACS workers show up at your door

         19  because they have heard about a domestic violence

         20  report has the most chilling effect you could

         21  possibly imagine on a victims going forward in any

         22  domestic violence case.

         23                 So I think that that is a very big

         24  problem and it is something we intend to put

         25  together a subcommittee on and start to study.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Hopefully we

          3  will learn more about that on Friday, but how does

          4  an ACS worker hear about a domestic violence

          5  complaint?

          6                 MR. KESSLER: Mandatory reporting is

          7  required to the Police Department and the DAs

          8  offices, hospitals, and precincts. So, for example,

          9  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: You mean when

         11  there is a domestic violence incident report, if an

         12  police officer in response to a call files a

         13  report?

         14                 MR. KESSLER: Well, what happens is,

         15  for example, a child witnesses the, let's say the

         16  male batterer striking his mother, and is witness to

         17  that event, that is a charge now of endangering the

         18  welfare of a child because the courts have held that

         19  someone who strikes their mother, the child's mother

         20  in front of the children, that endangers the

         21  physical, mental and more welfare of a child. Since

         22  that charge is brought, then it is mandatory

         23  reporting for the Police Department and the DAs'

         24  offices to report that incident to say that this

         25  batterer struck his wife in front of their children.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I mean, the

          3  charge has been brought by the woman, so it is when

          4  the police officers, is that what it is, it has to

          5  be a felony, the police officer has to see it? It

          6  has to be an assault, and the police officer has to

          7  see it, he fills out a --

          8                 MR. KESSLER: No.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: How does that

         10  work?

         11                 MR. KESSLER: If, for example, a 911

         12  call comes in and the woman says my husband beat me,

         13  when the police officer is there, he is doing the

         14  investigation, the police officer finds out that,

         15  for example, the child was present, the children

         16  were present and actually saw the incident. Not only

         17  will the officer put them down as witnesses, because

         18  obviously they may be swearable over the age of five

         19  or six, for example, but also the charge of

         20  endangering the welfare of a child is brought upon

         21  the male for striking the female in front of the

         22  children. Once that occurs, the police are mandated

         23  reporters to report the fact that this male batterer

         24  had endangered not only the woman by striking her,

         25  but also the children's mental, what is considered
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          2  mental, or physical or moral welfare, by doing it in

          3  front of the children, and therefore he reports that

          4  to ACS, and that is how ACS hears --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So, that is an

          6  automatic report off of his incident report?

          7                 MR. KESSLER: It is an automatic

          8  report on the arrest that the police officer is

          9  required by law to --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: It has to be an

         11  arrest, it is not an incident report?

         12                 MR. KESSLER: I know about the arrest

         13  cases, I can't tell you what happens on the cases

         14  where there are non-arrests.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: All right,

         16  thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         18                 Council Member Helen Marshall.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Hi. I am

         20  from Queens and so I am aware of your unit and it is

         21  excellent, I can testify to that. I have had to

         22  refer a few people there. And my district is the

         23  21st, which includes Jackson Heights, Elmhurst,

         24  Corona, so you know I have a large immigrant

         25  population, and of course these women are liked into
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          2  their culture which I don't know why all cultures

          3  seem to find a way to dominate us, I don't know. But

          4  at any rate, it happens there.

          5                 One of the areas that I don't ever

          6  hear discussed, along with domestic violence, and I

          7  don't know if really that is the category it should

          8  come under, are the prostitutes.

          9                 Many of these young women come and

         10  they are really victims there, they don't really

         11  choose to be there, their parents make arrangements

         12  with somebody to bring them to America, et cetera,

         13  et cetera, how do you categorize that? Is that a

         14  different category all together?

         15                 MR. KESSLER: Well, I think we are

         16  both the same in that if, for example, a woman who

         17  is a prostitute leaves a child abandoned and the

         18  woman is arrested, not only will the woman be

         19  arrested for prostitution, but she will also be

         20  charged with endangering the welfare, and we, I

         21  think both Brooklyn and ourselves have child abuse

         22  units who handle those type of cases.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Well, I am

         24  not talking about with a child involved.

         25                 MR. KESSLER: Right. Strictly
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          2  speaking, where a woman is arrested for

          3  prostitution, that is not, you know, in Queens

          4  County considered domestic violence because it is

          5  not someone who is an intimate partner or friend

          6  charged with a crime.

          7                 I can tell you, though, that in terms

          8  of referrals that a number of people who are victim

          9  services counselors who work in our office, have

         10  seen a lot of victims of domestic violence being the

         11  male who sort of insists on the woman working as a

         12  prostitute, and we get a lot of referrals that way,

         13  and that is generally how we see it, and try, and

         14  especially in that area there was a number of, a

         15  more famous case of a number of Mexican-Americans

         16  who were deaf, who were selling --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Yes, both of

         18  them were in my district, both of those houses.

         19                 MR. KESSLER: Right. And we were able

         20  to work in terms of, working with the Lexington

         21  School of the Deaf, which brought in interpreters

         22  during the entire incident to try to get these women

         23  in some type of housing and some type of financial

         24  support so they didn't have to continue with it.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: The officers
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          2  that were assigned to those individuals, the deaf

          3  mutes, they actually learned the sign language and

          4  they were attached to them, that was their detail so

          5  they didn't have to encounter strangers all of the

          6  time, right through their stay at one of the local

          7  motels.

          8                 So, just for my clarification, if a

          9  prostitute is arrested, it is just simply a crime,

         10  and it ends there?

         11                 MR. KESSLER: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Now, the

         13  other question I have is the alternative to shelter

         14  program, do we have one in Queens?

         15                 MR. KESSLER: We have one in the three

         16  precincts, I believe Ms. Raiford mentioned the fact

         17  that the Alternative to Shelter Program I believe is

         18  in the 113, 115, I believe 103, and it is run, as

         19  she indicated through HRA, and it does not have to

         20  be based upon an arrest, which is interesting as

         21  well, that a woman could come into those precincts

         22  or be referred by a number of victim advocates and

         23  they have an alternative to shelter program and it

         24  is a pilot project in those three particular

         25  precincts at this point in looking to expand it.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: You said the

          3  115, right?

          4                 MR. KESSLER: I believe the 115 is one

          5  of them.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Yes, that is

          7  one of my precincts, I have the 115 and the 110.

          8  Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

         10  much. We have had many of the advocates who have

         11  been here all morning and now it is 2:00, so I think

         12  we ought to move on so we can get their testimony. I

         13  appreciate both of your testimony, Miss Smith and

         14  Mr. Kessler. Thank you.

         15                 Okay, Council Member Ronnie Eldridge

         16  will now share this part of the meeting.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Okay, guys, I

         18  am sorry it has been so late and that this has taken

         19  so long.

         20                 Mary Haviland, from Urban Justice

         21  Center;  Jill M. Zuccardy, from Sanctuary for

         22  Families; Nadya Rosen and the Client from the Park

         23  Slope Project.

         24                 Did you fill out forms?

         25                 MS. HAVILAND: Yes.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            205

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Okay, we will

          3  get them.

          4                 Thank you. What order are you going

          5  to go?

          6                 MS. ROSEN: I will start.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: You are going

          8  to go first, okay, fine.

          9                 MS. ROSEN: Hi. My name is Nadya

         10  Rosen, I am a caseworker at Park Slope Safe Homes

         11  Project. I work with women in shelters and those

         12  either still living with their batterers or on their

         13  own.

         14                 I don't know if you know anything at

         15  all about Safe Homes, we are a 23-year old agency in

         16  Brooklyn that works with women and their children,

         17  providing individual counseling, support group

         18  advocacy and shelter.

         19                 I am going to be speaking today about

         20  three different clients that I am working with that

         21  all have two things in common: they were domestic

         22  violence victims and they have had poor police

         23  response to their needs.

         24                 The first woman I will be speaking

         25  about is unable to come to these hearings and
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          2  testify herself, because of her fear of her

          3  batterer. She is not able to leave her home until

          4  after he leaves for work, which is around 10:30 or

          5  11:00, and he comes home around 5:00. And her fear

          6  of deportation, which he uses constantly to maintain

          7  his control over her.

          8                 I will be relating her experiences as

          9  she told them to me throughout the time we have been

         10  working together. I will be calling her SB.

         11                 SB is a young, undocumented immigrant

         12  from the Caribbean. Her abusive boyfriend is from

         13  the same country, and he, too, is undocumented. They

         14  live in Brooklyn in her mother's apartment.

         15                 SB has related to me that on numerous

         16  occasions the police have come to her home but have

         17  never arrested her batterer. Either he fled the

         18  premises or he denied her allegations, refused to

         19  leave and the police just simply left.

         20                 On one occasion he told the police

         21  that SB was lying. One officer responded, yes, my

         22  girlfriend does the same thing to me, she is always

         23  making stuff up and calling the cops on me.

         24                 Another police officer told my client

         25  told me that he did not have the authority to remove
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          2  her abuser from the house because he did not see any

          3  physical injury to her, and that being threatened

          4  with a weapon was not serious enough to warrant

          5  arrest.

          6                 SB also related to me that until two

          7  black police officers came to the house, no officer

          8  had ever spoken with her directly, nor given her any

          9  referrals for information regarding support

         10  services.

         11                 SB made contact with the DVPO from

         12  the precinct, and he stated that he would come by

         13  the house periodically to check on the situation. My

         14  client has never seen him, nor has she been able to

         15  reach him at the stationhouse since.

         16                 S.B. no longer believes that the

         17  police are a resource for her, nor does she see them

         18  as an option, even in the most dangerous of

         19  situations.

         20                 SB does not believe the police will

         21  step in and protect her from her abuser. She said

         22  she feels that contacting the police will only put

         23  her in more danger.

         24                 She also does not feel that advocacy

         25  on my part would be helpful, because even if her
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          2  batterer is arrested, when he gets out he will come

          3  for her and hurt her even more.

          4                 S.B. feels completely hopeless about

          5  her situation and does not see much possibility for

          6  change.

          7                 This situation is horrendous.

          8                 S.B. is living every day terrified to

          9  make a move because she knows that no one will come

         10  to her aid.

         11                 The next two women I will be talking

         12  about are also testifying today in some form. I will

         13  be speaking solely about my experiences with the

         14  police as a domestic violence victim advocate, NF.

         15                 N.F. informed me that her batterer

         16  had filed a false complaint against her, and that

         17  she had been informed that she was going to be

         18  arrested.

         19                 On September 4th I called the station

         20  house and spoke to the detective in charge of NF's

         21  complaint. He seemed to be irritated that I wanted

         22  to discuss details about N.F's case with him. He

         23  also seemed uninterested in hearing that the DA was

         24  declining to prosecute.

         25                 At one point in our conversation, I
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          2  reminded the detective that this was a long-term

          3  abusive situation, and that he was aware of that

          4  history and should recognize the allegations against

          5  N.F. as retaliatory and therefore not to arrest her.

          6                 He stated, well, if they would just

          7  grow up and stop filing complaints against each

          8  other, there wouldn't be any arrest situation.

          9                 I was compelled to reply no, if her

         10  abuser would stop his harassment, then she would no

         11  longer file reports and obtain orders of protection

         12  to remain safe.

         13                 As an advocate for battered women, I

         14  define domestic violence every day for service

         15  providers who are uninformed. But the police are not

         16  a group of providers to whom I should be explaining

         17  such rudimentary definitions.

         18                 The blatant disregard by this

         19  detective might have put N.F. through an unnecessary

         20  arrest because he was unwilling to look at the

         21  details and history of the case.

         22                 Without police who are able to

         23  seriously investigate domestic violence cases, how

         24  are women supposed to be protected against their

         25  batter's retaliation.
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          2                 Police officers must look at

          3  allegations in a context and that must include the

          4  history of domestic violence.

          5                 I have one more person I want to

          6  speak about, O.A.

          7                 O.A. was emotionally and physically

          8  abused by her husband throughout their six-year

          9  marriage. In November 1998, O.A. and her mother were

         10  attacked by her husband and his new girlfriend in

         11  the lobby of their building.

         12                 O.A. contacted Park Slope Safe Homes

         13  Project to obtain support services and help

         14  advocating with the police around the rest of the

         15  attackers.

         16                 The Detective on her case was not

         17  looking for either suspect, even though O.A. had

         18  supplied them with photographs, and known addresses

         19  of residence and work for her husband. O.A. did not

         20  know the name of her husband's girlfriend at the

         21  time.

         22                 I began to advocate with the

         23  detective for an immediate arrest of both suspects.

         24                 Additionally, O.A. went to Family

         25  Court to obtain an order of protection, but was told
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          2  at the precinct that they did not serve orders of

          3  protection. O.A. was growing increasingly frustrated

          4  with having to, "continuously push the police to

          5  simply do their job."

          6                 I spoke with numerous officers and

          7  detectives at the precinct to remind them of proper

          8  police procedure, and of their duty to serve OPs.

          9                 Finally, through much advocacy,

         10  O.A.'s husband was arrested and served a Family

         11  Court order of protection.

         12                 Shortly thereafter, the girlfriend,

         13  who was also involved in the attack, the new

         14  girlfriend, filed a cross complaint against O.A. And

         15  her mother. I immediately called the detective on

         16  O.A.'s case to inform them of the identity of the

         17  second assailant in her case was known, and that she

         18  should now be arrested.

         19                 I also spoke with the detective

         20  handling the cross complaint, and informed him of

         21  the situation and the need to share information

         22  regarding this new complaint.

         23                 I also informed him if this was a

         24  retaliatory cross complaint due to O.A.'s husband

         25  being arrested. I shared with him that there was a
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          2  history of abuse, and highlighted for him the timing

          3  of this cross complaint one week after O.A.'s

          4  husband was arrested.

          5                 The detective was dismissive and

          6  uninterested in this information, questioned the

          7  existence of domestic violence and told me simply

          8  that O.A. would be arrested.

          9                 I began working with the Urban

         10  Justice Center, South Brook and Legal Services and

         11  the Kings County D.A.'s office to stop the arrest of

         12  O.A. I spoke with the detective handling the case

         13  who stated that he would like to issue DATs, which

         14  are desk appearance tickets to all three women

         15  involved.

         16                 O.A. was fine with that, but then I

         17  was informed that the lieutenant of the precinct

         18  denied that request and directed him to arrest all

         19  three women, because the police are not allowed to

         20  issue DATs in domestic violence cases.

         21                 I also spoke with Lieutenant Young at

         22  the NYPD DV unit, which Lucia Raiford runs, and

         23  asked him to advocate the arrest of O.A. and her

         24  mother but to no avail.

         25                 O.A. and her mother were arrested
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          2  with the girlfriend approximately one month after

          3  the incident occurred. They were all placed in the

          4  same holding cell and the girlfriend taunted O.A.

          5  and her mother throughout the evening, threatening

          6  to harm them once they were processed, they were all

          7  issued orders of protection and released.

          8                 O.A. said at the time that she wished

          9  she had never pursued the arrest of her husband. Her

         10  husband merely used the police, a new tool, to

         11  continue exerting his power and control over her.

         12                 In March 1999, all four people

         13  involved in the incident received adjournments in

         14  contemplation of dismissal, which means it went

         15  away, and in six months, as long as nothing

         16  happened, it would be off their record.

         17                 When O.A. was attacked, she defended

         18  herself and her mother. Instead of being supported

         19  by the police, they took an active stance against

         20  her by not following correct procedures.

         21                 By not looking at the history of

         22  abuse, the police were unable to see the cross

         23  complaint as retaliatory and therefore did not act

         24  appropriately.

         25                 O.A. sees the police as unhelpful, a
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          2  group of people who do not listen to victims and who

          3  are unable to keep survivors safe from their

          4  abusers.

          5                 She also believes that unless the

          6  victim has a strong advocate helping them, the

          7  police do not even take victims seriously.

          8                 The very notion that I, as an

          9  advocate, had to remind the DVPO of a precinct in

         10  Brooklyn that the police do serve OPs is ludicrous.

         11  At best, officers acknowledge that domestic violence

         12  is a crime, but do little to follow up on arrests.

         13                 At worst, they see victims as over

         14  emotional. Dismissing their concerns and putting

         15  them in further danger.

         16                 Why is it so difficult for batterers

         17  to be arrested? Why do women have to fight so hard

         18  for the police to follow basic procedure? Without

         19  advocacy, the latter two women might not have

         20  received any help, and may have wound up like the

         21  first woman I spoke about, scared for her life and

         22  very much alone.

         23                 I would also like to just read a

         24  statement that my client OA gave to me, she wasn't

         25  able to be here today because she had to work, and
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          2  her name is Onika Asson, there is a separate page

          3  for her.

          4                 I am currently married to my husband

          5  for six years. During this time I experienced

          6  mental, emotional and physical abuse.

          7                 I never reported these incidents

          8  because I didn't feel empowered. Yet the latest

          9  assault incident involved my mother. Seeing my

         10  mother injured and in pain stirred something in me

         11  and I began the process. We made the police reports,

         12  followed it up with an order of protection in Family

         13  Court and later in Criminal Court.

         14                 We both felt confident that the

         15  process would be followed through and justice would

         16  be served.

         17                 Soon we ran into a multitude of

         18  obstacles and ironically from the same people who

         19  were supposed to make this tragic experience easier

         20  on us.

         21                 The detective assigned to the case

         22  was inconsiderate, arrogant, and above all else,

         23  misinformed.

         24                 While seeking assistance to serve our

         25  orders of protection, I was told in a harsh manner
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          2  that I need it to serve it on my batterer, myself,

          3  since the police did not serve orders of protection.

          4                 I pleaded that I feared for my life

          5  and safety and the Family Court gave different

          6  instructions, only to be told that the most he could

          7  do was to have an officer accompany me while I

          8  served the OP.

          9                 I immediately enlisted the aid of my

         10  advocate, thus began a battle with the very person

         11  assigned to protect. In retaliation to having having

         12  been arrested and served with the OP, my husband

         13  implicated my mother and myself for assault, despite

         14  clearly being victims with documents and witnesses

         15  two weeks in advance of my husband's arrest, we were

         16  instantly turned into the criminals without an

         17  investigation of any sort and arrested.

         18                 The process of a woman finally having

         19  the strength to say to her batterer, I won't allow

         20  you to abuse me anymore is a hard enough ordeal for

         21  any survivor of domestic violence.

         22                 After that, the additional degrading,

         23  shameful and unjust ordeal of fighting with

         24  misinformed police and detectives, to assure her own

         25  safety, or having to be arrested innocently and
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          2  forced to be further traumatized with the process of

          3  jail the Criminal Court system.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I am standing

          5  up because I have something wrong with my leg.

          6                 MS. FIORENTINO: Hi. My name is Nancy

          7  Fiortino, and I come before you, not only as a

          8  victim of domestic violence, but a victim of New

          9  York State laws working against upstanding,

         10  respectable citizens.

         11                 I am a single working mother, I have

         12  two great sons. For three years we have been living

         13  our lives in fear.

         14                 I have been threatened, assaulted,

         15  harassed, even stalked. Every time I was attacked or

         16  harassed, I gathered evidence, witnesses, traced

         17  phone calls. I kept all of my police reports, and

         18  medical reports and always reported it to the police

         19  and filed the orders of protection.

         20                 While supposedly under the protection

         21  of a Court Order, I was assaulted and harassed

         22  again. I reported it to the police, who took

         23  anywhere from five days to two weeks to finally make

         24  arrests.

         25                 I believe there were four arrests
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          2  made in three years. One of which went to Criminal

          3  Court, and he was just simply slapped on the wrist.

          4  And the most recent one, why there aren't immediate

          5  arrests in cases like mine with past histories, I

          6  can't even try to understand. But then again, not

          7  only was I amazed that even though I have two young

          8  children to worry about, I would now face the most

          9  humiliating process of my life. Reality would come

         10  to slap me in my face.

         11                 On August 23rd, 1999, my estranged

         12  husband took it a step further. He went to my job.

         13  Fortunately I was transferred to another site. I was

         14  not there when he arrived with his current

         15  girlfriend. When I was not found he started to

         16  threaten my boss. My boss in turn called me and

         17  asked me what he should do. I told him to call the

         18  police. He made that call.

         19                 When the police arrived they found

         20  him ranting and raving, calmed him down. Ironically,

         21  they let him walk away a free man. Again the terror

         22  continued.

         23                 After leaving the premises he started

         24  the threats via telephone to my home. Of course I

         25  filed all of the D.A.'s instructions. I traced the
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          2  phone calls, and then went to file a police report

          3  at my local precinct. The next day I would lose a

          4  day's pay, to sit in Family Court again to obtain an

          5  order of protection because the one I had was

          6  expired. It took me a few days to serve him with the

          7  papers, he had moved and I didn't have a proper

          8  address. However, he was served on August 26th, 1999

          9  by police officers.

         10                 Still not taken in on the charges

         11  pressed, August 23rd.

         12                 On August 27th, without a shred of

         13  evidence he strutted himself into Family Court,

         14  obtained an order of protection against me based on

         15  lies.

         16                 But as outrageous as it were, the

         17  judge granted him the order. My nightmare began on

         18  September 1st, 1999. While in the court room, in

         19  front of the judge, it was told to the judge that

         20  there was a warrant issued for my arrest, and that I

         21  would be spending the holiday weekend down in

         22  central booking. I was amazed and shocked. Knowing I

         23  did nothing to warrant such arrest, I took a deep

         24  breath and I called my local precinct to find out

         25  that I was being investigated, and, yes, that they
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          2  would like me to surrender as soon as possible.

          3                 I kindly asked the detective for a

          4  few days to make arrangements for my children and to

          5  seek aid from advocates, lawyers, friends and

          6  family.

          7                 I sat home and pondered the thought

          8  of how a system can turn against a victim so fast

          9  and so quick. I asked myself how can I be locked up

         10  for something I didn't do. Why didn't they arrest

         11  him with substantial evidence, yet they are

         12  arresting me without any evidence? The advocates and

         13  Legal Aid attorney stayed by my side. I never in

         14  three years of torture reached out to help anyone.

         15                 I was determined to be strong and get

         16  through this under the guidance of laws made by the

         17  people I helped to get into office, but I guess my

         18  government failed me.

         19                 The prosecutor called the detective

         20  and told him he was not going to prosecute me. He

         21  told the detective that it was clearly a retaliatory

         22  effort to have me drop my charges. Again, I stood

         23  strong. On September 4th, I walked into the precinct

         24  ready, willing and able to be charged, knowing in my

         25  heart for my children's sake I could not chicken out
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          2  and drop the charges against this maniac.

          3                 It was not until the detective

          4  interviewed my estranged husband one more time on

          5  the phone that the fool ironically that I am married

          6  to 14 years today, said that he did it to get even

          7  for my filing charges.  And those charges at that

          8  point he was still not arrested for.

          9                 On September 5th, the arrest was

         10  finally made and he is currently in Criminal Court,

         11  the status of the trial I do not know. I consider

         12  myself lucky enough to be raised by a family who is

         13  supportive and independent and strong, and I once

         14  told the detective if it is God's will for me to die

         15  at this man's hands, so be it, but I will not stand

         16  by and allow him to hurt my children.

         17                 This is why I come before you. The

         18  laws must be changed to protect those not fortunate

         19  as myself. What is funny about this whole situation

         20  is even though I was not booked, fingerprinted, or

         21  had a mugshot taken of myself, I am still a prisoner

         22  of New York. I am not allowed to relocate, even

         23  though my children's father gave up visitation. I am

         24  not allowed to move my kids where there is a total

         25  loving family support, a safe, pleasant place to
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          2  live, a place where I could walk outside or even

          3  allow my children to play outside without fearing

          4  the worst.

          5                 I ask you to consider the facts. One

          6  day it may be your daughter or son or even

          7  grandchildren who may need protection, and trust me,

          8  domestic violence is a disease, and it does not

          9  discriminate.

         10                 Thank you for listening to me. I feel

         11  honored to be able to stand before you and speak and

         12  to be before you as a statistic.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Thank you so

         14  much.

         15                 MS. HAVILAND: Hi. My name is Mary

         16  Haviland. Thank you, Nancy, for testifying. I work

         17  with the Urban Justice Center and we actually have

         18  the only hot line in New York City that assists

         19  women who are having trouble getting access to

         20  protection of the Criminal Justice System.

         21                 And as thanks to several of the

         22  members who are sitting in this room that this hot

         23  line exists, because the City Council has voted two

         24  years in a row to fund our hot line, and two years

         25  ago it voted precipitously, rather precipitously to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            223

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  fund our hot line because we were having extreme

          3  difficulties getting funding from other sources.

          4                 I did submit written testimony, I am

          5  going to try to paraphrase it so that I take less

          6  time, and also some of the things that I was going

          7  to present have been covered here. But basically I

          8  direct two programs which I think are relevant to

          9  the hearings today. The first is our Criminal

         10  Justice Help Line, and the second is a program with

         11  the 25 Precinct in East Harlem, which has already

         12  been mentioned by Director Lucia Raiford and by

         13  Council Member Ronnie Eldridge.

         14                 Let me start with some information

         15  about the cases that have come up with our hot line

         16  because I think that when people talk about cases

         17  where women are having difficulties with the police

         18  or with the criminal justice system, there is often

         19  comments made like, oh, these are stories in which

         20  there are two sides, these are extremely difficult

         21  to figure out. So, one of the things that we have

         22  done on our help line is try to analyze some of the

         23  cases that are coming in and try to analyze them

         24  from a policy perspective, and see whether we can

         25  come up with some suggestions that would help avoid
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          2  a situation like Nancy's whom we just heard about.

          3                 In fact, even though our hot line was

          4  set up to deal with problems that emanated from

          5  mandatory arrests, we have found that we get lots of

          6  calls to our hot line, not just about police issues

          7  but about other issues as well, so that we get calls

          8  about Family Court matters, criminal court matters,

          9  the Administration for Children's Services, and

         10  other issues such as housing, shelter, parole,

         11  probation, divorce, public assistance and

         12  immigration problems.

         13                 I call our hot line a help line and I

         14  will alternate between the two, but I call it that

         15  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Excuse me for

         17  one minute, because I didn't realize Ms. Fiorentino

         18  was leaving.

         19                 I thought we would be able to ask you

         20  questions later, but I realize you have been staying

         21  and you are working and you have kids and everything

         22  else. I wanted to thank you very much for coming and

         23  for testifying. Your testimony was very compelling,

         24  and presents to us all of the complications,

         25  including I suppose the divorce and custody cases
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          2  that are not our jurisdiction but the State's but

          3  certainly that have a very close relationship with

          4  domestic violence comments.

          5                 MS. FIORENTINO: I can stay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Okay, that

          7  would be wonderful. Thank you.

          8                 MS. HAVILAND: Do you want to ask your

          9  questions first, before I go?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes. Thank you.

         11                 MS. FIORENTINO: That's okay.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Put your button

         13  on.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am sorry that

         15  we are asking you to stay, I know that this is

         16  taking a day out of your work, and I apologize for

         17  that.

         18                 MS. FIORENTINO: That's okay.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And God bless

         20  you for being willing to do that.

         21                 I am Councilwoman Margarita Lopez.

         22  When I was listening to your testimony and reading

         23  it at the same time, a series of things came into my

         24  mind that I wanted to ask you.

         25                 One, why you are not allowed to
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          2  relocate? Who has been telling you that?

          3                 MS. FIORENTINO: The judge that is

          4  involved in my case, the Judge in Family Court, has

          5  told me that I cannot relocate because the father

          6  has rights, even though he walked into court and

          7  gave up his visitation rights in September. I am

          8  currently working with my attorney to petition the

          9  court for a release, but the judge told me that if I

         10  was to leave before I got that release, that it

         11  would be kidnapping my children. It would be

         12  considered kidnapping them. I am under a 70 mile

         13  restriction, and that 70 miles has to remain in New

         14  York City.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Even when your

         16  life is in danger?

         17                 MS. FIORENTINO: Even when my life is

         18  in danger.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Is this legal,

         20  as far as you know?

         21                 MS. FIORENTINO: Yes. I have my court

         22  papers right here.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay. You also

         24  indicated a series of events in which police

         25  officers encounter this man with orders for arrest,
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          2  but he never was arrested, even in an in occasion

          3  where he received another notification of a

          4  protection from you and not even at that time he is

          5  arrested?

          6                 MS. FIORENTINO: Right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Do you know

          8  what the explanation for that was?

          9                 MS. FIORENTINO: They said they were

         10  waiting. They were giving him time. They were going

         11  to arrest him Labor Day weekend, it wasn't made.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Do you by any

         13  chance know who these police officers were, the

         14  names, the precincts where they are?

         15                 MS. FIORENTINO: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I would love to

         17  know that. I would love to know, because I will

         18  begin writing many letters to those people, to find

         19  out why they violated police procedures.

         20                 MS. FIORENTINO: They said that they

         21  had to give him time to prepare to be arrested.

         22  There was no physical assault, it was harassment, it

         23  was stalking.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Do you know the

         25  names of these police officers? Does the agencies

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            228

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  that work with you know the names of these police

          3  officers, the precinct that was in charge of this

          4  situation?

          5                 MS. FIORENTINO: Yes, we do.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You do? I would

          7  like to keep in contact with you, if you can call my

          8  office, I would like to intervene on this.

          9                 MS FIORENTINO: Sure.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And I would

         11  appreciate that.

         12                 My name is Margarita Lopez, 614-8751.

         13                 Did you ever get to report this

         14  treatment that was given to you by the supervisors

         15  of this police officer?

         16                 MS. FIORENTINO: Yes, I have.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You did. Do you

         18  know the names of the supervisors too?

         19                 MS. FIORENTINO: Yes, I do.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I would like to

         21  get all of that information.

         22                 I appreciate your cooperation, and I

         23  thank you.

         24                 MS. FIORENTINO: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Helen Marshall.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: You heard

          3  the testimony of the two Assistant District

          4  Attorneys who are dealing, one in Brooklyn and one

          5  in Queens, with domestic violence; have you ever

          6  contacted their office for help?

          7                 MS. FIORENTINO: I have been in

          8  contact with the District Attorney many a times.

          9                 As a matter of fact, they are

         10  prosecuting him -- yesterday they were going in to

         11  show just evidence for a case that is now pending in

         12  Criminal Court about this action.

         13                 I haven't got any notification as to

         14  what happened yesterday and where the case is going.

         15  So, right now they are working on prosecuting him

         16  and I just don't know what is happening.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: I mean, the

         18  specific unit, because you know, we get, women come

         19  into our offices who have these problems, those

         20  specific units can sort of short circuit some of the

         21  red tape and nonsense that you go through.

         22                 The lady who is from the Brooklyn

         23  Office can help to expedite your case and help you,

         24  and that is who I was talking about.

         25                 MS. FIORENTINO: Well, I am working

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            230

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  with a District Attorney in domestic violence.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Okay.

          4                 MS. FIORENTINO: If that is the same

          5  unit.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Okay. Is it,

          7  Ronnie?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Okay, thank

         10  you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I just want to

         12  know how you sat still during the Police

         13  Department's testimony if in fact your experience so

         14  different? We do have a representative still here

         15  from the Police Department, and I would hope that

         16  you guys will look into this, because we are hearing

         17  now of attitudes from supervisory personnel, as well

         18  as officers.

         19                 MS. FIORENTINO: The prosecutor called

         20  the police officer, called the detective and told

         21  him he was not going to prosecute, there was no

         22  reason to make an arrest. And this detective turned

         23  around to me and told me, I am mandated to make an

         24  arrest, and I don't care who you have to calling

         25  here, he said I am going to make the arrest.
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          2                 And it wasn't until he interviewed by

          3  ex-husband on the phone again that he turned around

          4  and he said I did it because she had a case pending

          5  against me, and he wanted me to drop the charges.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Who here is

          7  from the Police Department?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: How do you

          9  respond to this?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Will you please

         11  take her name and her case and follow up on it?

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 MS. FIORENTINO: Thank you.

         15                 MS. HAVILAND: What I was saying was

         16  that we have a Help, I called our hot line a Help

         17  Line because it operates Monday through Friday 9:00

         18  to 5:00, it is not a 24-hour operation. I wish I had

         19  funds to be able to fund the 24-hour operation, but

         20  I don't.

         21                 Our Help Line is supervised by an

         22  attorney so that we are able to offer in-depth

         23  information, legal advocacy support and case

         24  management.

         25                 We received in 1997 and 1998 about
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          2  500 phone calls to our hot line. In 1998, about 275

          3  of these calls were new calls, and as I said before

          4  we receive calls on police issues, Family Court

          5  issues, Criminal Court, Administration for

          6  Children's Services and other legal-related issues.

          7                 We analyzed our police cases because

          8  we are one of the centers in New York City that

          9  received a lot of calls from women like Nancy who

         10  either are about to be or have been arrested among

         11  other problems. And so we wanted to make some policy

         12  suggestions, in order to avoid these cases.

         13                 As you can see the kind of

         14  devastation that they generate for a battered woman

         15  is very difficult to watch.

         16                 And when we did tally our cases, we

         17  actually found that the police issues that were

         18  raised on our hot line, with most frequency was not

         19  the arrest of victims but it was failure to arrest

         20  when an arrest was required under New York City

         21  policy.

         22                 And I am going to list the problems

         23  that come into our hot line in descending order:

         24                 Failure to arrest when an arrest is

         25  required, was number one. And it tied with victims
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          2  lacking information about NYPD policies regarding

          3  domestic violence.

          4                 The third most frequent problem was

          5  the arrest of victims as a result of a false or

          6  exaggerated complaint, like in Nancy's case, filed

          7  by a perpetrator. And we find that these cases,

          8  these complaints are often triggered by steps taken

          9  by a victim to protect herself or her children as in

         10  Nancy's case she was trying to prosecute. In other

         11  cases it is a woman trying to pursue a support

         12  action or a divorce or an order of protection.

         13                 The fourth most prevalent problem was

         14  dual arrest, meaning both parties arrested on the

         15  scene. The fifth most prominent was a refusal to

         16  assist when required by New York City police policy

         17  with such needs as service of Family Court orders of

         18  protection, accompaniment to the home to recover

         19  belongings and those kinds of issues.

         20                 And the sixth most common problem

         21  presented on our hot line was victims whose

         22  perpetrator had been arrested but the victims did

         23  not want the perpetrator arrested.

         24                 So, despite the statutes requiring

         25  arrest in most domestic violence situations, not
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          2  making arrests when police policies require remains

          3  a problem affecting battered women in New York City.

          4                 I included in the back of my

          5  testimony a chart like this which I thought would be

          6  helpful to people. I actually did this for a

          7  proposal for funding. If you will notice the graph

          8  has 1993 statistics on it that come from Behind

          9  Closed Doors, an extremely helpful report that was

         10  prepared by Ronnie Eldridge and past Borough

         11  President Ruth Messinger, and the 1993 statistics

         12  are pre-mandatory arrest statistics, and then I

         13  listed four years or five years after that 1995,

         14  '96, '97, '98, '99 with a number of DIRs, radio

         15  runs, family-related arrests and violations of

         16  orders of protection. It is attached to the

         17  testimony that I gave you. And I think it is quite

         18  interesting that that arrests have gone up

         19  dramatically in New York City since the passage of

         20  mandatory arrests. But we still are getting calls to

         21  our hot line indicating that non-arrest is a

         22  problem.

         23                 The other interesting thing about

         24  this chart is that family-related radio runs are

         25  down quite significantly in New York City and I
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          2  think that is because of the role of the DVPOs and

          3  the precincts in that women are feeling much freer

          4  to go into the precincts and talk to the DVPOs and

          5  file complaints that way, rather than calling 911.

          6                 In the non-arrest cases on our hot

          7  line, what we find is most often the problem is that

          8  the perpetrator wasn't there on the scene and so the

          9  case is referred to the detective and then it falls

         10  through the cracks.

         11                 I want to just highlight the problem

         12  of arrests because even though I said that arrests

         13  was the third in our problem category, actually if

         14  you combine dual arrests and retaliatory arrests on

         15  our hot line, we found that 38 percent of our

         16  clients were about to be or had been arrested, and

         17  we tried to look at these two different kinds of

         18  cases to see what might be done from a policy

         19  perspective. So, first I just want to point out that

         20  in dual arrests, dual arrests are the situation

         21  where a police officer goes into the home and there

         22  are cross allegations between the parties that each

         23  committed a crime and the police officer there on

         24  the spot has to figure out who should be arrested.

         25                 Retaliatory arrest is something that
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          2  happens after the fact, is often generated by a

          3  complaint by somebody who walks into the precinct or

          4  calls the precinct. So there are two different kinds

          5  of situations and the primary physical aggressor

          6  statute was passed in order to deal with dual

          7  arrests, but not retaliatory arrests.

          8                 In fact, retaliatory arrests was more

          9  of a problem if we look at our statistics to our hot

         10  line in 1998.

         11                 But let me talk about dual arrests

         12  for a second. What we tried to do was look at all of

         13  our dual arrest cases and analyze them from the

         14  perspective of primary physical aggressor, and if

         15  that had been done on the scene, would a dual arrest

         16  have taken place?

         17                 And so, we looked at our cases to see

         18  whether the cases fit the factors that you are

         19  supposed to look at when there are cross allegations

         20  on the scene. So, those factors are prior abuse,

         21  whether any person has threatened to harm another

         22  person, what the nature of the injuries are and how

         23  they compare and whether the pattern of injury

         24  indicates self defense. And what we found was that

         25  first of all, as a threshold question, 84 percent of
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          2  our dual arrest situations did fit the statute in

          3  terms of family definition and the crime committed.

          4                 We found that 92 percent of our

          5  clients had a prior history of abuse, 62 percent had

          6  a documented history at the time of the incident.

          7                 In evaluating the injuries, our

          8  client was injured in 70 percent of the cases and in

          9  the five cases in which the perpetrator claimed an

         10  injury four victims admitted to causing the injury

         11  through self defense.

         12                 Thus, in more than 60 percent of our

         13  dual arrest cases, factors were present which would

         14  indicate who was the primary physical aggressor when

         15  the arrest of the victim took place.

         16                 Now I want to analyze our retaliatory

         17  arrest statistics in sort of the same way.

         18                 We put our retaliatory cases through

         19  the same sort of grind of whether they would have

         20  met primary physical aggressor factors, and we found

         21  that in our retaliatory arrest cases, in 63 percent

         22  the relationship of the party and the crime charge

         23  qualified. So, fewer qualified than in dual arrest.

         24                 We found that in almost all of our

         25  retaliatory arrest cases there was a prior history
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          2  of abuse. I think it was 97 percent. And 63 percent

          3  of those callers who had had an arrest like Nancy's,

          4  63 percent already possessed an order of protection

          5  at the time that the complaint was filed, and 76

          6  percent possessed a documented history of domestic

          7  violence.

          8                 In only 14 percent of the cases the

          9  other intimate party also had an order of protection

         10  or some sort of documentation of a history of

         11  violence.

         12                 What we are finding is that Nancy's

         13  story is not that unusual in the sense that her

         14  abuser had walked into Family Court, told a set of

         15  lies and then received an ex parte order of

         16  protection. That is not that unusual, and if a guy

         17  walks into the precinct with an order of protection

         18  in his hand and says my wife did the following, the

         19  police are going to take pause for a second because

         20  he is holding this order of protection. So, we did

         21  find in our retaliatory cases that 14 percent of the

         22  perpetrators, and I do want to be careful of

         23  language because only on a couple of occasions have

         24  we felt that the women who called us were actually

         25  committing crimes for which they should have been
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          2  arrested, in the vast majority of the cases women

          3  who were calling us were victims, clearly victims of

          4  domestic violence with a long prior history, a

          5  serious prior history and I have statistics on that

          6  but I didn't want to bore you with all of that. The

          7  vast majority, I would say 95 to 97 percent are

          8  cases in which women are victims of domestic

          9  violence where the legal system is being used as a

         10  tool of manipulation or control through the arrest

         11  process.

         12                 Interestingly, we noticed a pattern

         13  on our staff of the kinds of allegations that

         14  perpetrators tend to make in precincts, and this was

         15  borne out by our statistics, 42 percent of the

         16  complaints that perpetrators made in these

         17  retaliatory arrests were complaints about harassing

         18  phone calls, and 23 percent of the injuries were

         19  things like scratches.

         20                 So, the injuries were quite

         21  characteristic of that particular situation.

         22                 About a year ago, I calculated from

         23  my knowledge of how many cases there are that are

         24  going to the DA's offices in New York City. I also

         25  Chair a Citywide Committee on Criminal Justice
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          2  issues in New York City and I do have access to some

          3  of the information that the DAs have, and I

          4  calculated that there were about 1,900 dual arrests

          5  citywide in October of 1998. I think there are as

          6  many or maybe more retaliatory arrests, which means

          7  that there probably are about 4,000 victims of

          8  domestic violence, and I am being extremely

          9  conservative here, 4,000 victims of domestic

         10  violence who are being arrested every year in New

         11  York City. If you compare that to the arrests in my

         12  little chart here of 25,000 arrests in 1999, 4,000

         13  out of 25,000 is a fairly large number, it works out

         14  to be about 15 percent. It is, in my opinion, too

         15  high.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: If you add that

         17  to Brooklyn and

         18  Queens arrests then there are no other arrests any

         19  place else in the City.

         20                 MS. HAVILAND: I can't explain the

         21  disparity in terms of the statistics about what

         22  prosecutors are prosecuting, because there aren't

         23  that many prosecuted cases that are not generated by

         24  arrests, so I don't understand why the prosecution's

         25  statistics should add up to police statistics and I
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          2  don't understand why there would be a difference.

          3                 There have been a few initiatives to

          4  try to push down these victim arrests, and one that

          5  hasn't been mentioned here which I think should be

          6  mentioned, what I think was very important, was they

          7  did a series of COMSTAT meetings within the Police

          8  Department in early 1999 and basically the DA's did

          9  part of the training and the Chief of Department did

         10  part of the training and said we don't like the

         11  cross complaints that are coming up in the DAs'

         12  offices and we want to put a stop to them and this

         13  is what you need to do in cross complaint

         14  situations. And I think we did see, we have seen, as

         15  Lisa testified, we have seen an amelioration of

         16  perhaps a dropping of the numbers of victim arrests.

         17                 The other thing that they did, and I

         18  am sorry that Lucia didn't bring it, because they

         19  did, the Police Department did an excellent video on

         20  primary physical aggressors, where they showed a

         21  woman basically being arrested when she slapped her

         22  husband in the middle of an argument, and they

         23  turned that whole situation around so that she was

         24  released, the arrest was voided and he was arrested.

         25                 So, the Police Department is trying
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          2  in some measure to deal with this in a training way,

          3  but it has to filter down further.

          4                 I have a list of recommendations that

          5  are on page five of my testimony. I don't want to

          6  just read through them because everybody is tired

          7  and hungry, but I would like to just mention that I

          8  have had a very interesting experience running this

          9  program with the 25 precinct in East Harlem in El

         10  Bario, and I want to put a plug in for victims

         11  services and legal advocacy and support to battered

         12  women in their communities through the police. We

         13  would not have had access to all of the victims of

         14  domestic violence that we do have access to in El

         15  Bario if it weren't for this police program. What we

         16  do is we get their names and numbers and we call

         17  them and offer assistance.

         18                 Sixty percent of these women have

         19  never talked to a domestic violence service before

         20  in their lives, most of them do not want criminal

         21  justice involvement, they want other kinds of

         22  solutions to the violence in their lives, they don't

         23  want an arrest made, they want to go to Family

         24  Court, they want to go to counseling or they want to

         25  relocate on their own or figure it out on their own,
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          2  and I think our services are really, really helpful

          3  to them and their communities.

          4                 And the second chart that I included

          5  in my testimony, actually we just got in the last

          6  couple of weeks to show that the arrests in the 25

          7  precinct are up astronomically as compared to the

          8  rest of Manhattan, and that is because I think we

          9  are an advocacy-based organization, our advocates

         10  are located not in the precinct, but outside the

         11  precinct in community-based programs, one is a

         12  Latino program for battered women called violence

         13  intervention program, the other was on the west side

         14  called St. Luke's Crime Victims Treatment Center. We

         15  try to work from a client-oriented perspective, but

         16  we work cordially and respectfully with the police

         17  station, with the police precinct and I think this

         18  combination's collaborative effort has been very

         19  successful to increase arrests, and I also know

         20  anecdotally through the Manhattan DA's Office that

         21  we are having quite a substantial impact on the

         22  conviction of cases, on the conviction rate of cases

         23  from the 25 Precinct, but I am not at liberty to

         24  release those statistics right now.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you. Can
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          2  I just ask you two questions?

          3                 MS. HAVILAND: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And then

          5  Council Member Lopez has two questions.

          6                 Are you funded for the full year for

          7  the hot line?

          8                 MS. HAVILAND: The City Council

          9  allocated in its budget in June $25,000 to the hot

         10  line that was less than last year. We had requested

         11  $75,000, allocated $25,000 to our hot line. We need

         12  a minimum of 50 to get through the year, so we are

         13  not. Nor is the precinct program fully funded for my

         14  next contract year, it is half funded at this point.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: What program?

         16                 MS. HAVILAND: The precinct program.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Oh, I was going

         18  to ask you, where is that funded through? The City

         19  Council?

         20                 MS. HAVILAND: That is funded through

         21  the STOP grants, through the State STOP grants. And

         22  I have been, myself and several other programs,

         23  including the violence prevention program, have met

         24  with Katie Lapp from DCJS to try to encourage her to

         25  try to think about creating a pool of funding for
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          2  criminal justice programs, because there is no pool

          3  for criminal justice programs for domestic violence

          4  victims at this point.

          5                 There are pools of money for shelter

          6  services, and non-residential services, and things

          7  like that, but there is no pool of money for

          8  criminally justice-based programs, for victims of

          9  domestic violence. I think very highly of the work

         10  that the DAs and the police are doing in New York

         11  City at this point, but it is not a replacement for

         12  money to the advocate non-profit community and I am

         13  afraid that trend is sort of, is mounting, that we

         14  are funding government institutions to do domestic

         15  violence but it is not a replacement for

         16  advocacy-based organizations.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         18                 Council Member.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I have a

         20  question for Nydia Rosen.

         21                 MS. HAVILAND: She left actually.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: She left, okay.

         23                 I don't know if you can answer this

         24  question, but according to the information that I

         25  have been seeing from each one of you --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: She is going to

          3  testify, so why don't we let her testify; is that

          4  all right?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Why don't you

          7  go on.

          8                 MS. ZUCCARDY: My name is Jill

          9  Zuccardy, and I am an attorney working at the Center

         10  for Battered Women's Legal Services, which is

         11  located within Sanctuary for Families, a large

         12  social service provider for domestic violence

         13  victims, and much of what I had hoped to bring

         14  before the committees today has been covered and I

         15  won't repeat it and read my testimony verbatim, but

         16  there are a few points that I would like to

         17  reiterate or make fresh.

         18                 First, Council Member Leffler, I

         19  wanted to respond to something that came up during

         20  Lucia Raiford Davis' testimony which was the comment

         21  that -- well, first of all, I noted that they used

         22  statistics in the Police Department, usually they

         23  release statistics when, really when they are only

         24  going to serve their interests, and I have been

         25  having a lot of trouble getting statistics from them
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          2  and I know there were some questions posed about

          3  what precincts, what is going on in individual

          4  precincts that those questions were neatly avoided.

          5                 But in terms of the homicide rate,

          6  the testimony was that in 70 percent of the cases of

          7  which there was a domestic violence homicide, that

          8  there was no record of police, prior police

          9  involvement, and I think NYPD uses that as a way of

         10  saying there is nothing we can do about it. But I

         11  will note that in the cases of both Ms. Short, whose

         12  two sons were murdered, and in the Fitzgerald

         13  murders, both of those cases there was anecdotal

         14  evidence from relatives that they had tried to get

         15  the police involved, but the police have no record

         16  of the involvement. So, I am merely saying that in

         17  70 percent of the homicides there is no attempt to

         18  get police involvement. It doesn't mean there was

         19  not attempt to get police involvement.

         20                 We have two examples where attempts

         21  were made by the -- you know, the newspapers have

         22  reported quite credibly that attempts to get police

         23  help were made. This is particularly true in cases

         24  where the officer is the abuser, it makes perfect

         25  sense that there is no paper record of a complaint
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          2  made against a fellow officer. So I don't think that

          3  we can just stop and say, oh, well, they didn't try

          4  to get help, there is nothing we could have done. I

          5  wanted to make that point.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It is a good

          7  lawyer's point.

          8                 MS. ZUCCARDY: Thank you.

          9                 I wanted to also point out that in

         10  Nancy's case, Nancy who testified previously, her

         11  result came about with excellent advocacy and legal

         12  representation, and I would like you to just imagine

         13  what the result might have been had she not had the

         14  assistance of Park Slope Safe Homes and Brooklyn

         15  Legal Services.

         16                 Another statistic that I find NYPD

         17  uses at times to justify their statement that they

         18  are improving their police response to domestic

         19  violence, is that the number of arrests in domestic

         20  violence cases has gone up dramatically. And as you

         21  have heard today, and I will reiterate this, arrests

         22  of women in domestic violence cases have gone up

         23  dramatically and those numbers are included in the

         24  general numbers.

         25                 In the limited data that I had been
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          2  able to collect from NYPD, in the period from 1993

          3  to 1997, arrests of women on domestic violence

          4  charges increased more than 70 percent. So, included

          5  within the statement that arrests and domestic

          6  violence cases are going up is arrests of women on

          7  wrongful arrests or retaliatory arrests. So, it

          8  doesn't, the inquiry can't just stop at the number

          9  of arrests, we have to find out who is being

         10  arrested and under what circumstances. And it

         11  troubles me greatly that it is just sort of, we are

         12  arresting a lot of people, therefore we must be

         13  doing a good job, when what I am seeing is that

         14  women are being arrested.

         15                 I don't think that these increased

         16  arrests are suddenly because women are abusing men

         17  in record numbers, or that suddenly domestic

         18  violence against men is so underreported and then

         19  now suddenly is being addressed.

         20                 We are seeing an increased

         21  sophistication on the part of batterers in terms of

         22  their use of the criminal justice system, and the

         23  police, to further threaten and control their

         24  victims and it is incredibly troubling, and I view

         25  it as the single greatest problem right now in the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            250

          1  GENERAL WELFARE, PUBLIC SAFETY, WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  area of police response to domestic violence, is the

          3  issue of wrongful arrest of women.

          4                 One of the responses that i have

          5  heard, and I have heard this quite often from

          6  members of NYPD, both civilian and uniformed

          7  personnel, is that they have to arrest the woman

          8  because of mandatory arrest law and they will just

          9  let the court sort it out later. And I think that

         10  this is both purposeful, it is a purposeful

         11  misinterpretation of the mandatory arrest law.

         12                 I think that the mandatory arrest law

         13  contemplates an arrest where there is probable cause

         14  to believe a crime has been committed.

         15                 In Nancy's case, for example, there

         16  was no probable cause to believe a crime had been

         17  committed. The District Attorney found that there

         18  was no probable cause to pursue a prosecution, and

         19  yet, the detective just kept saying to her,

         20  mandatory arrest, mandatory arrest, and this to me

         21  seems like a purposeful misapplication of the

         22  mandatory arrest law, to sort of punish women who

         23  are really bothering police with their complaints.

         24                 I think that one of the problems with

         25  that approach, which is, you know, we should have to
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          2  deal with this, we will just arrest everybody and

          3  let the court sort it out, is that there is a total

          4  lack of understanding on the part of NYPD personnel

          5  as to the cost of a mistaken arrest, and the cost to

          6  a woman of a wrongful arrest.

          7                 There is the immediate cost, the

          8  immediate results, the trauma of the arrest and the

          9  incarceration, and for you or for me I would find an

         10  arrest and incarceration barely tolerable, maybe by

         11  the fact that I knew I could fight in the criminal

         12  justice system and justice might ultimately be

         13  served. But for a victim of domestic violence to be

         14  arrested and incarcerated for up to 24 hours, that

         15  is inhuman on a wrongful arrest charge, and NYPD

         16  must, must, must take more steps to assure they are

         17  not making these arrests. It is not sufficient to

         18  just say we must arrest under the mandatory arrest

         19  law and we will let the courts figure it out.

         20                 The fact of a wrongful arrest really

         21  perpetuates the cycle of violence. She has been told

         22  for years by her batterer likely, she has likely

         23  been told for years by her batterer that he controls

         24  the system, she can't win, there is nothing she can

         25  do, and the fact of this arrest, even if the charges
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          2  are subsequently dismissed, the facts of this arrest

          3  and this trauma, is devastating upon this woman, and

          4  will certainly impact her future ability to access

          5  services.

          6                 It takes an extremely strong woman,

          7  even with many advocates supporting her, to continue

          8  to go forward and fight the abuse when she, herself,

          9  has been subjected to an arrest.

         10                 Also, victims of domestic violence

         11  are overwhelmingly the primary caretakers and

         12  custodial parents of their children, and the fact of

         13  a wrongful arrest, again, even if it is straightened

         14  out later, sorted out later, is very traumatic for

         15  the children.

         16                 Frequently the arrest is made in the

         17  presence of the child. I had a client who was

         18  arrested around 9:00 at night on a dual arrest

         19  charge, actually, and her ten-year-old child -- she

         20  called me from central booking at 5:00 a.m. when she

         21  was able to use the phone and asked me to call her

         22  son. And I called him at 5:00 a.m., and his

         23  grandmother said he had been sitting by the phone

         24  all night. He picked up the phone and he said, "is

         25  she free yet? Is she free yet?" And you know,
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          2  subsequently she was freed and subsequently the

          3  charges against her were dropped, but I can tell you

          4  for the past six months, he will say to me with this

          5  sort of nonchalance that is very effected and very

          6  put on, you know, what would happen to me if my

          7  mother couldn't take care of me? Who would take care

          8  of me if something happened? And I know that this

          9  experience of watching her be arrested has stayed

         10  with him, and I think that incavalierly dismissing

         11  the problem of wrongful arrest by saying Criminal

         12  Court will sort it out later, the Police Department

         13  is failing to understand the immediate impact on the

         14  women, and very significantly, upon her children.

         15                 If the wrongful arrest is not

         16  straightened out quickly, the Criminal Court will

         17  almost automatically issue an order of protection in

         18  favor of the abuser and against the victim, you

         19  know, who is now the defendant. Very frequently, and

         20  I have some examples in my testimony, which I won't

         21  read into the record, but which I urge you to read,

         22  the Criminal Court will issue an order of protection

         23  which excludes her from her home and her children,

         24  almost in the kneejerk response to the charges made.

         25  So unless the front-line officers really look at the
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          2  charges, it could be some time before somebody

          3  really sits down and looks at the case and decides

          4  whether or not arrest was proper, whether or not

          5  there was probable cause to believe a crime was

          6  committed, or whether or not there is going to be a

          7  prosecution.

          8                 And in the meantime, and I can't tell

          9  you how many cases this occurs, and this is not

         10  isolated, women have orders of protection issued

         11  against them all the time after a wrongful arrest

         12  that exclude them from their own home and keep them

         13  from their children.

         14                 So this is another cost of the

         15  mistake, of the wrongful arrest.

         16                 There is -- frequently the wrongful

         17  arrest starts a domino effect as in this situation.

         18                 Third, wrongful arrests can also

         19  wreck havoc on a battered woman's ability to

         20  maintain her employment or to obtain employment and

         21  may lead to deportation or the threat of deportation

         22  if she is trying to regularize her immigration

         23  status.

         24                 Many battered women for whom economic

         25  freedom is essential, if they are to escape the
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          2  abuser, are holding on to their jobs by a thread,

          3  having to make excuses for missing work when they

          4  are injured, having to explain actions of their

          5  batterer who may call them frequently at work or

          6  show up on the job, and this last straw of arrest,

          7  even if it is later proven, the charges are later

          8  dismissed, the last straw of an arrest can cause her

          9  to lose her job.

         10                 I have a couple of recommendations.

         11  Again, it is a little difficult without having all

         12  of the data to know exactly where all the problems

         13  are, but I think increased training about the

         14  dynamics of domestic violence is essential.

         15                 I was happy to hear that Council

         16  Member Quinn will be getting the training curriculum

         17  for the domestic violence training done by the

         18  officers and I am going to certainly contact her

         19  office and ask to look at that. They should include

         20  and they must include advocates and survivors in the

         21  training. That is the only way that the personnel,

         22  the front line personnel are going to understand

         23  what is going on out there.

         24                 As I said earlier, there must be a

         25  thoughtful application of the mandatory arrest law.
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          2  Enough is enough, it no longer can be sufficient for

          3  an officer just to say I must address, I must

          4  arrest. There has to be a thoughtful application,

          5  similar to the primary aggressor assessment that is

          6  required when officers respond to a domestic crime

          7  scene.

          8                 And within the precincts there must

          9  be better communication about problems within the

         10  family. I was glad to hear that they can look up the

         11  domestic violence incident reports within the

         12  precinct. It is not my experience that they

         13  generally do look them up, never mind looking them

         14  up citywide. So there must be better communication,

         15  and, again, there are examples in my testimony where

         16  communication was non-existent.

         17                 I have actually had cases where the

         18  domestic violence officer is upstairs pleading with

         19  the detective not to arrest a woman, and he says,

         20  hey, I have determined that a crime has been

         21  committed and the domestic violence officer is

         22  trying to explain the history and the arrest is made

         23  anyway. And there has to be a better communication

         24  and a respect amongst the domestic violence officers

         25  working with the other officers to share information
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          2  and make these assessments before making these

          3  arrests.

          4                 I would be happy to answer any

          5  questions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: You heard Lisa

          7  Smith from Brooklyn talk about the program they are

          8  working on, do you think that is an efficient and

          9  effective program?

         10                 MS. ZUCCARDY: Lisa Smith runs a

         11  wonderful program. I wish that every office was as

         12  responsive and dedicated as hers.  I think that

         13  there is a real resources problem. I will say that

         14  Brooklyn, in my experience, day-to-day experience is

         15  the most responsive of the boroughs in terms of DA

         16  assistants and being willing to pick up the phone

         17  and call the precincts and things like that. So, I

         18  support her efforts, she runs a good ship over

         19  there.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         21                 Do you have any questions?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

         23                 My concern is, I have been listening

         24  to person after person to say things about police

         25  officers not following procedures, at the level of
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          2  the individual who goes to intervene, and I also see

          3  that it is a series of protocols in place,

          4  regulations in place, laws in place, things that

          5  every individual that works for that particular

          6  department that is supposed to implement this law is

          7  supposed to follow. And what I see is that all of

          8  the procedures, our laws are very good, but then

          9  they are not implemented, therefore, the guilty

         10  party, as what I have been seeing from everybody

         11  testifying, is that police officer who had to

         12  intervene with that situation, and I want to ask you

         13  is any method that you have in your instructions

         14  where you work, that take care of reporting these

         15  police officers who are not following procedures? Is

         16  there any system that you have in place for that?

         17                 MS. HAVILAND: Perhaps I can answer

         18  that. We do have a system. I work very closely with

         19  Lucia Raiford, but we also do tell her when there

         20  are problems arising in the field, and we do have a

         21  system of writing up cases and reporting cases when

         22  there have been particularly egregious facts to the

         23  case. So that her office gets notified that an

         24  officer said the following or an arrest was made,

         25  despite the fact that we really believe he really
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          2  didn't have probable cause to make an arrest.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But be more

          4  specific on what that means. Because, I mean after

          5  hearing the testimony of Ms. Fiorentino, is her last

          6  name?

          7                 MS. HAVILAND: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I mean,

          9  honestly, I don't know for what we legislate.

         10                 MS. HAVILAND: Well, I think that it

         11  was very telling that no one on the committees could

         12  seem to get a real answer about what discipline an

         13  officer is subjected to if he mishandles a domestic

         14  violence case. In the agency that I work and in

         15  other agencies similar to mine, we try to follow

         16  through with our cases and to report officers.

         17                 I almost always go up the chain, but

         18  a new emergency crosses the desk, you know, and a

         19  new officer is mishandling a case and we don't get

         20  to follow up to the degree that we would like.

         21                 I have not found the police personnel

         22  to be particularly responsive and when I do make a

         23  complaint to Lucia, I never know what the outcome of

         24  the complaint is.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Madam Chair,
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          2  maybe it is time to bring this complaint to the

          3  police brutality aspect, because this is reaching --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  A proportion

          6  of me understanding that the victim is brutalized by

          7  the actions of a police officer who decides to take

          8  the power, a power that is given to him or to her to

          9  befriend this person being abused, and then take the

         10  power to turn it around. And it sounds to me more

         11  that I hear like police brutality to a certain

         12  degree, and I don't want to equate it to that, but

         13  it sounds like something that should be looked at by

         14  the independent body of the panel, and begin looking

         15  into the question of police officers who do not

         16  follow through regulations in regard to this,

         17  because indeed what they are doing is allowing the

         18  violation of the law to continue and to become part

         19  of the violation of the law against these people. Am

         20  I taking this correctly?

         21                 MS. HAVILAND: Yes. I would like to

         22  second, actually, Lisa Smith's suggestion that there

         23  be a program that is centered on dealing with these

         24  arrests, and that there be an officer -- Lucia did

         25  have an officer who was the highest ranking police
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          2  officer, domestic violence police officer whose name

          3  was inspector Ed Young who has now been relocated.

          4  He was only in her office for one year.

          5                 We found him enormously helpful on

          6  these cases because he could -- he couldn't be

          7  helpful in the 100 percent, but he could be helpful

          8  in about 70 or 80 percent, because he could give the

          9  police officers cover if they had to spend overtime,

         10  if they had to do investigation, if they were going

         11  to decide not to make an arrest when -- the captains

         12  of the precincts are less well versed in domestic

         13  violence than some of their own officers are, and so

         14  a DVPO may want to do all of that investigation so

         15  that they are not later accused of not making an

         16  arrest when they should have made an arrest.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But wait.

         18  According to the testimony that I hear here, this is

         19  not about not being educated about the issue. The

         20  gross information that I hear here is about

         21  misconduct.

         22                 MS. HAVILAND: Well, you know,

         23  perpetrators are incredibly clever about the way

         24  they do these things. They are often right within

         25  the boundaries of legal behavior.
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          2                 I will give you an example. I am

          3  working with a woman right now who has been arrested

          4  five times. Her former boyfriend is a retired police

          5  officer, and he has done this to her five times. We

          6  didn't get her as a case in our office until after

          7  the fifth time she had been arrested. He tried to

          8  submit a sixth complaint.

          9                 Luckily this woman, at the time that

         10  he claimed she was harassing him at his door, she

         11  was at a family party. It took me hours of advocacy

         12  to get her family to go to the precinct and make

         13  statements in the Bronx where he lived, her family

         14  lives in Sunset Park Brooklyn, to the Bronx to make

         15  statements that this woman was with them at the

         16  party, on the train, was nowhere near his house.

         17                 He went into the precinct and he

         18  produced a witness, an old friend, a 30-year-old

         19  friend, who came into the precinct, first was scared

         20  to make a statement, and then walked out of the

         21  precinct, came back in after talking to him and made

         22  a quick statement. But he had a witness, she had her

         23  witnesses.

         24                 What would you do if you are

         25  presented with that kind of case?
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          2                 So, what I am saying is, what I am

          3  saying is that abusers are getting much more

          4  sophisticated about how to use the system.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But that is not

          6  what I am talking about. Forgive me, I mean I

          7  understand that part, the situation that you

          8  describe there is very particular, the individual in

          9  question has to have a lot of knowledge of how to

         10  deal with this system because it was a police

         11  officer.

         12                 But let me put a case like that

         13  aside, from what I hear here all day long, I hear

         14  case after case of people who report cases to the

         15  police, they don't get arrested, they don't follow

         16  through, they don't comply with the whole system

         17  that is in place. And something has to be done then,

         18  about the police officer individually who refused to

         19  proceed. And I think that the programs that are out

         20  there to help and to deal with this issue of people

         21  of domestic violence, have to begin looking into

         22  that also, and put into place a system that will

         23  make clear who these police officers are. And for us

         24  to begin putting a finger on it, and you see this is

         25  going to finish quickly and fast. What good is it
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          2  then to put laws in place, programs in place, if the

          3  individual who is supposed to enforce this is our

          4  enemy and they don't have no payback for what they

          5  are doing because they got a way with it?

          6                 If this be a case in which police

          7  officers have to deal with a murder, let's say, and

          8  they mess up, it is going to be consequences of

          9  that. And in many cases these people get killed. In

         10  those 45 cases where it was not prior notification

         11  allegedly, what happened in there? Is it really

         12  non-notification before, and those people got

         13  murdered?

         14                 That is what I am talking about and

         15  then I would like to see how we can work on this. I

         16  don't have a particular idea but I am going to be

         17  thinking about this.

         18                 MS. HAVILAND: I agree with you. And I

         19  think a great place to start, the 108 where Ms.

         20  Short allegedly said she went in and tried to file a

         21  missing person's report on her sons and was turned

         22  away and someone I think said earlier, we have had a

         23  lot of anecdotal evidence about the 108, but we are

         24  all spread out, there is few of us as advocates. So

         25  what, you know, you get five or six cases, you know,
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          2  what's enough.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am not

          4  looking to put more work on one particular group, I

          5  am looking for a system that will stop the

          6  non-implementation of policies that are in place to

          7  deal with this problem.

          8                 MS. HAVILAND: I would love a place to

          9  report, you know, officer mishandling.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Excuse me. We

         11  will discuss this and see what we can do. I think to

         12  pinpoint the responsibility is important.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And I am sorry

         17  if I get too passionate sometimes. I apologize.

         18                 MS. HAVILAND: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I don't know if

         20  the next people are still here, Lauren Shapiro. And

         21  Laura Fernandez. Is there a third person? Is there

         22  anybody left after these two people who are going to

         23  testify? Okay.

         24                 Which one of you wants to go first?

         25  And do so with our gratitude and thanks for staying
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          2  so long. It is after 3:00, and I apologize.

          3                 The light has to be out. Is it out?

          4                 MS. HOLMES: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Okay, yes.

          6                 MS. HOLMES: My name is Linda Holmes,

          7  I am a staff attorney at South Brooklyn Legal

          8  Services, and I am going to be reading the statement

          9  of my supervisor, Lauren Shapiro, who is the

         10  Director of the Family Law Unit.

         11                 The Family Law Unit represents

         12  domestic violence victims and child welfare custody

         13  and visitation child support and matrimonial cases.

         14                 We assist almost 500 domestic

         15  violence victims a year. Almost all of our clients

         16  have had some contact with the police as a result of

         17  domestic violence, and I am going to direct my

         18  testimony to the issue of police response to

         19  domestic violence, as reported to us by the women we

         20  represent. In particular, the manner in which the

         21  mandatory arrest law is being enforced.

         22                 I would like to make two preliminary

         23  comments. First, the Police Department's Domestic

         24  Violence Unit has done a commendable job of reaching

         25  out to the domestic violence community, and training
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          2  police officers in creative ways.

          3                 We have also had very good

          4  experiences working with the domestic violence

          5  police officers -- prevention officers located in

          6  the precinct.

          7                 However, as these comments suggest,

          8  the goodwill of high ranking officials in the Police

          9  Department has not yet trickled down to officers on

         10  the beat who are responding to calls of domestic

         11  violence.

         12                 Second, the mandatory arrest law and

         13  the primary aggressor law sunset next year. We must

         14  be very careful that our discussion about the

         15  problems of the enforcement of the mandatory arrest

         16  law do not undermine the joint effort we must

         17  undertake to ensure the continuation of this

         18  necessary law.

         19                 So the most part, the mandatory

         20  arrest law has had a positive and important

         21  influence on law enforcement practice.

         22                 Today we are suggesting some ways to

         23  improve the pervasive problems that we have seen.

         24                 I will highlight four areas of

         25  concern.
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          2                 First, police officers responding to

          3  calls of domestic violence simply are not enforcing

          4  the primary aggressor law. The police are mandated

          5  by that law to identify and arrest the primary

          6  aggressor after considering several factors. These

          7  factors include the comparative extended injuries,

          8  the prior history of domestic violence, and whether

          9  a party is acting defensively.

         10                 Time after time our clients report

         11  that there is no assessment of these factors, and no

         12  attempt to identify the primary aggressor. Instead

         13  the police will either arrest both parties or advise

         14  the victim that they will either arrest both parties

         15  or they cannot arrest either party.

         16                 Given this choice, most of our

         17  clients opt for no arrest.

         18                 This was the case with our client

         19  Tawanda B.

         20                 In April 1999, Tawanda's batterer

         21  pushed her, grabbed her and choked her and threw a

         22  lamp at her. She called the police and when they

         23  arrived she went downstairs to meet them. The

         24  batterer came down shortly after that. He had cut

         25  himself with a knife and was bleeding. He told the
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          2  police that Tawanda had inflicted the injuries.

          3                 She showed the police her bruises and

          4  told them that she had not had his blood on her. No

          5  investigation was done at the scene. There was a

          6  long history of domestic violence, including several

          7  incident reports which had been filed at the

          8  precinct. The police said that they would have to

          9  arrest both of them if they arrested him.

         10                 Tawanda's children were home and she

         11  did not want to leave them so her batterer was not

         12  arrested.

         13                 The police officer's failure to

         14  conduct an investigation and hold Tawanda's batterer

         15  accountable gave him license to continue abusing

         16  her.

         17                 In fact, her nightmare continued the

         18  next month when her batterer again beat her up in

         19  the park. The police were again called but no arrest

         20  of the batterer was made, despite the fact that

         21  Tawanda had a mark on her face, there were witnesses

         22  to the assaults present at the scene, and there was

         23  this history of domestic violence.

         24                 Half an hour after the police chose

         25  not to arrest the batterer, at Tawanda's cousin's
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          2  house he hunted her down and hit her in the face

          3  with a bottle, causing serious injury to her face.

          4                 This time the batterer was arrested,

          5  finally, for assaulting her.

          6                 In the case of Norma B, another one

          7  of our clients. Her batterer had jumped on her as

          8  she left her apartment, repeatedly punched her,

          9  threw her against the wall, and kicked her. She ran

         10  and found a police officer patrolling the

         11  neighborhood. Norma showed the police her bloody

         12  nose and marks, but because her batterer had a

         13  scratch from where he threw her up against the wall,

         14  the police officer said he would have to arrest both

         15  of them. Norma chose not to be arrested.

         16                 We have many examples in our office

         17  of clients who are arrested or threatened with

         18  arrest. In these cases the police officer's common

         19  attitude is that they will let the District

         20  Attorney's office determine who is the primary

         21  aggressor. Not only is this delegation of

         22  responsibility in direct violation of the law, which

         23  mandates the police to identify and arrest the

         24  primary aggressor, but it undermines the police

         25  officer's role to protect victims of crime, and is
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          2  extremely harmful to victims of domestic violence.

          3                 The fact that the DA may at some

          4  future date ultimately dismiss charges against the

          5  victim of domestic violence does not eradicate the

          6  devastating impact that the arrest can have on a

          7  victim in the first instance.

          8                 There are numerous potential

          9  consequences to a victim's arrest and actually many

         10  of them have been mentioned before, but I think one

         11  important one which hasn't been is that a battered

         12  woman may find herself ineligible for public housing

         13  if she agrees, as our client Salina did, to an ACD,

         14  an Adjournment in Consultation of Dismissal in

         15  Criminal Court. I actually represent Salina and she

         16  has been ineligible now for a year from public

         17  housing because she has an open case in criminal

         18  court as a result of agreeing to an ACD.

         19                 Why is it so difficult to enforce the

         20  primary aggressor law? From our observations, it

         21  appears that the police officers simply do not take

         22  the time to investigate the facts of the domestic

         23  violence incident to determine who is the primary

         24  aggressor.

         25                 There are many things the responding
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          2  police officer can do but often doesn't do to make

          3  this determination.

          4                 The Police Department must change

          5  this practice institutionally. Police officers must

          6  be expected to conduct serious investigations of the

          7  facts and make an assessment of the evidence at the

          8  scene. The Police Department protocols must give

          9  more specific guidelines and guidance about what

         10  officers are expected to do.

         11                 The limited cases where they can't

         12  make an arrest immediately, there should be a

         13  mechanism for making a later determination, and we

         14  also support Lisa Smith's suggestion that there be a

         15  dedication of effort to a specific program to deal

         16  with this issue.

         17                 The City Council in cooperation with

         18  the Police Department should undertake an

         19  investigation, including surveys of police, reviews

         20  of domestic incident reports, and interviews of

         21  complainants to get a better sense of the extent and

         22  scope of his problem.

         23                 The Police Department must also

         24  undertake ongoing and comprehensive training and

         25  oversight of the precinct's enforcement of the
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          2  primary aggressor law.

          3                 The second area of concern is the

          4  mandatory arrest laws being used to arrest victims

          5  of domestic violence when the batterer obtains an

          6  order of protection against his victim. The batterer

          7  usually has no difficulty obtaining a temporary

          8  order of protection in Family Court, which normally

          9  only requires a few simple allegations, which he can

         10  then use to have his victim arrested.

         11                 An arrest based on a violation of an

         12  order of protection can occur based solely on one

         13  party's allegation regarding an act committed by the

         14  other party and without any investigation into the

         15  facts of the case, including the batterer's prior

         16  history of domestic violence.

         17                 The statute requires an arrest when

         18  the officer has reasonable cause to believe that an

         19  order of protection is in effect and that the

         20  respondent or defendant has committed an act in

         21  violation of the stay away provision or has

         22  committed a family offense in violation of the

         23  order.

         24                 The Police Department should develop

         25  a protocol for handling arrests where there are
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          2  mutual orders of protection. It should not be enough

          3  that one party alleges that the other party did

          4  something to cause an arrest. Again, an

          5  investigation of facts must be made.

          6                 Third, while the mandatory arrest law

          7  has resulted in the arrest of many more batterers,

          8  the police should devote more resources to arresting

          9  batterers who are not at the scene when the

         10  responding officers arrive.

         11                 When clients come to our office with

         12  a long history of police involvement, more than half

         13  the time the police are called the batterer is not

         14  present when the police arrive.

         15                 In these cases the Police Department

         16  does not appear to have any policy or practice

         17  regarding finding the perpetrator, even when the

         18  police are advised as to where the batterer lives

         19  and/or works, no effort is made to arrest him.

         20                 Instead, many of our clients have

         21  been told to call the police if and when the

         22  batterer returns to their home. This may be too

         23  late.

         24                 We recommend that the Police

         25  Department develop a protocol for what should be
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          2  done in their situation, and we would hope that the

          3  domestic violence prevention officers could have

          4  some role in this follow-up. The current Police

          5  Department protocol does not address this issue

          6  sufficiently.

          7                 Finally, we are concerned about the

          8  adequacy of the domestic incident reports that are

          9  being completed by responding police officers. The

         10  police often fail to take a complete statement from

         11  the victim. Instead, the police have the victim

         12  agree to a conclusory statement written by the

         13  police officer.

         14                 The police also often fail to not

         15  their observations. In addition, particularly where

         16  no arrests are made, the offense committed is often

         17  checked off as harassment, even where the victim was

         18  injured. The DIR is a crucial piece of documentation

         19  memorializing specific facts that occurred at the

         20  time of the event.

         21                 The consequences are failing to

         22  complete the DIR's accurately and completely makes

         23  it much more difficult to hold batterers

         24  accountable, not only in criminal court, but in

         25  custody in family offense proceedings and family
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          2  court, as well as in matrimonial proceedings.

          3                 In conclusion, I wish to thank the

          4  City Council for holding this hearing, and I

          5  encourage you to continue your involvement in this

          6  area by working jointly with the Domestic Violence

          7  Committee, the community and the police develop

          8  concrete solutions to the problems we have

          9  identified here today.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 MS. FERNANDEZ: Hi. My name is Laura

         13  Fernandez, and I work at STEPS to End Family

         14  Violence Alternatives to Incarceration Program, and

         15  we work with approximately 75 women who are charged

         16  with a violent crime, usually a felony, as a result

         17  of fighting back or being coerced into doing

         18  something by their abuser, and I guess I just wanted

         19  to say that I am very heartened by everyone's

         20  response to the testimony of Nancy, because I sit in

         21  my office every day and hear cases like that again

         22  and again.

         23                 I go to Rikers Island and I meet with

         24  women who, unlike Nancy, didn't have good advocates,

         25  and they spent three months in jail on a violation
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          2  of an order of protection that was bogus in the

          3  first place. And what frustrates me as an advocate

          4  is that when I was a shelter worker trying to

          5  advocate for the arrest of male abusers, I had a

          6  very difficult time. They weren't at the scene, they

          7  weren't here, they weren't there, but yet I see with

          8  the female victims they are getting arrested very

          9  quickly and I feel that there is some disparity in

         10  treatment and I have actually case examples where I

         11  have seen on cross complaints where the man was

         12  allowed to turn himself in at his convenience and he

         13  was told about the charges, and he was allowed to

         14  turn himself in in the morning, and then he made a

         15  cross complaint and then the woman was told that she

         16  needed to come in and do some paperwork to help her

         17  out with housing, and when she came in she was

         18  arrested, spent the night in jail, central booking.

         19  And the case was later dismissed by the Judge who

         20  saw it as clearly retaliatory, but it leaves an

         21  impression that, you know, here is the -- they are

         22  making the same complaint, he got notice of the

         23  complaint and was allowed to turn himself in when it

         24  was good for him, and she gets lied to, comes into

         25  the station and spends the night in jail, and she
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          2  was very lucky to have her mother there to take care

          3  of her child, because otherwise that child could

          4  have gone to foster care triggering an ECS case. And

          5  so I think there is somewhat of a culture that seems

          6  to handle females who were charged at the crime very

          7  differently than the male, so that is the one thing

          8  that I wanted to comment on. And one other thing I

          9  wanted to comment on is situations where there is

         10  very violent attack and bruising and all of this of

         11  the victim, and then she picks up a weapon to fight

         12  back which often is the case because she is really

         13  fearing for her life and she picks up a knife or

         14  anything, a glass bottle and she hits him with it,

         15  she is automatically going to be charged with a

         16  felony level of assault, and what we are finding is

         17  he won't be charged with anything, even if she is

         18  totally bashed in her face and has bruises and

         19  everything, and not only that, the police are not

         20  documenting this. So, she is booked as a criminal

         21  and they are not even documenting her physical

         22  abuse, they are not photographing her, and she is

         23  not allowed to make a complaint or she is

         24  discouraged from making her own complaint when she

         25  is being booked at the police station. So, when she
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          2  goes later on to try and defend herself in her case

          3  and try and point out that she is a victim of an

          4  attack and it was self defense, she has no evidence

          5  of her abuse. So, I am just highlighting that is a

          6  big problem. When men attack physically, you know,

          7  it is bruising and punching, it is not felony level

          8  charges, but a woman will pick up a weapon and the

          9  minute she picks up a weapon in self defense it is a

         10  felony. So, that is just one thing I wanted to

         11  highlight and just commend you all for sitting

         12  through the whole day appearing. It has been a long

         13  day, and I am heartened that someone is willing to

         14  listen to that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: It is clear,

         16  with the mandatory arrest law sunsetting, and

         17  chances are it will be renewed or another version I

         18  would assume will be passed, that we need to lobby

         19  in Albany for some other provisions that protect the

         20  women in it, and it is a strategy I guess, the

         21  woman's community, and some of us would be glad to

         22  join to try to develop a strategy and lobby for that

         23  legislation, and certainly we would be interested in

         24  studying it and see what we can do in New York. But

         25  as you know, that is state legislation. How many
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          2  women do you think in Rikers, how many women are

          3  there now in Rikers on some kind of felony charges

          4  that stem from domestic violence?

          5                 MS. FERNANDEZ: Well, it is hard for

          6  us to answer that because we have a hard time seeing

          7  women when we go to Rikers, unfortunately because of

          8  problems that occur and our ability to have the

          9  women brought to us when we screen them. But we do

         10  screen a significant amount that are there, I mean

         11  it is hard to say numbers. We have like 70 women in

         12  our program, I think we probably have about 15 out

         13  at Rikers now, you know, most of whom are in on

         14  assaults.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And they are

         16  assaults, not homicides?

         17                 MS. FERNANDEZ: There are some

         18  homicides and some assaults. I know of at least

         19  three who are just on order of protection violations

         20  right now.

         21                 You know, often times we don't find

         22  out about them until it is too late. They haven't

         23  called Urban Justice, they haven't had an advocate,

         24  and it gets so tangled up that by the time we are

         25  trying to sort of unravel in court all that went on,
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          2  it is a mess.

          3                 I mean, that is why I think, I am

          4  going to reiterate the point, that it really needs

          5  to be done at the beginning, the arrival on the

          6  scene and how that is handled and how the

          7  information is taken and investigation is done.

          8                 Then because for us to backtrack and

          9  try and provide all of the information to the

         10  courts, the DA, it takes months, cases get

         11  continued, you know, and I think that also, I want

         12  to add that I think that batterers are finding out

         13  that this really is a very effective means for

         14  continuing their harassment and sort of torture of

         15  the women. And it really sort of enforces that

         16  women, you know, that they are sort of powerless. I

         17  mean, all of a sudden -- they have been a victim of

         18  years and years sometimes of abuse and they are in

         19  jail and he is walking free.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 Is there anybody else who wishes to

         23  testify?

         24                 I am very happy, this has been very

         25  informative. We have certainly learned a lot. I
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          2  think unfortunately we are still left with the same

          3  frustrations that we start with, but it is clear

          4  what the road ahead is.

          5                 Thank you, everybody, for staying so

          6  long, and I am delighted to adjourn this meeting.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 3:30 p.m.)
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